History of the Borough of Columbia, Slavery &
The Underground Railroad in Lancaster County, PA

By Samuel Evans

ournallst ClVll War Veteran,
~ Justice of the Peace and
“Republican Party activist,

" “Evans also thwarted bounty
hunters who tracked freedom seekers
in his community.

“As a newspaper editor and
“correspondent his essays in May 1870
are among the earliest known :
accounts published about anti-slavery
and Underground Railroad activity in
Columbia and Lancaster County. ‘
These articles guided the work of 1 o -San
many authors and historians, includ- | .G K
ing William Still (1872), Dr. Robert C. < {1 82
Smedley (1883) and Dr. Wllbur )
Siebert (1896). : i ‘

| | With Franklm Ellis, Evans
co-authored History of Lancaster ,
County, 1883. Evans lived at
43? Locust Street, c.1870.

e

/4
e

e Town of Columbla by Samuel Wright, July 25 1 788.
ed:Ey:lﬁm Hubley, .lust1ce of the Peace, Borough of Lancaster, April 22, 1812.
- Courtesy Columbia Public Library
om Columbla Spy, date unknown, from Reuss Scrapbooks, Courtesy, LancasterHistory
| Ma consulting historian, Lam:aster PA. April 6, 2015
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Original book pages 538-586*
CHAPTER XXX,
BOROUGI OF COLUMBIA.!

Tugk thriving borough of Columbin occupies the
sito of “Shawanah Indian Town,”. which consisted
of two or three dozon wigwams and huts constructed
with logs. They wore scattored along Shawanese
Run principally, but thero wore othors along the run
passing through the northern soction of the town, A
number of these Indians remained at this:place for
somo years after the white settlers came. They never
at any time had a valid claim to the land, and were
only squatters, subject to the will of Willlam Penn
and the “Susquehannocks,” who were in turn sub-
Jects of the Five Natlons of Indians who had con-
quered them,

This place, which was tho sceno of many a conflict
botween the Susquehannocks and the Indians who
lived in New York to obtain the mastery over each
other, whose bones were left to enrich the soil, has
been succceded by one of the most flourishing towns
in the State.

1 By 8amuel Evans, Fsq.

Original Owners of the Town Bite and Descent
| of 'Pitle.—The accompanying draft was made by John.
! "Paylor for Jeremiah Langhorne soon after-he located
wiis land by virtue of an English warrant,

On the “ 17th and 18th of 11th mo., 1701,” William
Penn gave & patent to George Beale, of Surrey, in
| Great Britain, {or three thousand acres of land clear
of Indian encumbrances. Beale, on the 17th and 18th
of October, 1718, sold the same to Jetemiali Lang-
horne. Richard Hill, Isaac Norris, and James Logan,
the loan commissioners, on the 25th day of July, 1717,
jssued a warrant directed to Isanc Taylor, surveyor of
Chester County, to survey to Langhorne five hundred
acres along the Susquehanna, a part of the aforesaid
three thousand acres. 'This survey ‘“‘began at a
marked hickory at mouth of a run at River, up river
three hundred and twenty-six perches to a post;
thence enst by James Logan’s land five hundred and
eighty-nine perches to a post; around by vacant land
to an ash at Run séventy-one perches, down run, con-
taining five hundred acres.”

Robert Barber purchased this tract Aug. 20, 1726,
and was in actual posscssion of the same for a year or
moro before Langhorne conveyed the title to him in
1727, for which he paid two hundred pounds. Samuel
Blunston and John Wright wero witnesses to the ex-
ccution of the deed. The acknowledgment of Lang-
horne was taken before John Wright, Sopt. 8, 1731,
four years after the conveyance was made. Tho
draft hereto annexed explaing whe: and how this
tract was divided.

Barber gave a mortgage to the loan commissioners
for two hundred pounds for his two hundred and
fiy nere«. He died before the payments were all
made, and by mutual consent betweon. the land com-
missioners and L.rber's children, the former sold
the land and conyeyed the titlo to Hannah Barber,
the widow of Itobert Barber, June 12, 1760. The
land was deseribed as bounded by a line extending
"up the run soventy-one perches, two hundred and

* Columbia history pages 579 & 580 omitted

History of the Borough of Columbia, Slavery & The Underground Railroad in Lancaster County

From Rupp’s History of 5 '
Lancaster County, 1844 g

forty-five perches to a post, ninety-one perches, by
land of John Wright four hundred and thirty-nino
perches to a run; thence down run to river, contain-
ing two hundred and fifty acres.

Robert Barber dirccted how this land should be
divided. His widow followed these directions, and
convoyed on the 14th day of Ooctober, 1701, sixty-two
acres to her son Robert. (Tho Third Ward of the
borough embraces this tract.) On April 19, 1770,
sho convoyed to her son James forty acres, which s
now owned. by the heirs of Jacob Stricklor, E. K.
Smith, Samuel Truscott, Michael 8, Shuman, and J.
W. Stacy, and Fred. 8. Bletz, and Henry 8. Wolfe,

It appears from the draft that the Langhotne tract
was divided on the 26th day of April, 1726, Barber
getting two hundred and iRty acres of the lower purt,
John Wright getting one hundred and fifty acres ad-
joining on the north, and his daughter, Susannah
Wright, one hundred acres adjoining her father on

Continued on excerpt pages 9-65

Original book pages 69-74
CHAPTER IX,
SLAVERY IN LANCASTER COUNTY.

Enrly Slaveholdors—The Abolition Law of 1780—The Underground
Rallroad—Operations under tho Fugltive 8lave Law,

THE flrat whito scttlors along the Dolaware River
woro slaveholdors, and when William Penn founded
his colony in 1682, ho not only found slavery estab-
lished nlong the northern shore of the lower river,
but some of his followers wore not averse to owning
negro slaves thomsolves,

The system which pormitted slaves to be held for

Continued on excerpt pages 3-8
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life was no more rigorous, nor were they treated any -
more severely than were the “redemptioners,” who
were sold into servitude to pay the cost of their pas-
gnge from Europe to Ameriea. The records of our
courts fully attest the frequency of runaway redemp-
tioners, who, in many cases, were harshly treated.
Slavery as it existed in Pennsylvania was rather of a
mild type, and her citizens did not care to carry on a
traMc in slaves, and make profit by breeding them
for another market. No follower of George Fox, who
believed sincerely in his precepts, could look upon
human bondage with approval, hence we find that the
Quakers in England and America were the first to -
make a public protest against the system. Socicties
were formed to promote the gradual abolition of sla-
very in many of the States. Occasionally a person
advoeated immediate emancipation or abolition’ of |
slavery, who found followers, and these gradually in-
creased in numbers, and began to awnken a kindred
sentiment in the breast of every lover of the entire
oo ~Adom for the human race.

The Pennsylvania Society for the Abolition of |
Slavery was founded in 1776, and was in existence up '
to the period when Abraham Lincoln’s Emancipation
Proclamation, in 1863, gave slavery in the United |
States its death-blow. The first president of this
gsociety was that great philosopher, statesman, and
philanthropist, Benjamin Franklin. Tho first sccre-
tary was Benjamin Rush.  In 1790 this society sent
a memorinl to Congress, bearing the officinl signature |
of Benjamin Franklin, president, asking thav body
to *“ devise means for the removing the inconsistency
of slavery from the American people,” and to “step !
to tho very verge of its power for discouraging every
species of traflic in the persons of our fellow-men,”

The Legislature of Ponnsylvania, by an act dated
tho 1st dny of March, 1780, entitle? © An Act for the
gradual abolition of slavery,” prov’ *.d and declared
that all servitude for life, or sluvery of children in
consequence of the slavery of their mothers (in case
of children born within the State after the passing of
tho act), should be utterly taken nway, cxtinguished,
and forever abolished. But such negro or mulatto
children born within the State after the passing of
the act us would have been slaves in case the law in
question had not been made were liable to be held to
sorvice ns bound children or servants wore, until they
attained the age of twenty-cight years. All slaves
who were such at the time of passing the act were
required to bo registered in books provided for the
purpose in the city of Philadelphia and in tho sev-
oral counties in the State before tho st day of No-
vember then next onsuing, and none to bhe deemed
slaves or servants until thirty-one years unlesx thus
recorded, ‘To prevent the ovasion of this law It was
provided that no negro or mulatto should bo held to
service by indenture for a longer time than seven
years, unless the person so bound was, at the com-
mencomont of the term, under twonty-one years of |

|
|
|
|
!
|

' cases ocenrred in Lancaster County.

SLAVERY IN LANCASTER COUNTY.

age, in which case an obligation to serve until twenty.

cight, but no longer, was declared.
The tenth section of the act contained n provig

" excluding from the benefit of the law the domestic

slaves of members of Congress, foreign ministers, ang

i sojourners not becoming resident within the Stat,

limiting the slaves of the last-mentioned cluss of
holder to a period of six months. In a few years it
was found that there were frequent evasions of the
tenth section. Slaves were brought into the Stat,
and held nearly but not quite six months, then re.
moved for n few minutes beyond the line of the
State, and brought back to remain another term of

nearly six months.
This daw was so maodified in 1788 as to prevent

" parties from taking their slaves to another State and
| bringing them back again, as in the eases cited

Under this law one of the most exciting
On the Wy
day of January, 1804, Charles S, Sewell, of the Fast.

nbove.

© orn Shore of Marylund, was married by the Rey,

Jumes Latta to Miss Catharine Keagy, a grand.
daughter of James Patterson, the old Indian trader
and pioneer, who settled in Manor township in 1717,
Sewell removed to Manor township, and settled upoy

" a tract of land containing about five hundred acres,

divided into sovernl farms. Il brought several of
his slaves with him from Marylund, and kept them
for a period longer than six months,  William Wrigh,
who resided at Columbin, and a grandson of John
Wright, the pioncer, made applieation to the courtin
Lancaster for an order discharging Sewell’s slaves,
When summoned to nppenr before the court, Sewell
was anraged at Wright for interfering with a personal
matter which, ho alleged, concerned him alone,
Like n majority of the old-time abolitionists, Mr,
Wright had a good share of moral conrage, and coul!
not be moved from the position he choso to take npon
this question, yet ho lacked physical cournge. Sewell
had mado threats to do porsonal violence to Wright,
and after the court ordered his slaves to he set free,
he went to his hotol, and ordered his howse to be
brought out immedintely. Ayticipating this move
ment, Wright mounted his horse and started for his
homo, but ho had gone but a short distance when be
observed Sowell riding after him npon a fleot hore.
Wright wus n good rider himself, and, although s
birthright member of tho Society of I'rionds, he fre
quently, when a young man, engaged in the chas,
and ho happened on this occasion to bo mounted
upon a vory flect und blooded horse, Sowell had s
raw-hido in his hand, ready to lay it ovor the back
of Wright. The chase commenced at tho western
limits of West King Streot, Lancaster, and was kep
up for six miles, with only a few yards interveniog
between the pursued and pursuer. When they s |
rived in front of tho Bear Tavern {aftorwards kept
by Klugh), near Mountville, Sewell was close enough
to reach Wright, mﬁd gave him a cut with his rav
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SLAVERY IN LANCASTER COUNTY.

and ran into the tavern. Sewell stopped to hitch
pis horse, nnd the time thus lost enabled Wright to
afect his escape. Sewell kept a number of race-horses
and a pack of hounds, but he found few congenial

pirits in Lancaster County, and removed back to |
CWALYS.

Varyland, where his wife died shortly afterwards.
When the act of 1780 was under discussion in the

Legislature, Col. Alexander Lowry, a member from :

(his county, who was himsell a slaveholder, took
arong ground against the separation of slave families,
«d made most urgent appeals to the Legislature to

insert a clause in the law, then under discussion, to |
' this law as coming within its penalties. "The ease of

prevent families from being divided and sold to dif-
ferent masters,

The old iron-masters were the principal slave-
holders in the country, Curtis Grubb being the largest
bolder. A number of slaves were held by the Scotch-
frish settlers in Drumore, Little Britain, Colerain,
Part, Donegal, Mount Joy, Rapho, and Hempfield
wwnships, by the Welsh settlers in Caernarvon, and
the Episcopalians in Salishury township.  Farl, Lea-
wick, and Lampeter townships also contained n num-
ber of slaveholders.

during life.  Small houses with patches of ground
for gardens wero provided for them in a number of
(ases, .

Considerablo eflorts were made in Pennsylvanin to
bring the question of the constitutional existence of
Javery before the courts for its final decision, but that
tribunal mado no decision.  Slavery in Penusylvania
was of such a mild type that it caused comparatively
little opposition,

Matters went along quite smoothly until about tho
year 1826, whon a number of freo colored children
wero suddenly missed from the city of Philndelphin.
They were supposed to have been drowned, but as
their number increased it began to be thought that
they had been kidnupped and taken to the South and
wid into slavery. Some of theso children were tnken
to the State of Mississippi and offered for salo to John
M. Thomnson and Johin Ienderson, of Rocky Springs,
in that State. Suspecting something wrong, thoy
wrolo (o the mayor of Philadelphia, whon the nows-
papers took up the matter. Great indignation was
aoused throughout the State, and publie sentimont
was thereby sot strongly against tho institution of
savery, though few at that time advoceated its imme-
diste abolition,

William Wright, of Columbia, was perhaps tho
fist person to suggest a system and concert of action
wmong the friends of the slaves to help them in their
fight from Southern bondago to n land of freedom by
atablishing a number of “stations” along this routo,
where friends could direet and pass the fugitives from
oae friend to another. Owing to the scerecy of thoso

Many slaves were manumitted |
by these carly inhabitants of the county, and ample
provision was made in their wills for their comfort !

hide, when the latter suddenly sprang from his horse l indeed tho case that any of them wero discovered and

\
i
|
i

i
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prosecuted. Hence it came to be known as the
“ Underground Railroad.” This led to a great deal
of irritation between the North and the South. Un-
awed by threats and the terrors of the law, the small
band of abolitionists pursued the even tenor of their

In 1850 Congress enacted the * Fugitive Slave
Law,” which imposed severe penalties for refusing to
assist in the arrest of a fugitive slave when called
upon by a deputy marshal. If a crust of bread was
given, or the «lightest nssistance rendered to a slave
fleeing from his master, the act was construed under

Mr. Kauftman, of Cumberland Valley, was one in
point.  Two or three fugitive slaves took refuge in
his barn at night, where some member of Mr. Kauff-
man’s family, without his knowledge, gave them food.
T'he owner or reputed owner of these men, who were
fugitives from slavery, brought suit against Mr.
Kanffman to recover tho value of these slaves, The
enso wns o long and ihteresting one. The Ion,
Thaddeus Stovens was employed by Mr, Kauffiman,
and he contested every inch of ground. Finally,
when the ease eame before the United States Court in
Philadelphin, two Lancaster County men were on the
jury, viz.: Edward Davies, of Churchtown, and Abra-
ham N, Cassel, of Marictta, The members from this
county “hung” the jury for six weeks, and prevented
a verdict in favor of the slaveholder,  Although Mr.
Kauftman was not convicted, it cost him a large sum
of monoy, and he was forced to sell his farm in con-
gequenco,

Tho first conflict and bloodshed undor this law
took place in Lancaster County. At and in the
neighborhood of the Gap thero was a gang of kid-
nappers, whom not all the vigilance and cunning
of the negroes and their friends could prevent from
carrying freo black mon to a slave State and selling
them into bondage. In Soptembor, 1850, ITenry
Willinms was seized at night, taken into Maryland
and sold into slavery. In March, 1861, u colored
man was taken from Mr. Chamberlin’s and sold into
slavery. ‘Tho anti-slavery friends and the colored
people in Sadsbury township becamo more vigilant,
meoting frequently and taking counsel with each
other. Every stranger who came into tho neighbor-
hood was watched and his movements roported,
and If ho waa suspeeted tho fact was communicated
to some friond, and tho colored peoplo were cau-
tioned. 'T'hosn who resided in dwellings of their own
wore armed, and measures were adopted to give an
alarm to tho neighborhood if their promises weroe in-
vaded at night by the kidnappors.

Tho great Chester Valley, the most beautiful and
lovely one in the State, suddenly divorges when it
reaches Penningtonvillo, and leads in a southwesterly
direction through Sadsbury township. When about

who had chargo of the fugitive slave it was very rarely | two miles south of the town of Christinna, in Sads-
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The Underground Railroad in Lancaster County

Transportation links on the Susquehanna River between Wrightsville,

York County and Columbia, Lancaster County created a pivotal area for
anti-slavery activity and organization of this early civil rights movement,
allowing physical movement to safer destinations to the north and east,

circa 1780-early 1860s

‘\K /.' '\ Quakertown
- awd / ./ B UCKSs

Underground Railroad
in

Chester and the Neighboring

= Counties of Pennsylvania

- Based on R.C. Smedley’s History of

the road in these Counties

CALE OF MILES

)
’
.
L
L]
: A showing the lines of the
’
[
5

10 20 =)

Southeastern Pennsylvania routes of the Underground Railroad from Prof. Wilbur Siebert’s
book, The Underground Railroad From Slavery to Freedom, 1898. These pathways were
detailed by Dr. Robert Smedley in his book, published in Lancaster, PA in 1883.
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bury township, the valley is about one mile wide, the

Great Valley road running through its centre. The '
southeastern side was bounded by hills covered with !

chestnut and onk timber.

angles with the great road to that hill, and at some

distance up its slope; another lane ran a short dis-
tance in n northerly direction nbout forty yards to a

one and a half-story log house which was occupied |
by a colored man named William Parker, who worked

for the farmers in the neighborhood and cultivated a

few ncres of ground: A fine growth of timber ran to

within a few yards of the house. The place was se-
cluded, but overlooked the valley below.

On the 9th and 10th of September, 1851, a number
of suspicious-appearing persons wore scen at Pen-
ningtonville, at the Gap and other points, and the
fact was reported by Samuoel Willinms, a colored man,
who had watched their movemonts. Every colored
person in the township was warned to be on their

guard, and their friends were not idle. In Parker's |
house there were three fugitivo slaves named Noah

Buley, Nolson Johnson, and*Joshua Ilammond. Id-

ward Gorsuch, n slaveholder, who resided in Mary- :

land, claimed to own these slaves, and obtained a
warrant from one of the United States commissioners
in Philadelphin for their arrest. It was placed in
the hands of a deputy marshal, named Henry H.
Kline, for exccution, Heo selected a few men of the
vicinity to assist him, who, with Ldward Gorsuch,
Dickinson Gorsuch, his son, J. M. Gorsuch, a cousin,
Joshua Gorsuch, Dr. Thomas Pearce, also a relative,
John Agen, Thomas Tully, and several others, arrived
at the Gap in the afternoon of Sept. 10, 1851.

The party proceeded down the railrond towards
Christinna about a mile, where they met a professional
kidnappor, who was to act as their guide. They re-
mained concealed in the neighborhood until a Into
hour in the night, whon they proceeded to Parker's
houso, and arrived thero about daylight en Soptomber
11th. Whon the party arrived at tho bars, in the
short Inne leading to Parker’s house, they met Nelson
Gorsuch’s alleged slave, who was going to work for
ono of tho farmers in the neighborhood. He sus-
pected no dunger, and was humming a negro ditty
whon they came npon him. e tarned and ran into
Parker’s house and ascended to the loft before any of
Gorsuch’s party could eatch him, Gorsuch was the

first one of the pursuers to enter the house. Heo went |

to the foot of the steps which led to the loft, and at-
tempted to go up, but ho was driven back by some
ono of the party, who was armed with a pitchfork.
1lo firat resorted to threats of violence, and falling in
that, ho undertook to conx his alleged slaves down-
st « y but in this Le also failed. He then went cut-
siileof the house, and attompted to parloy with those

in the loft; the answer was the roport of a gun. The |

shot injured no one, but the sound was carried across
the: -ulloy to the hills beyond, where there were many
whounderstood whatit meant, and they hastened in the

SLAVERY IN LANCASTER COUNTY.

A long lane ran at right

! direction of Parker's housa. An old-fashioned dip.
ner-horn was blown by one of the colored men out of
! the loft window, and the sound was an alarm-signal
No bugle was ever

! gounded to call men to battle who responded more

! to their friends in the valley.
[}

| promptly than did the black man’s friends to thiscall
| for help. Kline, who was not a brave man, at onces
renlized their peril, and fled to a corn-field where he
hid himself. Gorsuch and his party slowly retreated
. down the short lane to the bars.

By this time succor for the negrocs had arrived,
Castner Hanway rode up the long lane.  lijal
Lewis and Joseph Scarlet, nll anti-slavery fricuds,
came about the same time, Colored mon armed with
guns, scythes, and clubs, w. .cseen running from every
dircction to Parker's house. IHanway and Lewis
advised the slave-owners to leave at onco if they de-
sired to savo themselves, when Edward Gorsuch sud-
denly turned in the dircction of Parker’s house and
! snid he wounld “have his property dead or alive”

i His sons and nephews followed him, but he had gone
but n fow steps when he was met by Parker with the
! fugitive slaves and some others, who fired several
i shots at the slaveholder's party. Edward Gorsuch
? fell mortally wounded at the first fire, and onc of his
! slaves sunk a cornstalk-cutter deop into his brain,
| Dickinson Gorsuch #tood bravely by his father, and
E was very seriously wounded.  Dr. Pearce and Joshua
| Gorsuch were both wounded. Dr. Poarce's life way
| saved by Castner Hanway, who told’him to catch
| the stirrup of his saddle, and he rode down the long
| lane amidst n shower of missiles.

There was great excitoment in tho neighborhood,
and when the facts becameo known, it created a pro-
found sensation throughout the country, It hap-
pened in the midst of political cumpaign in the
State for Governor, and the unoxpected turn which
it brought about defeated William I. Johnston for
Governor by a few thousand votes,

Tho negro Johnson, who shot his mastor, was taken
through to Canada on the “underground railroad”
in threo days. Constables from Lancaster were sent
to the neighborhood, and they ontered every house
for many miles around, and treated tho colored .
mates with great severity, many of them being draggel
to jail and confined there without a particle of ovi-
“donco against them,

Castnor Hanway, Elijah Lowis, Joseph Scarlet,
and a number of colored men woro arrestoed for their
participation in the affair, and were indicted for
| treason, Hanwny was tho flest one arraigned. His
trlnl commonced Nov, 24, 1851, beforo Judges Grier
! and Kano in Philadelphia, and terminated Dec. 20,
[ 1861, In hie acquittal. The other prisoners were not
| tried. Therc wero threo mombors on the jury from
Luncaster County in this memorable trial, viz, Peter
Martin, James M. Hopkins, and Jamos Cowden.
Peter Martin rosided in Ephrata township, near New
lEphrum. Ho was afterwards (1860) eleoted pro-
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“ Which indictments were on Oct. 6, 1851, remitted
from the District Court to the Circunit Court, under

ponotary and (1866) associnte judge of the county.
fe died before the expiration of his term. James
{, Hopkins, iron-master, resided in Drumore town- - the Act of Congress, approved Aug. 8, 1846.”

hip, and is now living, at an advanced age, upon his | The counsel in the cnse were: for the United
wnowingo farm. James Cowden resided at Colum- ;| States, Johin W. Ashmend, George L. Ashmead, James
jis, and had been a member of the Legislature in 1850, ! R. Ludlow; for the State of Maryland, Robert J.
The Grand Jury was composed as follows: Brent, James Cooper, R. M. Lee; for the defend:ng,

“@rand Inquest for the United Stales, inquiring for
A Eastern District of Pennsylvania. Auqust Term,

1851 |
“Thomas B. Florence, IForeman; John H, Diehl, |

Johu M, Read, J. J. Lewis (of Westchester), Theadore
Cuyler, Thaddeus Stevens (of Lancaster), W. Arthur

Jackson.
Castner IHanway was born in the State of Dela-

John Dolby, Benjamin Mifllin, Isanc Myer, Andrew | ware, and at the age of fivo went with his father to
scott, Ambrose J. White, and Gerhard B. Wilstach, ; Chester County, from whence he removed to the State
amuel Castor, Waters Deweces, Abrahem L. Ger- | of Maryland. From there he went to one of the
Jard, Nathan L. Koyser, Isanc Lamplush, Charles | Western States, and returned to Cl.ester County about

T. Long, William G. Mentz, Adam Mintzer, Simon }
Mudge, Georgo C. Rickards, Charles £'tockton, and
Alan Wood.

“Who having retired under the charge of the Court,
fund truo bills for treason agalust certain porsons,

e 4

“No, 1. United States vs, Castnor Hanway.
wog u ‘ Joseph Scarlet.
4. 8 ¢ " Elijah Lewis,
“ o4 0" ’ James Jackson,
“ 6 ¢ Georgo Williams,
“ 6 se Jacob Moore.
o “ Georgo Reed.
“ g “ * Benjamin Johnson.
“9 * Daniol Caulsberry.
“10 “ Alson Pemsley.
“ 11, “ William Brown(2d).

Houry Greon.

Elijah Clark.

John Holliday.
William Williams.
Bonjamin Pindergrast.
John Morgan,

“" 18. “ “

“ l“. “ “
“ 17' “ "

Ezokiol Thompson.
Tho™as Butler,
Crilistar Wilson,
John Jackson,
'Villiam Brown,
fsninh Clarkson,

“ 18' «“ “
“ 19. “ “
“" 20. “" “"
“ 2] " “ “
“ 22‘ “
“ 23. “" “"

“29q v " Henry Sims.
“ 26, “ o Charles Hunter.
“ 26. “* L Lewis Gates,
“o97. “ g Poter Woods.
" 28, ’ o Lowls Clarkson.

Nolson Carter.
William Parkor.
John Berry.
William Borry.

“ 920, “ “
“" 80. “
“ a l " “ “
“ 82. “ “

9 ge. * ¢ Bamoel Williame,
-84, i Josh Hammond.

v, 88 ¢ “ Heury Curtis.

“ 8 “ Washington Williams,
“a,o e William I'homas.

"y “ Nelson Ford.

three years before this affair, and in the spring of 1851
he married, and rented a grist-mill in Chester Valley,
a short distance from Parker's house. Ilo lost every-
thing, but ho never regretted having taken part in
this affair. He died since 1880,

The first martyr under the fugitive slave law was
sacrificed at Colymbin, On the 80th of April, 1862,
Albert Q. Ridgely, a slave-catchor, of Baltimore, Md.,
and a one-armed man named Snyder, who pretonded
to be a deputy marshal, made their appearance in a
lumber-yard between IFront Street and the river, be-

i low Perry Stréet, in the borough of Columbia, where

tiey arrested a colored man named William Smith,
(claimed as a slavo by George W. Hall, of Harford
County, Md.), who was thore at work. Smith snid
nothing, but struggled to get away svom Ridgely and
Snyder, and was forcing his way towards an oponing in
a paling fence along Front Street. If he could have
reached this oponing, which was only large cnough
to admit the pnssago of ono person at a time, he
doubtless would have escaped, but when within a fow
feet of it, Ridgely drow a pistol and shot Smith
in the side of the head or neck, killing him instantly,
Ridgoly fled and crossed the bridge to Wrightsville,
thonce hie took tho old Baltimore road and passed to
the south of York, whero the shorift and his posse
wero watching, and expocted to arrest him, Ridgely
becamo 8o overhonted and exhausted by the headlong
haste of his flight that whon he arrived In Baltimoro
ho was taken sick and died n fow months Iator.

This affair croated n profound sensation in the
community, Application was made to Governor
William Biglor for a requisition on tho Governor of
Maryland for Ridgely. (loverno.” Lowe, of Mary-
land, appointed Otho 8cot! and James M. Buchanan
commissioners to inguire into the particulars of tho
shooting of Smith. T'hey came to Columbia and took
some teatimony, with closed doors, at the “8orrol
Horso Hotol,” kopt by Parsons. After this, Gover »r
Bigler, who had at firet promised to grant a req.sie
tion, rofusod to do 8o, and the attomptod kidnapy s,
Ridgely and 8nydcr, woro nover brought to justico.
Mra, 8mith, tho wife of the murdered man, a respe a-
ble colored woman, died in Columbia a few yoars ngo.
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The pioncer settlers at Wright's Fe‘rr_v, now Co- | many of whom fled to Canada and settled at Chat-
lumbia, were friands of the slave, William Wright, | ham, The first successful attempt at the rendition of
the grandson of John Wright, was not only the | a fugitive slave under the law occurred in Columbia
black man’s friend, but was an aggressive opponent ; in the fall of 1850. William Baker, while sawing
of Southern slavery, and dealt that institution a blow ' wood in front of Mr. Shenberger’s, in Locust Street,
whenever he had an opportunity. ! Columbia, was arrested and taken to Philadelphia

In 1816, Isracl Bacon, a wealthy slaveholder, who | before a United States commissioner, who remanded
resided in Henrico County, Va., on the bunk of the | him into slavery, but a number of the colored man’s
Chickahominy (not far from the place where the bat- i friends in Columbia collceted several hundred dollars

tle of Mechanicsville was fonght, June 26, 1862),
manumitted fifty-six slaves. Some of the heirs tried
to hold them in slavery, and after a long litigation

| and purchused his freedom. He is now residing in
Columbin, a respectable and well-to-do citizen. There
were many cases of hairbreadth escapes and a num-

the courts pronounced them frec on the 15th day of | ber of captures of fugitive slaves in Columbia. One
June, 1819. Charles Granger, a nephew of Bacon, | case which happened more than seventy years ago is
gathered up these emancipated slaves (of both sexes 1 here noticed.

and all ages), and procuring wagons, londed them | Stephen Smith, the successful lumber-merchant, in
and their goods, and started for the Northern States, | Columbia, who removed to the city of Philadelphia
with the view of settling in Canada. They wended 2 forty-five or more years ago and became very wealthy,
their way slowly along in their rickety wagons, and | was bought, when five or six years old, by Gen,
after several days they found themsclves at Columbia, | Thomas Boude from a family named Cochran, who
Pa, For several days they were quartered in a stone | lived on Paxtang Creek, near Harrisburg. Gen.
warehouse belonging to Samuel Bethel, 1sq., which | Boude brought him to Columbia, where he had been
stood where the canal basin is, after which the | but a short time when his mother ran away from her
Wrights gave them land in the northeastern section | master and came to Gen. Boude's. Soon afterwards
of the town, upon which they erected small cabins. | a lady arrived in Columbia on horsebuck and stopped
The Plensants, Randolphs, Girecens, Haydens, and | in front of Gen. Boude's dwelling, on Front Street.

others, were of this party.

Two years later one hundred manumitted slaves
from Hanover County, Va., came to the place, and
drove into the yard of the old “Lamb Tavern,” on
Locust Street, in Columbia, where they remained sev-
eral days, until places could be provided for them near
those who came in 1819. The men found ready em-
ployment along the river among the lumber-mer-
chants, and earned good wages,

Columbin being ‘the most important place along
the river which was spanned by a bridge, runaway
slaves sought to cross the river at this point. Some
remained among the colored people. Their masters
often followed, and arrived before their slaves, and
caught and returned them to slavery. William
Wright conceived the idea of passing these fugitive
slaves from one friend to another, located at intervals
of ten and twenty miles. After these stations were
established, friends were selected, who would pilot or
direct these fugitives from one to another. The prin-
cipal stations in this county were Columbia and
Daniel Gibbons’ place, one mile west from Bird-in-
Hand, in Lampeter township. Sometimes half -a
dozen or more runaways were placed in the care of

these agents, and they were almost invariably carried:

through in safety on the *“underground railroad”
when placed in charge of its agents,

It was not always an easy task, when the fugitive
slaves found themselves ameng friends of their own
color, and whera they could earn good wages, to in-
duce them to go beyond Columbia, Just prior to the
passage ofi the fugitive slave law, in September, 1850,
there were several hundred of them in Columbia,

| She at once proceeded to go through Gen. Boude's
| dwelling to the kitchen, where she seized hold of
{ Mrs. Smith and attempted to drag her to the street
and tie her to the back of the horse. Mrs. 8mith and
the ladies of Gen. Boude’s household made such a
vigorous resistance aud outery that Gen. Boude, who
was engaged in his lumber-yard some distance away,
heard them, and came to the woman’s rescue, Miss
Cochran, the lady who attempted the capturo, was
forced off the premises, and, remounting her horse,
returncd to Paxtang. I'earing that a more success-
ful attempt would be made to kidnap Mrs. Smith,
Gen. Boude went to Paxtang and purchased her,

Evans’ History of Columbia
Chapter XXX continued on
the following pages 9—57.
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the north. Robert Barber and his wife, Hannah, on
the 81st day of August, 1726, made a conveyance for
one hundred acres of land to Susannah Wright.
Upon the tract belonging to Miss Wright “O0ld
Columbia” was laid out; and upon her father's
tract John Wright's addition was built.

Arrival of the First Bettlers.—On the 23d day
of August, 1726, Samuel Blunston, then of Darby,
Chester Co., Pa., purchased from Jumes Logan three
hundred acres of land, adjoining Susannnh Wright's
land on the morth; and on the 10th day of January,
1788, he purchused fromn Logan three hundred acres,
which belonged to Logan, as marked on the draft.

On the 2d day of Juue, 1741, he received a patent -

“from Jolin, Thomas, and Richard Penn for two hun-
dred and twenty-five acres more. Tt is probable that
John Wright was the first one of these ploncer set-
tlers who visited the place where they settled. By
an examination of the minutes of Chester Monthly
Meeting it appears that ho preached to the Indinns
at Conestoga beforo this land was purchased by them.
Mr. Barber was nlso ono of the assessors for Chester
County in 1724-25, and Conestoga was assigned to
his district, It was the custom then for the township
constables to mako a return to the assessors of all the
taxables, When the day of appeal cameo the nsses-
sors were assigned to various districts, and they sat
gonorally at some tavern in their district, where the
inhabitants went to attend the appeal, when they so
desired. Mr, Barber in this way may have also vis-
ited the spot. He was the first, however, to move to
tho place in the spring of 1726, and was followed in
the full of that year by the others.

At that time it was the custom with the loan com-
missioners to make an agreement with a settler per-
mitting him to take up land upon the condition that
he sottled and remained upon it for one year, free of
charge, and at the ond of which time, if ho so de-
sired, & patent was granted to him upon the payment
of the sum agreed upon, Thisscems to have been
the case with Barber,

Wheon these pioneers camo they found a Shawanese
villago scattered along and near the run which bears
their name. The lower part, solected by Mr, Barber,
was coverad with a heavy growth of large trees, con-
sisting of hickory, onk, and walnut, a fine strenm
of wator running along its southern border, upon
which he erected a saw-mill in 1727,.a short distance
above the Kauffman stone-quarries, Along ita north-
ern border Shawaneso Run bounded it, and in the
contro of the tract a sinall stream flowed from a spring
to the river. Ho orected his dwolling close to n spring
and a few yards from the present dwelling of Jucob
0. Stoner. ’

John Wright built upon his own land, about one
hundred yards from the river, upon ground now oc-
cupied by dwellings belonging to Abram Bruner. The
Wright mansion was torn down in 1874, C )

Blunston did not build upon the land incjuded'in

his first survey. He found a more eligible site for a
residence upon Susannah Wright's land, and he pur-
chased from her several acres, which was cut out of
the northern border of her land, which sloped gently
to the river, and upon the northern and southern sideo
of this purchase. This is now occupied by Samuel
B. Heise. Part of the dwelling erected by Mr. Bluns-
ton is still standing, and may be seon on the north
gside of Mr. Heise’s dwelling. Ol the three tracts Mr,
Barber's seemed to be the most desirable one, on nc-
count of the abundance of timber, water, and superior
quality of the Jand, e was given the first choice of
the land.

When Johin Wright came to the Susquehanna he
was a member of the General Assembly, Samuel
Blunston a land surveyor.

Both were trusted and held in the highest estcem
by John, Thomas, and Richard Penn, and from the
day they landed upon the shores of the Susquehanna
they led an honorable and busy life.

The northern and southern line, as tho same ap-
pears upon the draft, forms the boundary of the
town. The line on the northeast side does not ex-
tend as far in that direction us it appears upon the
draft, When the county cams to be organized John
Wright was appointed one of the justices, and was
the presiding justico until he resigned. Samuel
Blunston was appointed prothonotary, register, and
recorder, and Rubert Barber, sheriff. '

Wright's Ferry.—In the year 1730, John Wright
procured a patent for u ferry, He built a ferry-house,
which stood on the north side of Locust Street, near
Front. Intherear of this house, which faced the south,
was a garden which embraced all of the ground be-
tween Bank Alley and to a point about sixty feet from
Front Street, and extended as far north as tho stono
dwelling below Walnut Street,  In front of the forry-
house the road lending from Lancaster to the ferry
ran, and beyond the rond the barn belonging to the
ferry-house stood, which was struck by lightning
and burned down before the town' was laid out,
There were several acres of land belonging to tho
ferry, which oxtended from Locust Streot south to
tho alley which divided the land of the late John
Lowden Wright and James Cresson, and between an
old public rond (now Second Street) and the river.
The garden and this lnst-described tract were not
embraced withiin tho limits of Old Columbia, and
it was not divided into building lots until after tho
orection of the brick ferry-house, which stood
whero the Pennsylvanin round-house now is. Tho
travel over this forry by emigrants moving south and
west was very great, They did not have long trains
of wigons to transport their goods, but used pack-
horses.

During tho dry season stock of all kinds were com-
pelled to ford the river, which was very shallow. The
forry-boats were large “dug-outs” that would carry
one or more tons, Persons and their houschold stuff
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were placed in them and ferrled over. When the
water was too high to ford the river with a wagon,
two *““ dug outs” were lashed together and the wheels
placed in each. When horses and cattle in large
numbers were to be taken over a canoe was sent in
advance, with a person in the stern who led one of
the stock with a rope, when all the rest followed. If
this was not done, the leader sometimes became con-
fused and swam in a circle or returned to the shore
from whence they started, If the leader was not
caught and its head turned in the proper direction,
they became exhausted and wero drowned. After
the erectlon of the new ferry-house and large flat-
bottomed boats were introduced, the travel became
80 great that two days elapsed before some parties
could geot their “ turn.” It was no unusual thing to
seo from one hundred and fifty to two hundred ve-
hicles of varlous kinds waiting at the ferry-house for
their turn, and to serve those who came in regular
order the ferryman numbered their vehicles with
chalk, Tho water was often 80 low at this ferry, by
reason of the greater width of the river, that.ordinary
dug-outs could not be flonted ncross, Iencoe many
travelers sought Anderson’s Ferry, three miles far-
ther up tho river. Thomas Cresap received a patent
for a ferry at * Bluo Rock,” four miles below Wright's,
fromn Lord Baltimore in 1780, but it was never able to
rival the ferry here. :
By reason of Mr. \Wright's great prominence in
public affairs, his ferry became not only a point of
local noto but well known in Europe, and was spoken
of frequently in official papers of the Crown of Eng-
land, John Wright, Jr.,a son of the old pioncer sot-
tler, took chargo of the western end of the ferry, and
huilt a tavern and ferrz-house, He remained upon
that side of the river un.i+ his death, Although John
Wright had been a pub.* speaker at Friends’ Meot-
ing, and Barbor and Blunston were at one thne prom-
inont mombers of the same society, their intercourse
with men of prominence and familinrity with public
affairs scem to have swerved them from tho routine
of habits and disciplino adopted by that soclety, and
woro not averse to adopting the means most available
for tho presorvation of their homes and the peace of
thoir familics and the welfare of tho community at
large. As the settlement increased around the ferry,
the peoplo were put to the inconvenience of travel-
ing to Chikis Croek or Conestogn Creck with their
grists. To accommodate the sottlers, Samuel Blun-
ston and James Wright (son of John) ecrocted a
corn- and grist-mill near tho mouth of Shawancse
Run, which stood where the road-bed of the Penn-
sylvania Rallroad now fs. In tho year 1745, Samuel
Blunston dovised his.half of this mill to James
Wright.  When Gon. Braddock was scoking in vain
for supplics from Virginiu for his army, he was com-
pelled to appcal to the province of Pennsylvania for
help. Among those who résponded favorably was
our Quaker -friend, James Wright, who filled kegs

with flour, and sent large quantities upon pack-
horses to Raystown (now Bedford) to supply the
army. He did not wait until he was paid before he
delivered the flour, but acted promptly as a patriot
should do, and the emergency required. This little
corn-mill was again taxed to supply the Indians to
keop them from starving at a time when they were
afraid to go out among the farmers to beg or steal
from the frontier settlers. :

The defeat and disaster which overtook Braddock’s
army in June, 1765, near Fort Duquesne, was imme-
diately followed by a panic among tho frontier settlers,
which extended along Cumberlund Valley and many
miles above Harris’ Ferry. Thesettlers fled for safety
to Lancaster County. Muny took refuge in Drumore
and Little Britain townships, and others sought
safety at Wright's Ferry. Rumors of the approach of
the savages, who were murdoring the frontier settlers,
caused great alarm at this placo,

The women and children were sent to Philadel-
phia, and the able-bodied men went to James
Wright's mansion, and fortified it. The venerable
stone building is standing yet, along Second Street,
and is owned and occupled by the descendants of
James Wright. ‘Tho side fronting on Second Street
is the rear sido of the building. That one facing the
river is the proper front, It was a formidable place
of defonse, and with the appliances and means of
warfare then adopted by the Indinns they could
have mado but little impression upon its stone walls
and double doors of onk. There were no’ woodon
buildings near it which the savages could set on firo
and burn them out. The windows were very narrow,
and could oasily bo used for port-holes. Tho mon
who wero inside had fire-arms, and it is presumed
that James Wright and his Quaker frionds wero
fully cognizant that these weapons of warfure wero
there and roady to be used. Nolther . Blunston,
Wright, or Barber cared to soll any of their land, or
encourago the settlement of the place, A few per-
sons woro allowed to squat upon the land and build
small cabins, Thoy wero tradesmen or laborers, who
worked upon their farms, Neithor John Wright, or
his son, James, who inhorited the land at this place,
scomed to think that thero ought to bem town, or
that there was a necessity for one. And it remained
for the latter's entorprising and sagacious son, Samuel,
to move in that direction,

Oolumbia Laid Out and Named.— Susanna
Wright, daughter of John Wright, 8r., died in 1785,
and loft hor farm of one hundred acres—which Is
marked.upon the * plan” heretoforo insorted—to her
nephow, Samuel Wright, son of Jumes. In the spring
of 1788 he had that part, extending from, Front
Btreot back about half of a mile, surveyed and laid
out into building lbts, On the 26th day of July,
1788, these lots, to the number of ono hundred and
sixty, wore chanced off by lottery. Each “adven-
turer” paid “fifteen shillings,” Pennsylyania cur
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rency, for a ticket, which entitled the holder to one
lot. The lots upon the plan of the town were num-
bered, and the holders of the tickets took lots corre-
sponding to-such numbers, without regard to their
eligibility. These tickets were purchased and held
by persons, many of whom lived in different sections
of the county and the eastern part of the State, who
never became residents of the place, but sold their
lots to others at a large advance. Upon the margin
of the town “ plan” S8amuel Wright made the follow-
jng memorandum before the lottery drawing was
made, and thus every one who desired to purchase a
ticket could see the plan and understand his inten-
tions. It read as follows:

“The lota from No.1 to No. 16, inclusive, are 82 feet In front and from
100 1o 200 deep.” (Theso lute extend from tho stone dwelling ou Front
Street below Walnut, which stands on lot No. 14, up Front to the Round-
House.) *“The range from 17 to 30, inclusive, are from 60 to 150 feet
front and from 115 to 250 deep.”” (Theso lots extend along the north
side of Walnut Street from tho rear end of the Pennsylvania Rallroad
passanger dopot lot to a point on tho west sllo of Fourth 8treet.) *‘The
lots in the regular part of the plan are 60 feet yront and 101 feot deep,
and In general, whero tho front Is narrower tho depth s greater, and
where the depth is less the front s Increased in proportion, so thut the
lots genemlly contnin above n quarter and not quite a third of an acre
each, exclusive of strocts and alleys.

“The ground belween the Fronl Lols doiew lo the Iload (s lo de for the use
of the Inhabilanis of the place for o pwt any kind ¢f Lumber on, DBut no
bullidings to be erecled.”

Samuel Wright wisely named the town Columbia.
It sprang into importance nt once, and attracted the
attention of the whole country. On the 8d day of
September, 1789, Thomas Scott, a member of Con-
gress from the southwestern part of the State, in pur-
suanco of a * notico given,” moved * that a permanent
residenco for the seat of government.be fixed.,” The
House immediately resolved itself into Comnmittee of
the Whole to take into consideration the motion of
Mr., Scott. Benjamin Gondhue, a member from the
Stato of Massachusetts, wus the first one to discuss
the subject, and in his speech he made the following
statement: “ The' Iastern members, with the mem-
bors from New York have agreed to fix a place upon
natlonnl principles without regard to their own con-
venience, and have turned their minds to the banks
of the Susquehanna,” This they considered the cen-
tre of tho population, and in accordance with this
view he offered a resolution, “ That the permanont
Beat of the Gonoral Government ought to bo in some
convenient placo on the east bank of the River Sus-
quehanna, in the State of Ponnsylvania.,” Other
places were named by members during the discussion,
Col. Thomas Hartley, of York, was the first person
to mention by name “ Wright's Ferry.” 'After the
mattor had been discussed for some time, ho again
aroso and presented the superior inducements of this
place in most eloquent language. He described
Wright's Ferry as being on tho east bank of the Sus-
quehanna River, ote. :

On the following day a motion was mado to strike
out the east bank of the Busquehanna, but the modion
was defeated by a vote of 28 to 28, Michael Jenifer

Stone, a member from Maryland, moved to amend
the resolution by striking out the words “cast bank”
and ingerting “banks.” This motion was carried by
a vote of 26 to 25. An amendment was offered au-
thorizing the president to appoint threc commis-
sioners to examine and report an eligiblo situation on
the east bank of the Susquehanna, and an approprin-
tion of one hundred thousand dollars was named in
the resolution for the purchase of land for the seat of
government, This amendment was carried by a vote
of 28 to 21. The bill as amended was passed by the
House by a vote of 31 to 17. It was engrossed and
sent to the Senate on the 22d day of September, 1789,
On the 26th day of September, 1780, the Senato sent
a messago to the House informing that body that they
had passed the bill for establishing the seat of gov-
ernment of the United States, with an amendment,
naming a district of ten miles square, on the west side
of the river Delaware, which was to include “Ger-
mantown.” The bill was dropped for the session,
At tho session of 1700 the subject again camo up on
July 6th, and was discussed with great warmth and
bitterness botween the members, Thero was another
measure before Congress, culled the * Assumption
Bill,” in which the members from New England had
a great interest. Tho measure did not have a ma-
jority, and in order to carry it its friends formed a
combination with the Southern mombers who were
opposed to it, and they resorted to what is knoi:: in
modern legislative tactics as “log rolling.” This
measure, which assumed tho war dobts of the Steics
by tho general government, left in its wake great
acctional bittorness, which was not allayed until many
years had passed.

I havo extended tho history of the location of the
seat of the general government at somo length to
make clear the fact that “ Wright's Ferry” was aitu-
ated upon tho cast bank of the tiver, and not upon
the west side. Thoughtless persons have fallen into
this error by supposing that * Wrightsville,” which
was named after the family who gave theirs to the
forry, wns thon in existence, or that It succeeded
“Wright's Ferry.” John Wright, Jr,, owned the
land upon that sido of the ferry, but tho old mansion
farm was upon the enst side, and the forry was very
properly described as being upon the cast side. This
is not written to offond our neighbors over the river,
nor to rob them of what is their duo, but to establish

tho truth of history,

, 'The tradition among the descondants of the founder

of the place ig that tho scope of country a mile cast
from“the river was the spot designed for the Federal
capital, ;
Geographioal Features of the Looality.—The
town was located and bullt along a gentle slope which
faced tho river, which at this point was & mile and
one-eighth wide. Immediately along its bank there
was a narrow strip of low; flat, sandy loam, which was
overflowed by water during spring freshets, In width

Excerpts from History of Lancaster County, Pennsylvania: With Biographical Sketches of Many of Its Pioneers and Prominent Men

By Franklin Ellis, Samuel Evans Everts & Peck, 1883 - Lancaster County (Pa.) - 1101 pages.
Prepared by Randolph Harris, archivist, African American Historical Society of South Central Pennsylvania—October 2020

13


https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Franklin+Ellis%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Samuel+Evans%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Franklin+Ellis%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Samuel+Evans%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Franklin+Ellis%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Samuel+Evans%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Franklin+Ellis%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Samuel+Evans%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=subject:%22Lancaster+County+(Pa.)%22&source=gbs_ge_summary_r&cad=0

642

HISTORY OF LANCASTER COUNTY.

this was from ten to thirty yards, From thence the
ground ascended gradually for a distance of two hun-
dred yards; from thence for a thousand yards the
ascent was much less, From this slope, which faced

the west, ono of the grandest and most picturesque :

landscape scenes in this region was presented to the
view. The broad and rapid stream in front was in-

terspersed with islands and rocks, and the waters were !

oiten covered with numerous flocks of wild ducks,
The westorn shore presented a succession of abrupt
hills of various shapes, and a valley of unsurpassed
fertility, Artists have attempted to place upon can-
vas this picture as it presents itself to the eye, and
poets have written in vain to describe it.

‘Tho most desirable part of the town in its early
days, and that which attracted the attention of scttlers,
was along Front Street, where they had an unob-
structed view of the river and the matchless sunsets.
The rapid growth of the town, and the immense
business along the river-bank in handling produce
and lumber, created a necessity for the erection of
warchouses and room to pile lumber. The commerce
carried on between the middle and northern section
of the State and this place, which became a point of
transshipment, was very great. Merchants and ad-
venturers from the eastern part of the State flocked
here in great numbers. Those who settled along
Front Street did not have an unobstructed view of
the river and hills very long, for great quantities of
lumber were drawn from rafts and arks and piled
upon the shore to dry, and great warehouses were
built. Settlors began to build along Locust Street
and upon higher ground.

Upon the Iand of Samuel Blunson two small streams
of water ran to the river, both of which had their
sources upon or close to the edge of his lands, These
streams followed ravines to the river. The elevation
along their banks did not assume the dignity of hills,
but ran rather abruptly down to the water's edge.
Between Walnut and Locust Streets there was also &
ravine, which has been filled up since that part of
the town has been built. Locust Street, from Bauk
Alley to Third Street, was lnid out along the slope of
rolling land, which required several feet digging on
the north side and none on the south. There was a
ridge between Alley “I” and Perry Street, and the
water-flow from the eastern part of what, is now
known as the Second Ward, found its way along this
ridge until it came to a ravine along Perry Streot,

8hawanese Run, the largest of these water-courses,
has its source three miles northeast of the town. It
was fed by a small stream flowing into it from the
north, at the borough limits, and by another flowing
into it from the cast. There was water enough
this stream to run a-corn- and grist-mill, A ! .ie
farther south was another small stream, which had
its source on Robert Barber's land. Along the south-
ern border of this tract there was another and larger
stream than either of the others. The topography of

the land was such that every part of it was easily
drained, and there is no town in the State with better.
kept and cleaner streets than Columbia, because of
its fine drainage. All of this land wns covered with
a very heavy growth of the best timber to bg found in
America. Along the bottom-land at the river-shore
there was an abundance of walnut- and buttonwood:
trees, Thirty years after this scttlement was made
there was but eighteen por cent. of the land cleared,

Additions to the Town.—After Samuel Wright
laid out the town there remained nine acres and
fifty-six perches in connection with the old Ferry
House. This extended from the stone dwelling-house
on Front Street, near Walnut, to Locust, and from
the river to Bank Alley; and on the south side of
Locust Street, from Second to Front Street, extending
south about three hundred feet, This tract belonged
to James Wright's sons, Samuel, John, James, and
William Wright, who held it as tenants in common,
In October, 1795, the last thres conveyed their in-
terest to their brother S8amuel, in this tract, in which
was also included the Ferry House, kept by Joseph
Jeffries. In the year 1794, Samuel Wright laid this
tract out into nineteen bullding lots, and named it
‘“ Columbia Continued.” The purchaser of lots on the
east side of Front Street was also entitled to a lot ex-
tending from the river to a line sixty feet west from
the east side of Front Strect, They did not, however,
in all cases avail themselves of this privilege. Be
tween the river-lot it was provided that the owners
thereof were to keep in repair canals which oxtended’
at right angles from the river to a point within a fow
yards of Front Street, between every pair of lots,
which were used to allow “keel-boats” to enter and
unship their produce, When the river was in a flood
state the stream was very swift, and the safety of these
little river crafts was endangered if left along the
shore; hence the necessity for these little inlets for
their protection,

Samuel Wright, the eldest son of James, in the
year 1788 conveyed to his brother John one hundred
and twenty acres, part of his father’s estate. This
land ran t> the river, and was bounded on the north
by Samuel Wright's land and on the south by “Shaw-
anese Run.”

In the year 1790 he lald out part of this land into
about one hundred building lots, * No. 1” commenc-
ing at the corner of Second and Unlion Streets, at St.

osoph’s Church, and extending up to Fifth Street on
the north side, and from Furnace Alley on the south
side to Fourth, down that street on both sides to Mill
Street, down Union to a point near Third Street.
This plan was named “ John Wright's Addition.”
Subsequently the land along Front, above Union
Street, was laid out into thirty-one lots,

In the year 1794 or 1795, Samuel Miller, & promi-
nent and influontial Quaker, who came from Down-
ingtown and purchased the Ferry House and two and
one-half acres of ground which extended from the

o Lafark Cathatae
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Ferry House north to the line of Samuel Bethel’s : pike or road, which ran along the eastern side of the

Jand, and between Front Street and the river, from

Frederick Stump. He laid it out into lots, and called |

it “ Miller’s Plan.”

In the year 1812, Daniel Musser, a lumber mer-
chant, and Amos Buckalew, a school-teachor, pur-
chased several acres of land extending from TJnion to
Perry Streets, and from Second Street to an alley east
of Third Street. They held this ns tenants in com-
mon. They laid it out into building lots, and called
it “Musser and Buckalew’s Plan,” The lots wer-
much smaller than those laid out by Samuel and John
Wright, Buckalew was the uncle of the distinguished
Democratic ex-Senator, Charles Buckalew,

That part of the town extending from Perry Street

. south, embracing the old mill-dam, was laid out by
Rudy Herr (who came from the -manor) and Jacob
Rohrer, and was called “Rudy Herr’'s Addition.”

In the year 1818, Robert Magill laid out twenty
lots upon Filbert Street, which came to be known as
“8awneytown,” after Mr. and Mrs, Sawney, colored
people, who were once slaves, Mrs, Sawney was the
“‘queen” of that locality, and ruled her * subjects”
most effectually, She did not hesitate to use violent
means to enforce submission from those who lived
near her. Magill also laid out a number of lots at
corner of Third and Union Streets, John Barber and
Killian Epley laid out a number of lots along Front
Street, below Union Street, This was called * Bar-
ber’s and Epley’s Plan.”

The town grew with great rapidity, and many large
and substantial brick dwelling-houses along Front
and Locust Streets were built,

Samuel Wright reserved a square and a half of
ground east of Second Street and in front of his
dwelling, expecting that the permanent seat of the
State government, would eventually be located at Co-
lumbia. For more than ten years this question was
agitated, and the popular sentiment of the people
throughout the eastern section of the State, so fur as
it could be ascertained, was in favor of this place.
But, unfortunately, there was no person from the
neighborhood who was a representative in the Legis-
lature who could watch and urge the superior claims
of the place. Samuel Wright was a Quaker, and he
did ‘not resort to the various means usually adopted
to induce the members of the Legislature to enact the
law fixing the place where the permanent capital was
to be. Mr. Harris was unceasing in his importunities
with members while the Legislature was in'session at
Lancaster, and after several years of hard work suc-
ceeded in carrying off the prize.

The limits of the town were not extended beyond
the various divisions named until the public im-
provements which had their terminus here created a
necessity for more room and more dwellings. The
Pennsylvania Canal terminated in a basin or pool at
the southern limits of Bethel’s land. Along the Co-
lumbia, Marletta, Bainbridge, and Portsmouth turn.

.

' canal basin, the State built an oflice and dwelling,

where the collector of tolls and his clerks had their
offices, A short distance above it a tavern was built,

which was soon succeeded by another one, and ina

few years a number of dwellings and store-houses
were built. This was upon the land of the Misses
Bethel,

The town gradually improved, After the close of
the great war of the Rebellion the rapid growth of
the place again created a necessity for more room,
Amos 8. Green and Philip Gossler, who were then in
their prime of life, saw their opportunity, and they
purchased in 1866 fifty acres of land, which was part
of the sixty-two-acre tract which Hannah Barber
conveyed to her son Robert. They divided it off into
building lots, which they sold rapidly. Large num-
bers of mechanica and laboring men purchased lots,
and commenced the erection of dwellings, beginning
by building a back building or kitchen first, to which
they afterwards, as they accumulated more means,
built an addition in front. This place was named
Gossler Green, butitwasnicknamed “ Kitchen Town,”
by which term it is more generally known, A new
charter was obtained in 1866, and the limits of the
borough were extended north and south,

Samuel B. Heise and J. Houston Mifllin, who
owned a large portion of the Blunston land, in the
northern section of the borough, wisely offered to sell
their land for building lots. Strects were extended
and lots were bought, upon which their owners com-
menced the erection of elegant brick mansions, The
growth of the place is now almost wholly in that di-
rection,

Publioc Ground.—When Samuel Wright laid out
his land into town lots, he Jeft the plan at the Ferry
House, then kept by Josepn Jeffries, where all the
adventurers who purchased, or desired to purchase,
tickets in the lottery could see where the respective
lots were located.

Upon the drawing was the following note or memo-
randum written by Mr. Wright :

“The grounds between the front lots down to the
road, is to be for the use of the inhabitants cf the
place, for to put any kind of lumber on, dut no build-
ings to be erecled.”

The road mentioned ran parallel with the river-
shore, and twenty or thirty yards distant therefrom.
It was used and intended to give free access to and
from the ferry and the shad fishery, and also for the
convenience of those who purchased producs or lum-
ber from the up-river men. Up to the death of Mr,
Wright, in July, 1811, the public ground was doubt-
less used by all the citizens who purchased lumber,
and stored it there to dry free of charge. From this
time.there accrued a revenuo derived from the rents
paid by those who used the ground to store lumber
upon,

By the fourteenth section of the act of Assembly
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incorporating the borough, passed Feb. 25, 1814, the
corporation was expressly excepted from taking or
holding the profits, rents, and emoluments arising
from said ground.

Five trustees, who were to be chosen annually by
the inhabitants of Old Columbia (by which is meant
that part of the town laid out by Samuel Wright),
who were to manage and lease or let the public
ground,

The sums arising from ground rent were allowed
to accumulate until the year 1820, when the same
amounted to about two ‘thousand dollars,

‘T'he gross sum collected was much larger, but some
of it was swallowed up under the head of expenses.
The citizens of Old Columbia who had not partici-
pated in the enjoyment of these rents becameo restless
and anxious about the matter, and on Tuesday the
14th day of November, 1820, they held a public meet-
ing for the purpose of determining what disposition
should be made with this accumulated fund. After a
full and free discussion, it was finally decided that it
should bo applied to the purpose of devising means
to carry spring water into said Old Columbin for the
use of the inhabitants thereof.

A petition to the Legislature duly setting forth
these facts was presented, and on the 8lst day of
March, 1821, an act was passed which made it lawful
for the inhabitants of Old Columbia to elect seven
managers annually, who were to be freeholders, and
were termed * Managers of the Old Columbia Water
Company.” '

If the revenue arising therefrom exceeded the ex-
penses, a dividend was to be declured, and the money
divided among the lot-holders. This was the germ
of the WWater Company.

This was one of the earliest offorts in the State to
supply the inhabitants of an incorporated town with
spring water conveyed in pipes under ground,

At an election held in the town hall (then at the
southern end of the market-house), April 21, 1821, in
pursuance of said act the following-named persons
were chosen managers: William P, Beatty, Jacob
Forry, Henry Martin, Dr. Thomas Griffith, Jacob
Mathiot, Thomas Lloyd, Eli H. Thomas,

At a meeting of the managers held on the 21st day
of May following, William P. Beatty was chosen
chairman, Thomas Lloyd secretary, and Christian
Brenneman treasurer,

On the 6th day of June following, tliese managers
met and directed their treasurer to inform the trus-
tecs of the Old Public Ground Company that they
weie ready to receive, and desired thew to pay over
all moneys in their hands, in accordance with the
act of Assembly.

For the year 1822 the following-named persons
rented lots on the public ground. They dealt in
lumber, one or two of them also dealt in stone-coal.
The public ground tcok up about one-fith of the
river front of the borough, as then limited, Sowe

idea of the amount of business carried on along the
river shore in lumber alone can be had by reference
to the following renters :

Thomas Boude, No. 1 835
Btorhon Bmith, No. 2..cccenivnervccisssininne 36
Willinm B, Hunt, No. 8....ccvmmennsresrsinsssssrmnsssssssssanniens 37
Barber & Vaugheu, Nos. 4 and b........ Sresernnennseiaansansens "
Peter Epley, No. 6 40
Johin Gont No. 7 40
Abljah 8mith, No. 8 51

John McKissick, No, 9

Thus the annual rentals amounted to three hun-
dred and fifty-nine dollars.

John L. Wright, the only son of Samuel Wright,
attained his majority in the year 1822, He claimed
to own the strip of land between the road above
named and low-water mark. This was a serious mat-
ter to the Public Ground Company, and if they did
not purchase it free access to the river would be cut
off.

On the 14th day of February, 1828, a public meet-
ing of the citizens of Old Columbia was held in the
town hall to take into consideration the claim of Mr,
Wright to the strip of land along the shore. Legal
counsel was employed who advised its purchuse, a3
his title to the samie was perfect. The trustees made
a settlement with and paid him two thousand dollars,
he giving decds for the property.

In the years 1821-23 the trustees of the Old Co-
lumbia Public Gronnd Company made liberal loans
to the water company, which was then a separate
corporation, '

An act of Assembly was passed April 10, 1826,
incorporating the Old Columbia Public Ground Com-
pany, which was accepted by the company May 15,
1826. By this act the old trustees were required to
transfer the deeds, stock, and moneys to the new cor-
poration.

The first managers elected under this act, on the
8d day of June, 1826, were as follows : James Sweeny,
Michael Way, Robert M. Houston, Henry Martin,
Eli H. Thomas, Richard Derrick, Jacob Forry,
treasurer,

On the 2d day of October, 1826, the board gave
John L. Wright four shares of water stock for the
grouiid now occupied by the old reservoir at the cor-
ner of Locust and Fifth Streets, which cost one hun-
dred dollars, An cxpensive litigation has grown
out of the ownership of this piece of ground formerly
occupled by the reservoir. The matter was tried in
the lower court, and is now before the Supreme
Court of the State on appeal.

Ten years ago a new and larger reservoir was
erected along Sixth Btreet, two squares farther east
when the old reservoir was abandoned, The Public
Ground Company then claimed the land, as did also
the water company, who sold it to the Methodist
Episcopal Church, who erected a chapel upon it.

In 1826 the Public Ground Company owned forly
shares of water stock, which cost one thousand dol-
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Jars. They also made loans to that company amount-
ing to two or more thousand dol]ars,

When the Columbia and Philadelphia Railroad was
completed, in 1832-34, the tracks passed through this
property to the canal basin, which terminated near
the northern boundary of this property. This im-
provement greatly enhanced the rentals, The lots
were rented by public * outery” in 1831,—

No. 1, to Kvan Green, for.

Nos. 2 and 3, to Bteplien Smith, for.cvmusmrsniinninnne 136.00
Nos. 4 and 3, to Ixaac Yaughen, fo 140.00
No. 8, to Peter Epley, for.....ceue 7000
No. 7, to Jefiries & pla{ for... 73.00
No. 8, to Henry H. 8tric \er. for... . 7000
No. 9, to George 0. Lloyd, for. . 88.00

In the year 1882 the company commenced to wharf
the shore. The late John Lowrey was the contractor.
At this time the managers were George Zeigler, John
Swartz, John M. Heller, James Sweeney, Michael
Strein, John Louckard. In the same year the board
subscribed for one hundred and twenty shares of
water stock, amounting to two thousand five hundred
dollars. The expense of wharfing cost two thousand
five hundred dollars. From this period the company
was frequently involved in litigation, which cost them
a good deal of their rovenues.

In 1836, Ashbel Creen, Esq., was appointed their
attorney at a salary of fifteen dollars per annum. (He
came from New Jersey. His office was in the dwell-
ing now occupied by Dr. G. W. Berntheisel, on Locust
Street, between Third and Fourth Strects.)

Notwithstanding the litigation and mismanagement
of the property, & considerable fund was accumulated,
and it became an important question with the citizens
of Old Columbia as to its disposition,

Tn 1887 a committeo was appointed to ascertain the
number of children between the ages of four and
twenty-one years of age.in Old Columbia, On the
4th day of March this committee reported the num-
ber at three hundred and five.

The board then mado an appropriation of twelve
hundred dollars to establish and maintain schools for
these children. They also appointed directors to
supervise the schools,

In tho year 1838 some of the lots rented for two
hundred and fifty dollars each.

In 1841 the company owned two hundred and fifty-
Ave shares of water stock, valued at six thousand four
hundred and fifty dollars.

In the same year additional wharfing was made,
which cost two thousand six hundred and twenty-
three dollars and fourteen cents, Some litigation
grew out of this matter, which cost the company sev-
eral hundred dollars more.

In 18568 the managers were J. Houston Mifflin,
S8amuel Truscott, William F. Caruthers, Francis
Bradley, John Finger, and J. G. Hess,

In the same year the Baltimore and Susquehanna
Railroad Company leased a portion of the ground for

85

a passenger and freight depot for twenty-five years
for fifteen hundred dollars,

In the year 1854 the company purchased from
John L. Wright several acres of land along Lancaster
Avenue and east of Locust Street, which surrounded
the old reservoir ground.

In the year 1856 they contracted with Michael
Cleppor for the erection of an academy building,
which was to cost cight thousand six hundred and
forty dollars. After its crection several ncres of land
were purchased from J. Houston Mifllin in 1868 for
eighteen hundred dollars (which w:i, part of the
Bethel estate), and added to the tract purchased from
Mr. Wright. The ground now occupies an entire
square, extending from Fifth to Sixth Street, and
from Locust to Cherry Street, with the exception of
a triangulag piece fronting on Fifth Street, and known
as the Flat-Iron Square. Under the head of Schools
a more extended notice will be found of the **insti-
tute.”

In the year 1849 the Columbia Water Company
lensed some of the public ground along the river for
their use for a long term of years.

The erection of Washington Institute and the pur-
chase of the land adjoining coat over ten thousand
dollars, which sum the company borrowed from
Joseph Detweiler. .

It was supposed that the institute would be a suc-
cess, but it proved to be a failure financially, and in
consequence the company became greatly embar-
rassed.,

In February, 1876, the board leased “Washington
Institute” and that part of the grounds purchased
from John L. Wright to the board of directors of
the public schools of Columbia for a period of twenty
years, at an annual rent of four hundred dollars.

On the 14th day of February, 1878, the Public
Ground Company rented their ground along the
river (excepting the ground below Walnut Street) to
the Pennsylvania Railrond Company for a period of
nine hundred and ninety-nine years, at an annual
rent of six hundred dollars,

The company are in,debt a few thousand dollars,
which will be paid in three or four years, when they
will receive a handsome annual income, which, if
wisely expended, will result in doing great good to
the citizens of “ Old Columbia.” Recent offorts have
been made to convert the grounds purchased from
Mr. Mifilin into a public park, and a number of trees
have been planted in the grounds with that view.
It seems to be a doubtful policy, however, that would
convert a piece of land totally inadequate in its arca
for that purpos®, which, if divided into building lots
and sold, would bring a sum large enough to purchase
a tract of land many times the size of this one, in the
neighborhood of the borough limits, that would be
better adapted for a place of recreation,

Publio Buildings.—About the year 1814 a market-
house was erected upon the lot at the corner of Third
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and Locust Streets, and running parallel with Third
Strect. The southern end of this market-house was
divided by a partition from the other part,’and it was
plastered on the inside and used for a town hall
and school-room, This was found to be too small for

tho wants of the town, which grew rapidly until the ;

close of the war of 1812-15, It was built by Calvin
Cooper at a cost of six hundred and fifty dollars,

The present market-house was built under author-
ity of an ordinance offered by Robert Crane April
17th, and adopted by Council Juno 19, 1868. At
the same meeting plans were presonted, and the floor
plan of Mr, Sloan and the front plan of Mr. Hobbs
were approved and accepted. The market committee,
consisting of Messrs. S, 8. Detwiler, David Mullen,
and Robert Crane, together with W. W, Upp, consti-
tuted the building committee for 1868.© In 1869,
Alexander Craig succeeded David Mullen, whose
term had expired. The contract for building the
market-house was awarded to Michael Liphart, Aug.
1, 1868, for $17,000, and work was commenced at
once. Samuel Wright was the borough regulator,
There were some changes in the original plans, and
these, with the allowances for extra work, increased
the total cost to $19,666.77. The building was re-
ported as completed, accepted by Council, the final
voucher dgawn, and the building committee dis-
charged Sept. 17, 1869. The market-house is one
hundred and eighteen feet long and eighty feet wide,
It is furnished with one hundred and eighty stalls in
the insice and thirty-seven under the projecting roof
on the outside,

In the month of May, 1828, ground was broken
for the erection of a new town hall at the end of
the market-house fronting on Locust Strect. It was
completed in the month of November, 1829. It
measured thirty feet in front on Locust Street, and
forty feet deep on Third Street. It was built of brick,
two stories high, and surmounted by & cupola or
steeple, in which was hung a bell weighing three
hundred and fifteen pounds. A fter the erection of the
building the citizens raised a considerable sum of
money, with which a town clock was purchased and
put in the cupola. It was manufactured by Fred-
erick Heiseley & Son, of Harrisburg, at a cost of
seven hundred dollars. The entire eost of the town
hall was two thousand seven hundred and thirty-one
dollars. Evan Green advanced the money for its
erection, The borough authorities afterwards issued
bonds to cover this debt. Mr. Green sold them to
William Kirkpatrick, a merchant in Lancaster. By
bad management this debt was allowed to increase,
and it was not entirely liquidated until the year 1850,
If space permitted, an interesting history might be
written of this old town hall, where so much elo-
quence was expended and amusement afforded, and
the many interesting scenes witnessed in the school-
room, :

A “lock-up,” constructed of oak plank set upright,

was built upon the market-house lot, on the east side
which was used to confine temporarily the violator:
of law, It was torn down in 1836, and the basemen!
under the northeast corner of the town hall was fitted
up for a “lock-up.”

The rapid growth of the town created a necessity for
a larger and more imposing structure to accommodate
the people. A few spirited citizens started a move-
ment for the erection of a large public hall. The citi-
zens generally were opposed to the creation of a new
borough debt, and it became a serious question among
the friends of the measure {o devise ways and means to
raise the nccessary funds, An act of Assembly was
passed giving the borough officers authority to borrow
money. Bonds were issued, and a sufticient sum was
realized from their sale to warrant the commencement
of the work. The contract was given to Michael Lip-
hart, The old hall was torn down, and the new one,
measuring seventy-five feet front by one hundred fese
in depth, was erected in its place. One of the finest
opera-houses in the State was made on the second
story, that will seat comfortably more than a thou-
sand persons, Upon the Locust Street side several
elegant store-rooms were constracted, and in the rear
space wag made for a market, Upon Third Street
store-rooms and the chief burgess’ office was made,
and in the front basement a large room was built.

In the second story front the council-room and
borough regulator’s office is situated, A tower and
belfry, with clock and bell, surmount the building in
front.

After the construction of the town hall in 1872,
measures were taken to ercct & new market-house on
the enst side of the town hall. It was finished in
1874, and measures eighty by one hundred feet. A
basement was constructed under the front end, which
is used for a lock-up to detain temporary prisoners.
These buildings cost one hundred thousand dollars.

The annual rentals of both buildings amount to sev-

eral thousand dollars more than enough to pay the
interest on the bonded debt of the borough.

The pound-house was built in'December, 1814, It
was intended to confine swine caught running at large
in the strcets. For many years it was the source of
much annoyance to the neighboring farmers, and liti-
gation was followed often by bad blood between citi-
zens und neighbors. Thoughtless or bad boys would
sometimes open a gate or take down the vars, and
permit the farmers’ hogs to wander into the town,
where they were taken up by the constable, and put
in the pound-house, and their owners were compelled
to pay a fine, .with costs imposed,

Jacob Strickler, William Wright, and others, some-
times came and forced open the pound-house, and
took their swine away, Prisoners were also confined
temporarily in the pound-house, and it came to be
named the hog-house, It was torn down in 1832, and
a lock-up was made in a corner of the cellar of the
town hall, , :
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charter for his ferry, ho erected a tavern, which stood
on the north side of Locust Street, opposite the depot
of the Reading and Columbia Railroad, in the year
1780. It was built of logs, two stories high, with a
large room at cither end, with a passage-way between,
John Wright, Jr., was the first person who kept this
tavern. He remained thero until he married, in 1734,
when he removed to the western side of the ferry,
where he built a hotel,

Col. John Lowden, of Revolutionary fame, kept
the Ferry House prior to the war, He was the son
of Richard Lowden, who married John Wright's
daughter. He removed to Buffalo Valley, upon the
West Branch of the Susquehanna, from which place
he raised a company of volunteers and marched to
Boston in 1776.

Yoseph Jeffries came from Qunker stock in Chester
County. He removed from there, about the year
1774, to Hellam township, York Co., where he kept
the Ferry House. He was wagon-master for York
County during the Revolutionary war, and at its
close, in 17883, he removed to the east side of the
ferry and took charge of the Ferry House. He re-
mained there until the year 1794-95, when the heirs
of James Wright erected a new brick hotel near the
northern line of their property, the site of which is
now occupied by the round-house of the Pennsylvania
Railroad Company, when he took charge of the new
hotel. He removed to Lancaster, where ho also kept
hotel.

Frederick Stump first settled at Vinegar's Ferry
above Marictta, after he came to this country from
Germany,' On account of malarial fover, which was
then prevailing among the scttlers along the river, ho
removed to Maytown, where he commenced to keep
tavern about the close of the Revolutionary war,
From thence he removed to Columbia in 1796, and
rented the Ferry House and ferry. On the 14th day of
Fobruary, 1798, he purchased twoacresand Lots Nos, 1,
2, and 8, which adjoined the first-named tract on the
touth, and all the boats belonging to the ferry, from
Samuel Wright for the sum of two thousand eight
hundred pounds. The hotel, which was new, stoed
on Lot No. 1. The two ac-2s mentioned Mr. Stump
sold to Samuel Miller, who laid the same out into lots,
The ferry was the most profitable one on the river.
He purchased the extensive brewery on West King
Btreet west of the Stevens House in Lancaster City,
which he afterwards sold to 0. Barnitz, of York, Pa.
He also purchased & large number of lots in Columbia.
He died in Columbia in'1-04. His widow and Sam-
uel Evans, administrators of his estate, sold the hotel
and other property to Samuel Miller, who rented the
hotel and ferry to Joshua Ring. Ho also ran a line
of stages from Lancaster to York,

Mr. Miller sold the hotel and ferry-boats to Thomas
Brooks Feb. 14, 1814, The latter died before he ob-

COLUMBIA. 547

tained possession of the property. His administra- 1

0ld Taverns,—When John Wright procured a ! tors, William and Amos Green, offered the property

at public sale on the 24th day of December, 1814,
While the vendue was in progress, John Reynolds
(father of Gen. Reynolds, who was killed at Gettys-
burg in 1868) and Jasper Slaymaker, a young lawyer
of Lancaster, while on their way to Marietta, and
when passing called out to the crier, “Six thousand
seven hundred dollars!”  They thought nothing more
of tho matter, but received notice that they were the
highest bidders. And thus they became the owners
of the “ Ferry House,” They held this property for
twenty years. The erection of the bridge over the
river destroyed its profits. They sold the property
to John Guy, the famous hotel-keeper of Baltimore.
He was born on the Eastern Shore of Maryland. He
removed to this county in 1815 and leased the Wash-
ington Hotel at Big Chikis, where the Lancaster
and Mount Joy turnpike crosses the same. Ho also
established a line of stages, which ran between Lan-
caster and Harrisburg. From thence he removed to
Mariotta and kept hotel in the large brick building
adjoining Abraham N, Cassell. He purchased a farm
a mile farther east, along the Lancaster and Marietta
turnpike, from whence he removed to Columbia.
His daughter, Ann, married the late Maj. Frederick
Haines, of Donegal. The hotel was afterwards pur-
chased by Joseph Black, and was thenceforth called
Black’s Hotel. After his decease it was purchased by
his son, Joseph H. Black, who, by his integrity and
good management, built up a very profitable busi-
ness, Hesold the property to the Pennsylvania Rail-
road Company. Their “ round-house” occupies the
spot where this famous hostelry stood.

The *“Sorrel-Horse Hotel” was built by Joseph Jef-
fries, who had been keeping the hotel upon the west-
crn side of the river. Itstood at the corner of Walnut
and Front Streets, the site of which is now occupied
by the passenger depot of the Pennsylvania Railroad
Company. It remained in possession of the Jefiries
until 1885, when Frank Boggs, who married Maria
Jeffries, purchased the property and enlarged it at
the northern side. After the death of Mr. Boggs
the property was leased by Chip. Parsons, Mrs, Ann
Haiues, and that prince of landlords, John Barr,

On the opposite corner, adjoining the store of
Houston, Barber & Gossler, the Washington Hotel
was built by Jacob Gossler, who removed the old
frame building, and erected a three-story brick addi-
tion fifty-one years ago. He was followed by Daniel
Herr and Joseph H. Black, and it is now owned by the
latter. The reputation of the house has always been
“No. 1.” 2 5

For a perlod of forty years after the town was laid
out, the principal street through which wagons passed
to the ferry was Walnut Street. Hence there were
several hotels along that thoroughfare which did a
large business. There has been no hotel on that
streat for many years, Tho large brick building now
owned by Col, McClure was owned by Charles Odell,
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" Joshua Ring nlso kept the tavern. Occasionally a
wandering theatrical troupe gave performances at
this hotel.

Reuben Mullison kept the hotel on the east sido of
Commerce Street. He was also largely interested,
with the late Thomas Collins and others, in several
stage lines and was a railroad contractor. When he
first came to Columbia he ran the river in the spring
of tho year as a pilot. Ho was a very active citizen.
His daughter married Thomas A. Scott, tha great
railroad magnate.

Charles Odell came from the State of New York
and settled in Marietta, where he remained one or
two years, He married Miss Lockard, of Hempfield,
and removed to Columbin, and took charge of the
hotel west of Mullison’s.

The " Black Horse Tavern,” at the corner of Fourth
and Walnut Streets, was kept by one Getz originally.
He was followed by Henry Knight.

Jacob Compfort kept the brick hotel on Locust
Stroet, on the east side of the Reading and Columbia
Railroad depot.

James Bweeny kept tavern in a frame house which
stood back from Locust Street fifteen or twenty yards,
upon ground which is now occupied by the  I'ranklin
House.”

“The Lamb Tavern” was torn down a fetv years
ago to make room for the Columbia National Bank,
on Locust Street, betweon Second and Third Streets,
It was a noted tavern in its time. There was a large
yard attached to this property into which wagons
could be driven, which made it a desirable place for
teamsters to stop over night. The Kendricks, Bink-
loy, and Michael Strein (and his son, Jacob, many
years after him) kept this tavern.

Ezekiel Cook came from Little Britain township
about the year 1812, and first kept tavern in the frame
house, of which the Franklin Hotel is the successor, on
Locust Street, near Bank Alley. He removed to Ma-
riettn, where he kept tavern a few years, when he re-
turned to Columbia again, where he died fifty or more
years ago, He was a candidate for sheriff in 1827,
but was defeated.

The “ Washington Hotel” was built by Jacob Gacs-
ler. Ho was the son of Philip Gossler, who removed
from York to Columbia about the year 1798 and estab-
lished a coal- and lumber-yard. is son, Jacob,
married Miss Stump, daughter of Frederick Stump,
who owned the forry and Ferry-House. He dealt
largely in real estate. There wers fewer changes in
the ownership or management of this hotel than in
any of the qthers.

The * Pine Creek Hotel” was kept by Mr. Withers
fifiy-five years ago, who was succeeded by the late
Cornelius Tyson. It is located on Front Street below
Union. .

Brown’s tavern was kept by Jeremiah Brown, who

came from Little Britain, seventy years ago.
The “Swan Hotel” was built by S8amuel Eberlein

[

eighty years ago, Itstood on the north sido of Locust
Street, near the Columbia National Bank.

Moses Montgomery built a frame tavern on the
north side of Locust Street above Third Street eighty
years ago. He had been in the Irish Rebellion, and
came to America about the year 1799, and settled in
Columbia. He raised a company of volunteers in
1812, and was preparing to go into the field when
he got into a scufle with Paul Wolf, who shot
through a window at a candle in his house out of pure
mischief. He was thrown upon a pile of rails in front
of the tavern, and had his collar-bone broken,

In the early history of the place ‘‘cherry fairs”
and “harvest homes” were quite common. They
frequently lasted several days. These were profitable
seasons for the landlords.

0ld Grist-Mills, — The little corn or grist-mill
which stood on the north side of Shawanese Run,
a fow hundred yards above its mouth, was built of
stone, two stories high, and about twenty-five feet
square, in the year 1786, It was erected upon land of
John Wright, and built by his son, James, and Samucl
Blunston, the old pioneer settler. The stream was
not large, but there was ample fall to turn an “over-
shot” wheel of more than twenty feet in diameter,
which gave all the power required to drive the
machinery long enough to grind the grists of the
pioneer settlers,

Samuel Blunston made his will in 1745, and de-
vised to James Wright one-half of the *corn- and
grist-mill.”” This little mill ran day and night in
the spring of 1765, grinding flour for Braddock's
army, and in 1768 for Gen. Forbes’ army. The tlour
was packed in kegs and carried on pack-horses over
the mountains to Fort Bedford. And upon several
other occasions the colonial authorities called upon
James Wright to supply flour for the use of the asso-
ciated companies of rangers along the frontiers, and
to supply the vagrant Indians at Turkey Hill.

This mill and land belonging to it descended to Sam-
uel Wright, the oldest son of James, and the founder
of Columbia, who conveyed it to his brother, John,
who laid out that part of Columbia called “John
Wright's addition” in the year 1788. On April I,
1807, James Wright, Jr., son of John, sold the mill,
shad-fishery, and fifteen acres of land to John Halde-
man, who sold the same, April 14, 1812, to Rudy Herr,
of Manor township, for six thousand seven hundred
and fifty pounds. Jacob Strickler and Lis brother-in-
law, George Weaver, purchased this mill about the
year 1818 from Rudy Herr. They tore down the old
stone mill and built one of brick at the corner of
Mill and Front Streets. It afterwards camo into pos-
session of William Atkins, Jonathan Pusey, George
Bogle, and is now owned by McBride and Maulfair,
who have insroduced new machinory, and manufac-
ture “ new process” flour. The mill is almost wholly

run by steam power,
The Fairview Grist-Mill is located on the north
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bank of Barber's Run near its niounth, at the south- l delphia in 1802, where he embarked in the iron tnd
ern boundary line of the borough. This mill was | shipping business. He died on his farm at ““Stean-

built by James Barber, son of Robert Barber, the
piuneer settler, about 1780. On the 7th day of Muy,
1791, William Barber, Esq., of York, and oldest son
of James, sold the mill and fifty-seven acres of land
to Judge William A. Atleo, of Lancaster, who resided
ir the mansion which stood where E. K. Smith, Esq.,
resides. This property was sold by order of the Or-
phans’ Court. On the 28th day of Auguet, 1795, Al-
exander Scott, Esq., and Mary, his wife, soid the one-
half to Alexander Anderson, who was sold out by
Sheriff Michael Rine May 16, 1801, and purchased
by James and William Miller. On the 11th day of
August, 1801, Jamea Miller, merchant, of Philadel-
phia, and William Miller, of Washington County,
Pa., and Alexander Anderson, of Lancaster, con-
veyed the property to John Haldeman, of Donegal,
and Jacob Strickler, of Hempfield. Mr. Haldeman
sold his interest to Mr. Strickler, from whom it went
to his son, Jacob, and the latter's son-in-law, Ephraim
Horshey, who sold to Samuel Truscott, Michael Shu-
man, and J. W, Stacy, who nowWw o t.

The first saw-mill erected at Columbia or neighbor-
hood was built by Robert Barber, the pioneer settler
in 1727, in the meadow below his dwelling, which
stood near Kauffman'’s stone-quarries. There is noth-
ing now left of it.

Shad Fisheries.—There were but three shad fish-
eries along the shore prior to the erection of the dam
across the river. The first one established was at or
near tho ferry, in front of the public ground, and
belonged to James Wright and his heirs. Afer his
death, When the property came to be divided, in 1788,
his son, John Wright, established a fishery near the
mouth of Shawanese Run; which was sold with the
Bhawanese mill property. _

Robert Barber also had a fishery opposite his land
below John Wright's, The entire shore in front of
the town was well adapted for fishing with a drag
seine, The shore sloped gradually, and there was a
gravel bottom,

Mifflin’s Island, across which the old bridge ran,
had a prefitable fishery on the west side. It was
owned by James Mifllin, Esq.

The erection of a dam across the river in 1838 to
form a pool to float boats to the mouth of the Susque-
hanna and Tide-Water Canal effectually destroyed all
of the fisheried above that point.

Post-Office and Postmasters.—Joseph Smith camo
to Columbity about 1795, and opened a store, in con-
nection’ with James Wright, in the lower room of the
old Ferry House, which stood on the north side of
Locust Street, near Front. A post-office was estab-
lished at Columbis in 1797, and Mr, Smith was ap-
pointed the first postmaster, The receipts of the
office for the year 1709 wero $10.44, He was the
eighth child of Col, Robert Smith, of Chester County,
and was born Sept. 24, 1770. He removed to Phila-

boat Hotel,” in Clestor County, Dec. 18, 1845. e
left several children surviving him, to wit: Persifer
Frazer Smith, Esq., late reporter of the Supremo
Court of Pennsylvania, and a distingnished mem-
ber of the Chester County bar; Elizabeth; Rhoda;
Vaughan, & daughter, married Rev. Riley, of Mon-
trose; Joseph Smith married Mary, daughter of Col.
Persifor Frazer and Mary Worrall Taylor, who was
the granddaughter of Isaac Taylor, the surveyor of
Chester County. Mr. Smith and Frazer were the
progenitors of & number of distinguished military and
civil officers.

William P. Beatty was appointed postmaster by
President John Adams in 1802. He was the son of
Rov. Oharles Beatty (of Log College memory) and
Ann Reading, daughter of Governor Reading, of New
Jersey. He was born in Neshaminy, in Bucks County,
March 81, 1766, and died in Philadelphia, July 23,
1848. When Jeflerson was elected President another
postmaster was appointed. Tn 1825 he was appointed
postmaster under President John Quincy Adams,
which office he held for twelve years.

John Mathiot was appointed postmaster in 1807,
and retained the position until he was elected sherifl
of the count, in 1818, His father, John, was a Hu-
guenot, and came from France to Lancaster about
the beginning of the Revolution. Ho removed to

' Columbia in 1798, and opened a dry-goods and

grocery-store in connection with Michael Gundecker,
of Lancaster, in the brick building he ecrected on
Walnut Street, adjoining Bank Alley. While hunt-
ing upon Mifflin Island, above the bridge, he was ac-
cidentally shot by a friend and killed about the year
1804. His son John, as stated, was elected sheriff in
1818, although a Democrat, whose party was then in
a minority in the county. The Wrights, who were
Federalists, all united in his support. He was elected
mayor of Lancaster in 1831, and re-elected eleven
times. He died Jan. 22, 1848, aged fifty-eight years,
In the year 1807 tho quarterly receipts of the office
were filteen dollars, and for the year 1816 they were
from one hundred and twenty-five to one hundred
and fity dollars, Although he was not subject to
military duty, he procured a horse and marched with
Capt. Jacob Strickler's company to Kennet Square,
in 1812, expecting to be mustered into the service of
the United States. Owing to some informality they
were not mustered, and the company returned to Co-
lumbia.

Philip Eberman, a brother-in-law of John Mathiot,
was appointed postmaster in the fall of 1818, and re-
tained the position until he was succeeded by William
P. Beatty, in 1825.

In 1837, Dr. F. A, Thomas was appointed post-
master under the administration of Martin Van
Buren,

Quilford G. Claiborne was appointed postmaster
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under Gen. Harrison’s administration in the spring
of 1841, But for an accident he probably would not
have received the appointment.

After it was known in Columbia that Gen. William
H. Harrison was clected President, in November,
1840, the Anti-Masons and Whigs of that place con-
cluded that they would celebrate the event by firing
a salute with a cannon in honor of the event, in the
orchard of John L. Wright, between Second and
Third Strects and Alleys “ J” and “K.” During the
night before this was to take place some person
spiked the cannon with a rat-tail file, When the
time came to fire the salute there was great disap-
pointment among the friends of Gen, Harrison. " G- I.
Amos S. Green, Mr. Claiborne, and others, after

. working' for more than an hour, succeeded in getting
out the file, and proceeded to announce the fact by
firing the cannon in rapid succession. After firing it
three times, and Mr. Claiborne and William Dickey
were forcing a wadding of sod down upon the powder,
a boy attempted to jump or run across in front of the
cannon, when he fell. Abraham Myers, who had his
thumb upon the touch-hole, raised it, when the charge
went off prematurely when Claiborne and Dickey had
hold of the ramrod. The former had his arm shat-
tered, which had to be amputated above the elbow.
Dickey was knocked insensible, but recovered. There
was a great deal of sympathy for Mr. Claiborve. He
was appointed postmaster, a position he retained for
twelve years, He was succeeded by A. P, Modernell
in 1853, who died while in commission, and his widow
succeeded him, and held the position until 1861, when
Henry H. Fry was appointed under President Lin-
eoln’s administration. He also died while in com-
mission, and his widow was appointed to succeed him,
and retained the position for twelve years, when Henry
‘Mullen was appointed, and is now the postmaster.
He enlisted in the ‘‘ Cookman Rangers” in April,
1861, and marched to Camp Curtin, mustered into the
United States service in Co. K, Fifth Regiment Penn-
sylvania Reserves, on the 21st of June, 1861; was
appointed quartermaster-sorgeant of that regiment in
November, 1861 ; served three yosra, and was in all of
the battles with the Army of the Potomac. After the
expiration of his term of service, on the 6th of June,
1864, he re-enlisted as & veteran, and was appointed
first lieutenant of Co. A, One Hundred and Ninety-
first Regiment of Pennsylvania Volunteers. He was
taken prisoner at Weldon Railroad, below Petersburg,
Va., on the 19th day of August, 1864, and was im-
prisoned at Libby, Va., Salisbury, N. C,, and Dan-
ville, Va,, where he remained till March 22, 1865.
He was mustered out with the company June 28,
1645. 'The business of the office for the year ending
in July, 1888, amounted to $7822.88.

Taxable Inhabitants in 1814-16.—The size of
the town during the war of 1812 is approximately
shown by the following list of taxable inhabitants,
most of whom were heads of families:

Roliert Barber.
Hester Broomfield,
\Willlam P. Beatty.
Amos Buckaloe.
Ezra Breece.
Thomas Bartlett.
Christ. Bear.

Jolin Brown.
John Barber,
John Brumfield.
Peter Burns, Sr.
Chiristian Brenneman.

Chuistian Brennewan, Sr.
Joseph Boyd, gunsmith,

Thomas Birch.
Thomas Boude.
Samuel Bethel,
Bernard Brown.
Henry Drabaker,
James Bogle.
Jesse Durrell,
Robert Boyd.
William Cox.
James Clyde.
Calvin Cooper,
Widow Crossman.
Patrick Carney.
Jawes Colllus,
Alraliam Correll.
Johin Dicks.
Martin Durrell,
Christian Dittwiler.
Joseph Dittwiler.
Thomas Dominick.
John Davy.

John Evans,

Jok:a Eberloin,
Joseph Fvans, Esq.
Charles Evans.
Michae! Elder,
Widow Elwes,
Anthony Ellmaker,
Daniel Flory,
Jacob Forry.
Robert Fullerton.
Bamuel Fippe.
John Forry, Jr.
Jonathau Findley.
Jacob Gossler,
Philip Gossler.
William Green.
John Gonter, Jr,
Dr. Thomas Griffith,
Witliam Gillasby.
Evan Green.
Michael Guaudecker.,

Michael Gundecker, Jr.

John Gunter, Br,
John Grgenleaf.
Chiristian louser,
Susanus Houston,
Robert \V. Houston,
Rudolph Herr.
Dominick Haughey.
Jacob Hoon.

John Hippy.
Christian Hertzler.
Christian Uabecker.
Daniel Ierr.

John Haldeman,

Cliristinn Haldeman, -

William F. Houston,
Amos Harmer,
James liopkios.
Widow Meller,
Emanuel Heller,

Freeholders.

Mary Jeffries,
Martha Jones.
Ellzabeth Jones,
Emor Jeffries’ estato.
William Kirkwood.
Ieanc Kendrick.
Juhn Karne.

Peter Livergood,
Tsrael Lloyd.
William Liston,
Charles Lockard.
Jolin Livergood.
John lackard,
James Little.
William Ladloy.

Lewls Lowman’s estate,

Jacob Lightheiser,
Jacob Long.
Thomas Lloyd.
Samuel Miller.
Samuel McNell,
Heunry Martin,
Moses Montgomery.
Aunthony McElwain,
Johin Mellon,
Jounathan Mifin,
Joseph Miflin,
James E. Mifilin,
William McManamy,
John Mathiot.
John Mathiot's estate.
Robert Magill,
Danfel Musser.
Hugh McCorkle.
John McKissick,
James McClean,
QGeorge Nicholas.
Robert I'atton.
Casper Peters,

Qe r o Poters,

Martin Rohrar's estate.

Joel Richardson,
Johu Itoth's estate,
Widow Rhinehart,
Joseph Richardson,
John 8nyder.
Henry Summy.
James Sweeuny.
Davld Sherrick.
Philip 8nyder.
William Smallwood.
Danlel Spring.
Willlam Vickory.
Thowas L. Wilson.
Edward Willlams,
Bamuel Wright.
‘Thomas Wright.

. Henry Withers,

James Wright,
Willlum Wiight,
James Wright, Jr.
James Wilson,
Jacob Williams.
Michiael Wisler,
QGeorge Wyke.
Benjamin Worrell,
John Wilsun, Esq.
Thomas Watters,
James Warden.
Lewis Wisler.
Willism: Welsh.

Samuel Wright's estate.

George Zeigler.
Widow Zelgler.
George Zeigler, cooper,
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Inmates.
George Alright, mason. Jacob Marley.
Abraham Brenueman, innkeeper.  Joseph Mosher, Innkeeper.

Curtis Bollock, lumber merchant.  Philip Moor.

Amos Beunet. Samuel C. McKean, lumber mer-
Stephen Boyer, minister. chant,

John Bennet, Wiltlam Martin.

Johin McGlaughlin, painter.
Willinm Quarrell, merchant.
George Rock, Innkeeper.
Joshua Ring, iunkeeper,
Chriet. S8ensnich, iunkeeper.
Aundrew Seitz, lockmaker.
Jacob Silihart, shoennker,
Stephen Smith,

John Trump,

Isaac Vaughan, innkeeper.
John Watt, cooper.

John Way, blacksmith.
Joseph Wade.

Henry Welsh, shoemaker.
Jacob Witmer, lumber merchant.
Michael May.

Samuel Watt, shoemaker,
Paul Wolf, carpenter.
Henry Quest, eabiust-maker,
Benjamin Barrey, barber.
John Briggs, tailor,

Erekiel Cook, innkeeper.

Jonathan Chaifant.

Robert Chalfant, Llacksmith.

Benjamin Commings.

Jonathan Deen, innkeeper.

Jugh Dougherty, hatter.

*,phraim Eby, miller.

John Eclan, carpenter.

Henry Fisher.

James Given,

Wm. B, Hunt, lumber merchaut.

Joseph Hunt, store-keeper.

William Hassen, innkeeper,

ilichael Heisely, gate-keeper at
bridge.

James Jordon.

Jacob Jolinson, shoemaker.

Robert Johinson, carpenter.

Dr. Viucent King.

John Keim, butcher,

William Kruchman.

Jacob Lelthelser, innkeepor. Martin Currle.
James Long, carpenter, Tsraol Cooper.
John Maxton, saddler.

Freemen.

Willlam Hickinan, coachmaker.
George Mathlot, Lricklayer.
Jacob Mathiot, cooper.

John Maxwell, saddler.,
William McClure, gunsmith.
John Mans, Jr,, watchman,
Willlam Roxberry, barber.
John L. Stake,

Johu Atlee, cabinet-maxer,
Danlel Brown.

Alvxander Bradley,

Eil B, Bennet.

Rabert Boyd, carpen.c..
William Brown.

Samuel Brown,

Alexander Cowen, book-keeper,

Christopher Cortpman, cooper. Henry Steel.

David Dunlap, teacher, Amos H, Slaymaker, store-keeper.
Joseph Enes. William Todd.

Peter Epley, store-keeper. James Todd, shoemaker.

Killian Epley, store-keeper. Samuel Standsbury, schoolmaster.
Dr, 8amuel Fahnestock. Christopher Taylor

Thomss Wright, turner.

James Wilson, cabinet-maker,
8amuel Whitehill, store-keeper.
John Zelgler, cooper.

Dr. 8amnuel Houston.
Samuel Houston,
John Hudders.

John IHlemee.

Civil List.— The borough was incorporated in 1814,
The principal officers from that time to the present
were as follows:

1814.—Chlef Burgess, Christian Brenneman; Assistant Burgess, John
Dicks.

1816.—Chief Burgess, John Dlcks; Assistant Burgess, Michael Elder,

1816.—Chief Burgess, William Vickry; Assistant Burgess, Thomas A,
Wilson.

1817.—Chief Burgess, Willlam P, Beatty; Assistant Burgess, Thomas
A. Wilson,

1818.—Chief Burgess, James Clyde; Assistant Burgess, Johun Snyder.

1819.—Chlef Burgess, James Clyde; Assistant Durgess, Robert Rich-
ardson. = .

1820.—Chief Burgess, Willlam Grier; Amsistant Burgess, Jameos
Sweeny. ;

1821.—Chief Burgess, Henry F. Slaymaker; Assistant Burgess, Robert
Fullerton.

1822, —Chief Burgess, Robert 8pear; Assistant Burgess, Isaac Vaughen,

1823.—Chlef Burgess, Robert Spear; Assistant Burgess, Ell H. Thomas,

1824.—Chielf Burgess, John Barber; Assistant Burgess, Willlam
Lewls,

1825-28,—Chlef Burgess, Robert Bpear; Assistant Burgess, Willlam
Todd.

1827.—Chief Burgese, Robert Spear; Assistant Burgess, Jacob Mathiot.

1828.—Chiefl Burgess, Robert Spear; Assistant Burgess, George Zeig-
ler,

1820.—Chief Burgess, John Barber; Assistant Burgess, Jacob Mathiot.

1830.—Chief Burgess, Joseph Cottrell; Assistant Burgess, John Gonter,

L

1831.—Chief Burgess, Joseph Cottrell; Assistant Burgess, John Bar-
ber. %
1832, —Chief Burgess, Robert Spear; Asslstant Burgess, Michael Way.
1833.—Chief Borgeass, John Arms: Assistant Burgess, John Swartz,
1834.—Chief Burgess, Robert Spear; Assistant Burgess, Jonas Rumple.
1835-36.—Chlef Burgess, Robert W. Houston ; Assistant Burgess, John
Swartz,
1837-38..~Chiefl Burgess, John Arms; Assistant Burgess, John Swartz,
1839.—- Chief Burgess, John Arms; Assistant Burgess, Francis Boggs.
1840.—Chief Burgess, Johu Arms; Assistant Burgess, Samuel Mathiot.
1841.—Chlef Burgess, John Arms; Assitant Burgess, Francis Boggs.
1842.—Chief Burgess, Samuel Mathiot; Assistant Burgess, Francis

Bradley.

15843, —Chilef Burgess, Richard Derrick ; Assistant Burgess, Francis
Bradley.

1844-45,—Chliefl Burgess, Tl Floyd; Assistant Burgess, Fraucls
Bradley.

1816.—Chief Burgess, Samuel Grove; Assistant Burgess, George
Weaver.

1847.—Chicef Burgess, Willinm Patton; Assistant Burgess, George
Weaver.

1848.—Chief Burgess, James Jordon; Assistant Burgess, Daule! Chal-
fant,

1849.—Chief Burgess, John D. Wright; Assistant Burgess, Nelson
Futton. -

18350.—Chief Burgess, George Wolf; Assistant Burgess, Gerbart

! Brandt.

1851.—Chief Burgess, Amos S. Green; Assistant Burgess, Jobu B,
Edwards,

1852.—Chief Durgess, John Stswart; Assistant Burgess, John B, Ed-
wards,

1853,—Chief Burgess, Joseph M, Watts; Assistant Burgess, Chiarles
M, Strine,

1854.—~Chlef Burgess, Joseph M, Watts; Assistant Burgess, Abraham
Myers,

1855.—Chlef Burgess, John Finger; Assistant DBurgess, Amos 8.
Green.

1856.—Chfef Burgess, Abmh
Clepper.

1857.—Chlef Burgess, Rudolph Williams; Assistant Burgess, Samuel
Read.

1858.—Chief Burgess, larford Fraloy; Assistant Burgess, John Kippy.

1859.—Chlef Burge:s, Thomas J. Bishop; Assistant Burgess, Joseph
J. List.

1860,—Chief Burgeas, & 1 Grove ; Assistant Burgees, Jonus Myers.

1861,—Chief Burgess, Poter Fraley; Assistant Burgess, Joseph Tyson,

1862,—Chlef Burgess, Peter Fraley; Aseistant Burgess, John 8chroe-
der.

1863, —Chief Burgess, Jacob O. Pfahler; Assistant Buorgess, John
8chroeder,

1864.—Chicf Burgess, Rudclph Willlams; Assistant Durgess, 8. H.
De Negre.

1865.—Chiel Burgess, Rudolph Willlams; Assistaut Burgess, George
W. Fry.

1866.—Chlef Burgess, Rudolph Willlams; Assistant Burgess, John
8henberger,

In 1866 a new charter was granted, which abolished
the office of assistant burgess. The burgesses since
then have been as follows:

1867. Jacub Annester. i 1874. William B. Faesig.
1868. William McDivitt, 1875-78. Joscph Hinkle,
1869, Jacob Annester. | 1877. Joha A. Jordan,
1870, James Schroeder. . | 1878, 8. P, Moderwell,
1871, Jacob 8. Streine. 1879. John Shenberger.
1872. Christian Brenneman. 1880, Charles Mollinger.
1873. John Shenberger. 1851-83. Jacob Sneath.

High Constable, Market Master, SBuperintendent of Opera-tlouse, Chris-
tian SBtrawbridge.
Treasurer, First National Bank.

Myeors; Assistant Burgess, Michael
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Borough Regulator, S8amuel Wright.

Bupervisor, — Thomas.

Oouncil.—A. @. Guiles, president ; John 0. Clark, secretary; Willlam
Patton, Michael 8. Shnman, Willlam H. Plahler, Samuel Filbert,
Georgo Tille, Willlam H. Hardman.

JUSTICES OF THE PEACE.

April 13,1838, Francis H, Ebur.
James K, Hunter.

April 10,1860. Joun Eddy.
David E. Brinner.

May 3, 1861. Samuel Emn‘l./,}'!‘

1811. James Clyde. April 16, 1802, John W Eberlein.

Ismuel Floyd. April 14, 1863, Jawmes H. Iunter.

1816. Tliomas Floyd. ~ April, 1865, John W. Houston,

1825, Willlam P. Beatty, P April, 1866. Morris Clark.

1835. Michael Streine. Bamuel Evans.

1832, Jacob P, Markly. April, 1867, John Eddy.

April 14, 1840. Thomas Lloyd. ! April, 1871, Morris Clark.
Henry Brimmer. | Samuel Evans.

April 16, 1846. Dr. George Moore. | April, 1672. Frank Conroy.

1726. John Wright,
1729, Samuel Blunston.
1744. James Wright.
1701. John Houston.
1807. Robert Spear.

Robert Spear. i April, 1873, 8, 8. Clair.
April 9, 1850. Samuel Brooks. i April, 1875. B. R. Mayer.
J. W. Fisher. Samuel Evans.

April 13, 1853, James H. Hunler, | John P. Frank.

S8amuel Evans. Aprli), 1881. George Young, Jr.
April 10, 1855. David B, Bruner. | W. Haynes Grier.
May 12, 1857, Thomas Welch. ! April, 1882. John P. Frank,

Meeting-Houses—The Friends, or Quakers.—
The pioneer settlers were members of the Society of
Friends, and held their meetings for some time after
they came in private houses. Their number increas-
ing, they built a log meeting-house upon the south
side of Union Street, near Lancaster Avenue.

Their first and only speaker was John Wright,
Esq. This settlement, composed entirely of Quakers,
was the only one that ventured to locate upon the
extreme frontier of the province. The heads of these
families all entered public life, and mingled a great
deal with all classes of people, and hence we find that
they were not very strict in discipline, but conducted
their meetings in their own way, and for thirty years
they persistently refused to ask to come under the
jurisdiction of Sadsbury or Lampeter Quarterly or
Monthly Meetings. The records of these neetings
occasionally make mention of a Wright or a Barber
being “read out” for ‘‘ marrying out,” or for being
married by a “ priest,” a term by which they desig-
nated a minister regularly ordained, without regard
to any particular denomination to which he may have
belonged. To their credit be it said that no greater
offense was ever charged to them. It often required
a great deal of patience and pergistence on the part

_of Friends to induce them to send to these meetings
a testimony against themselves for these departures
from the discipline of the society., If we follow
closely the history of a number of the descendants
of these pioneer Quakers, we will find that they
wandered much farther away from the time-honored
customs of the society. Some of them entered the
military service of their country, and others strayed off
into the civil service, and some were not averse to
the chase and field sports. There are very few, if any,
of the many hundred descendants of John Wright and

Robert Barber who are now members of the Society of
Friends.

Sadsbury and .Tampeter Quarterly Meetings fre-
quently selected two or more of their leading men to
go to the Susquehanna and talk to the Hempfield
Friends, and occasionally a public speaker stopped
there and preached. But little impression was made
upon them until Jan. 1, 1790, when Job Scott, a cel-
ebrated Quaker, who came from England, and after
an extended tour through the Southern States, along
the sea-coast, where he aroused the followers of
George Fox to renewed action. On his return he
preached at Pipe Creek, Manallen, Huntingdon,
Warrington, Newberry, and York, thence to Wright's
Ferry, where he remained at the Widow Wright's for
several days. He preached a number of times at her
house, and awakened a strong feeling among the de-
scendants of the pioneer settlers.

In 1799 the Quakers at Columbia made applica-
tion to Lampeter Monthly Meeting to hold an “in-
dulged meeting” on first and week days.

Samuel Wright, the founder of Columbia, gave the
society a lot on Cherry Street, near Third Street, in
trust, to build a meceting-house on.

It was not, however, until the year 1810 that the
meeting at Columbia was established by *“ Caln Quar-
ter,” and in 1812 they were allowed a ‘‘ preparative
meeting.”

The present brick meeting-house was crected about
the year 1800. (Under the head of schools further
notice is made of it.)

There are now living in Columbia but two persons
who claim to belong to the Society of Friends. Oc-
casionally Friends from a distance come and hold
meetings, but when they are gone the building is
closed up, sometimes for a year or more.

The Methodist Church.—On the 13th day of
July, 1803, Samuel Wright gave Lot No. 160, as laid
down on the plan of “ 0ld Columbia,” which was the
last number on the *plan,” and was situated at the
south corner of Alley “ K" and Fifth Street, meas-
uring forty-seven feet on Fifth Street, and extending
along said alley two hundred and thirty feet. Thislot
was conveyed to the following-named persons : Samuel
Goff, Benjamin Wright, John Wright, Christian Herr,
Christian Herr, Jr., Abraham Herr, David Mussel-
man, William d, Robert Magill, Thomas Lloyd,
Abraham Groff; Owen Bruner, &illinm Torbert, John
Boehm, James W. Newcomb, and Isaac Swartzwal:
ter, trustees, This lot of ground on the west side of
Cherry Street, between Fourth and Fifth Strects, meas-
uring sixty feet front and one hundred feet decp,
upon which they desired to erect a Methodist Church.
was purchased when every species of property was
inflated. A part of the purchase money was paid,
and a mortgage was given for the payment of the
balance. No building was erected upon this lot, and
the congregation continued to worship in the little
frame church in the alley. '
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The trustees of the Ebenezer meeting-house, for
the Methodist Episcopal Church, erected a frame
meeting-house upon the rear end of this lot, measur-
ing about twenty-five feet front and forty feet long.
The pulpit stood at the north end. For thirty years
this congregation had no regular pastor. The pulpit
was filled occasionally by an itinerant minister, who
traveled around the circuit. The trustees named
above resided principally in Manor township. They
belonged to the circuit. When a four weeks’ and
six weeks' circuit was established, there were min-
isters enough to assign a pastor once a week to each
congregation. Sometimes several weeks would inter-
vene before the same pastor came to the same con-
gregation a second time. (This little frame church

building in the alley was purchased by Stephen ‘
Smith, who razed it to the ground, and erected another | chant,

one for the colored Baptists.

It was burned down, |

on Second Street and seventy-five feet along Cherry
Street. Upon the rear end of the lot they built a
two-story brick dwelling-house for the sexton.

The following-named members remain of those who
belonged to the church when it was first organized as
a station in 1833: Abigail Dean, widow of Benjamin

{ Dean; Samuel Grove, who has been a very active

member of this church for fifty vears, and has built
up a fine circulating library of choice books (he
married (second time) Maria, daughter of the late
Ephraim Eby (“ miller”) who is also a member of the
church. His first wife was a Miss Stacy, of Stras-
burg, in this county); Catharine Lightheiser; Pru-
dence Suydam, widow of the late Henry Suydam
(who was a director of the Columbia National Bank),
and daughter of the late James Given, lumber mer-

The present trustees of the church are Abram

and a brick one erected in its place, which has been ' Bruner, Robert Beecham, Daniel Stape, Jr., J. R,

converted into dwellings.)

The membership of this church increased very
fast. Their meetings were largely attended, and this
little church building in the alley was found entirely
inadequate to accommodate them. They were gen-
erally poor people or in moderate circumstances, and
they wsre not able to buy a lot in a more desirable
part of the town, and erect a larger house, and they
found it up-hill work to collect from the public at
large. : .

In the year 1829 Columbia is first mentioned in the
minutes of the Methodist Church records. John Go-
forth and J. Ledmem were appointed to go to the
place.

In 1830 it was a large circuit, and reported two
hundred and eighty-two members. Afterwards it was
called Strasburg and Columbia Circuit until the year
1835, when it was organized as a station, and Francis
Hodsou was its first stationed preacher. On the 10th
day of August, 1832, Michael Elder and his wife,
Charlotte, conveyed to Willlam Todd, James Little,
Joseph Cottrell, Abram Bruner,)Jacob Mathiot, James
Giren, Thomas Lloyd, Abrahafh Sherrick, and Henry
Martin, trustees of the Methodist Episcopal Church,
forty-eight feet of ground fronting on Cherry Street,
and extending north along the east side of Third
Street one hundred feet to a twelve-feet wide alley.
They erected upon this lot & brick building forty feet
fronting on Cherry Street, and extending along Third
Street sixty feet, with a basement-room under the en-
tire building. A gallery ran around three sides. The
pulpit was at the northern end. The building was
remodeled and enlarged in 1846 by adding fiftcen feet
to the northern end. The ceiling of the basement-
room was also raised about one foot. In 18561 this
church was partially destroyed by fire, and the con-
gregation worshiped for a time in Odd-Fellows’ Hall.
The congregation purchased a lot on the corner of
8econd and Cherry Streets, upon which they erected
A church building in 1852, measuring fifty feet front

i
I

Witmer, John Paine, Henry F. Bruner, Samuel 8.
Klair, Ephraim Hershey, S. H. Hoffman,

WoMmaN'S FOREIGN ‘MISSIONARY SOCIETY.—Presi-
dent, Mrs. Richard W. Humphreys; Vice-Presidents,
Mrs. M. Bletz, Mrs. 8. S. Nowlen; Recording Secre-
tary, Mrs. Ella Meiser; Corresponding Secretary,
Mrs. Julia Kauffman; Treasurer, Miss Emma Patton,

Lapies’ CuurcH Aip Sociery.—President, Mrs,
Richard W. Humphreys; Secretary, Miss Mary
Paine; Treasurer, Mrs. 8. J. Bruner. The present
membership is something over four hundred and fifty.

SuxDpAY-ScHooLS. —Superintendent, —— ——;
Assistant Superintendent, A, G. Guiles; Secretary,
S. W. Guiles; Assistant Secretary, F. G, Paine; Treas-
urer, A. C. Bruner ; Chorister, A. Bruner; Librarians,
J. S. Maxton, James Schraeder, I. Annerter.

Cookman Chapel Sunday-School.—This chapel
was erected by the Methodist Episcopal Church a few
years ngo, at the corner of Fifth and Locust Streets,
and is sustained and owned by the mother-church, at
the corner of Second and Cherry Streets. The officers
are as follows: Superintendent, Simon Cameron May ;
First Assistant, J. W. F. Nowlen; Sccond Assistant,
G. W. Paules; Secretary, H. B. Dean; Assistant Sec-
retary and Trensurer, William K. Nowlen; Libra-
rians, Thomas J, Wright, J. 8. Snyder, C. W. Steven-
son, I. E. Graybill, Harry Bonson; Chorister, C. W,
Stevenson; Organist, Mrs, Thor.as J. Wright.

The Methodist Church is in a prosperous condition,
and the church buildings are free from debt. Thero
have been periods of dissension in the congregation,
caused generally by trouble between the pastor and
the congregation. The term of service of the former,
when this touk place, was shortened, and & change of
pastors brought harmony again, But for this arrange-
ment in the policy of the Methodist Episcopal Church
it would have been split in two, and two or more
churches would have been erected in the place, and
both doubtless would have gone into decay for want
of support.
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Since 1835 the church has had the following pas-
tors: Francis Hodson, 1835; William Roberts, 1836~
87; Elijah Miller, 1838-39; James Cunningham,
1840; James H. McFarland, 1841; Joshua Hum-
phries, 1842—43; David Gardner, 1844; William H.
Elliot, 1845; Stephen Townsend, 1846; William
Barnes, 1847—48; William Urie, 1849-60; William
Bishop, 1851-62; Joseph Mason, 1853; William
Cooper, 1854; J. W. McCaskey, 1856-56; William
Barnes, 1857-58; J. Y. Ashton, 1859; J. Aspril,
1860; J. B. Maddox, 1861-62; H. R. Calloway, 1863-
64; William Major, 1865-67; S. H. C. Smith, 1866-70;

Robert J. Carson, 1871-73; ‘J. Dickerson, 1874-75; ;

Theodore Stevens, 1876-78; Henry Wheeler, 1879
81; Richard . Humphries, son of former pastor,
1882-84.

Presbyterian Church.—In the summer of 1803,
Revs. Collin McFarquahr and Robert Catheart
preached in Columbia occasionally in the Methodist
meeting-house, In September of that year an un-
successful effort was made to organize a society and
erect n house of worship.

In February, 1806, Rev. Nathaniel Snowden, who
had settled in Lancaster, began to preach here
statedly every third Sabbath, sometimes in the Meth-
odist Church and sometimes in a storchouse or in
private houses.

On the 29th of August, 1807, he ordained William
P. Beatty, Esq., Moses Montgomery, and James

- Graham ruling elders, and on the following day
administered the sacrament of the Lord’s Supper to
about twenty-two communicants. Mr. Snowden re-
ceived from eighty to one hundred dollars per annum
for his services, which continued till 1808.

In the spring of 1809 Rev. William Kerr engaged
for one-fourth of his time, and received about une
hundred dollars per year for his services. At his
suggestion the following application was, on the 26th of
Mas :h, 1810, made to the Presbytery of New Castle:

“We, the subscribers, beg leave to state that a fow families of this
place, say twelve or fourteen, associated together about four years ago
for public worship. This soclety was organized in due form by Rev.
Mr. Snowden. Elders were ordaiued, and the ordinauces have since
been occasionally administered,

“We wish to be connected with the Presbyterian Church, and desire,
as a congregation, to be taken under your care. That you mny grant
our request and that our infant society may prosper under your direc-

tion {s our earnest prayer.
“\Wa, P, Bearty,

“ Moszs MONTGOMERY,
“ Elders.”

Samuel Wright donated to the congregation for a
building-site a lot adjoining the German Church,
but this not being deemed suitable, was in October,
1810, sold for three hundred and fifty dollars, and
another on the corner of Locust and Fourth Streets
purchased for six hundred dollars, and conveyed to
the trustees Feb. 9, 1811, The foundation of the
church was laid on the 16th of July, 1811, and on
the 19th of July, 1812, the house was opened for
public worship.

Mr. Kerr became stated supply, and on (he 13th of
September, 1812, ordained John Hudders, Dr. Hugh
McCorkle, and John McRessick ruling elders. He

| ceased to supply the church in January, 1814,

In May, 1814, Rev. Stephen Royer became supply,
and continued to minister to the congregation till
1830, although there does not appear any record of
his installation as pastor. It is believed that he
preached hero on alternate Sabbaths. During a large
portion of his term of service he resided at York
during the latter part of his term, where he wus en-
gnged in teaching in addition to his other duties.

The church building when first erected stood back
from Locust Street about twenty feet. The pulpit,
which was at the Locust Street end, was severai feet
higher thun the present one, and a gallery crossed the
rear end. Thirty-six years ago the building was re-
mudeled and extended to Locust Street; John Fred.
Houston was the architect and Michael Clepper the
builder. A few years later a Sunday-school and ses-
sion-house were erected in the rear of the church, and
both that and the church building were enlarged and
remodeled a few years since.

The names of the following members appear on the
record in the sessions-book from 1808 to 1822, inclu-
sive: William P. Beatty and wife, Mrs, Michael Elder,
Mrs. Hugh Menough, Daniel McLane and wife,
John Menough and wife, William Green, Mrs. Simp-
son, John Hudders, John McKissick, Mrs. Sarah
Strickler, Mrs, Letitin Ralston, Miss Sallic Roseburg,
William Wilson, James Wilson and wife, Archibald
Hudders and wife, Dr. Hugh McCorkle, Benjamin
Worralland wife, Mary McKissick, Mrs, Bogle, James
Bogle, O’'Rey Henderson, Samuel C. McKean and
wife, Juhn McKissick, Jr., Mrs, Susan McCullough,
James Clyde, Elizabeth Patton, Eleanor Lowry,
Mrs. Sarah McCorkle, Mrs, Amy H. Houston, Cath-
erine McKissick, Mary McKissick, Robert Spear,
Mrs. Mary Wilson, Mrs. Mary Hendrickson, Henry
Martin, Dr. William F. Houston, John Fletcher,
Mrs. Susannah Fletcher (his wife), Ann Greenleaf,
Hannah Merkle, Sarah Peters, Mrs. Mary Jeffries,
Catherine, Rachel, and Joseph Copeland, Joseph
Irwin, Mrs. Mary Whitehill, Lydia Exley, Sarah
McKissick, John Jacoby, Mrs. Nancy Slack, Mrs.
Mary Gravinger, Eliza Ann McKissick, Mrs. Rebecea
Slaymaker, Henry F. Slaymaker, Elizabeth Morgan,
Muria McLaughlin, John Briggs, Jacob Cling, M.
Mussailew Briggs, Elizabeth Keesey, Mrs. Mary
Boyd, Cornelius Dysart, Margaret Guy, Mary Har-
ris, Mary Smith, Mary Wycke, Joseph Wallace, Su-
sannah Dysari, Jane Rody, Jacob Purkopile and
wife, Mrs. Jane Vaughan, Mrs, Maria Shipps, Mrs.
Margaret Worrell, Eleanor W. Houston, Mrs. Amelia
B. Heise, Mary Stump, Elizabeth Wright, John Sib-
bits, Samuel B. Heise, Jane Sibbits, Elizabeth Sib-
bits, Elisha Hallowell.

From 1818 to 1827 the following deaths and re-
movals of members are recorded: Robert Gamble,
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Martin Rohrer, Mary Ann Bogle, Robert Wilson,
Ann Elder, Thomas Brooks, Jacob Anthony, James
Warden, Warwick Miller, Frances Worrell, Mary
Mans, Dolly Montgomery, Henry Mans, Isther
Green, John Slaymaker, John Ralston, Martha Atlee,
Amos Buckalew, John Eberfein, Jr., Mary Amelia
McCorkle, Mrs. Catherine Green, Nancy Spear, John
Mathiot, Andrew Johnson, Amy H. Houston, Han-
nah Merkle, Moses Montgomery, Mrs, Emily Wright,
Mrs. Jane McKean, James Bogle, Henry Martin,
Lydia Exley, George Gonter, S. E. McKean, Mrs.
Sarah Boyer, Mrs. Mary Smith, Samuel Hassan, Sarah
Strickler.

The ministers of the Presbyterian Church since its
organization have been as follows: Nathaniel R. Snow-
den, stated supply, 1804; Colin McFarquahr, stated
supply, 1805; William Kerr, stated supply, 1808-14;
Stephen Bowyer, 1814-33; John H. Symmes, 1833-39;
Robert W. Dunlap, 1841-44; Roger Owen, 1844-50;
Fbenezer Erskine, 1851-57 ; Joseph S. Grimes, 1858
61; Robert A. Brown, 1864; J. Witherow, John Mc-
Coy, George Wells Ely.

In connection with the Presbyterian Church a
Sunday-school was established soon after Rev. Stephen
Boyer became permanently located in this charge,
and John McKissick was chosen its superintendent.
In the year 1825 there were five male teachers and
scven female teachers; sixty-four male scholars and
fity female scholars.

For the year 1825 the teachers were Samuel B.
Heise (living), Henry Connelly, Guilford Claiborne,
Thomas Cochran, Mary Stump, C. McKissick, Mary
McKissick, Catharine Stump, Eleanor Houston, Wil-
liam Mathiot, John Houston, Elizabeth Sterret, Eliza-
beth A. McKissick, Henriotta Claiborne, Samuel
Greenleaf, Christiana Houston, Benjamin Worrall,
Daniel McLane, Daniel J. Suow, John McKissick,
Jr., John R, Beatty, John Stewart, Preston B. Elder,
Mary Cochran, Ann Elizabeth Beatty (living), Sarah
8, McCorkle, C. G. T. Waggoner, Adam Campbell.

The German Evangelical Lutheran (S8alem)
Church was organized in the year 1806, anll was
made up of Germans who resided in Columbia and
vicinity. Not being strong enough to build a church
alone, they informally agreed to umite with the
German Reformed Congregation, which was organ-
ized about the same time, and by their united eflorts
pised funds for the erection of a church in which
both congregations were to worship on alternato Sab-
buths. In 1807 a brick church was erected on Wal-
nut Street between Third and Fourth Streets, This
was the second church erected in Columbia (the first
one being the Friends’ meeting-house). The pulpit
was supplied by the pastor of the Lutheran congrega-
tion in Lancaster, Maytown, and Manheim. Thus
the two congregations worshiped in the same church
harmoniously, In 1819 they made a mutual agree-
ment in writing to hold the property jointly and wor-
thip on alternate Sundays, The Rev. J. Strein had

been their regular pastor four years prior to thisdate,
and he continued to preach there for more than forty
years, until he was compelled from age to relinquish
the chaige. .

The congiegation grew so large that it became
necessary to crect a larger church building. In 1860,
under the pastorate of Rev, Darmstaectter, & new
church building was erected upon the site of 'the old
one, which was torn down. The congregation was
divided some years ago, and another church was built.
For a few years after the division the old church was
weak and few in numbers. The congregation has
gradually increased until it now numbers one hun-
dred and twenty-five persons,

Since Mr. Darmstactter’s pastoral duties ceased
the succession of pastors has been as follows : Revs.
Heischmann, Reidenbach, Schwartz, Czar Nedden,
Baner, Charles Ernst, Burghardt, A. Eisenhauer, H,
Rella, the present pastor.

The trustees are William Harm, John Ehrnan,
Fran. Thumm; and the elders, F. Abendschein,
Jacob Nickalaus, Stephen Kneal, J. Wigand, Chris-
tian Kunly, Lewis Messer, John Weber, John Kranz,
Ludwig Schiler, Nicholas Wolf, Aug. Witt, John
Hans, There is a flourishing Sunday-school con-
nected with the church.

8t. Paul's German Evangelical Lutheran Church
of the Unaltered Augsburg Confession.—The con-
gregation and pastor belonging to this church with-
drew from Salem Church, on Walnut Street, in the
year 1862, on account of certain proceedings therein
and against which this portion of the congregation
in vain protested.

In the following year they were recognized by the
Evangelical Lutheran Ministerium of Pennsylva-
nia as the regular congregation which worshiped in,
and known as, the Salem Church. Not being strong
enough to elect the proper number of officers as pro-
vided for in their charter, they only elected provisory
officers. For a short time the services were held in
the parsonage on Fourth Street. Subsequently, fora
period of about two years, services were held in the

L German Reformed Church, at the corner of Cherry

and Third Streets, and for the following four years
services were held in Washington Institute. On
Sept. 18, 1868, the congregation reorganized under
the title given at the head of this article. Up
to this period and to the present time the Rev. J.
A. Darmstaetter has presided over this congregation
with great acceptability. The officors elected were
Peter Rodenhauser, Sr., elder; Christian Kraft,
George Gundel, deacons; Nicholas Beinhauer, Adam
Brommer, John Neuer, trustees,

In the same year they commenced the erection of
a new church building, on the north side of Locust
Street, about midway between Fifth and Sixth Streets,
It was finished and dedicated June 21, 1369. The
building is a one-story brick, thirty-two by sixty
feet, which has a seating capacity of four hundred.
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At the time of the withdrawal of this congregation
from Salem Church they numbered fifty communi-
cants. They now number twe hundred. The church
is free from debt and has a surplus fund,

There is a Sunday-school connected with the con-
gregation which is in a flourishing condition. Thero
are sixteen teachers and eighty scholars in regular
attendance.

Trinity Reformed Chur~h.,—A number of Gerinan
families organized a congregation about the year
1805, but had no stated place to hold their religious
meetings.

Samuel Wright, the founder of Old Columbia,
gave them and the Lutherans a lot of ground on
the south side of Walnut Street, between Third and
Fourth Streets, on the 18th day of March, 1806, and
these two denominations by their joint efforts col-
lected enough funds to erect a brick church building
about the year 1807-8. This was the second church
building erected in the place, the Friends’ being the
first.

For some years neither congregation had a regular
pastor, nor did they have preaching at stated inter-
vals,

On the 2d day of December, 1821, the German
Reformed congregation and the Evangelical Lutheran
congregation of Columbia entered into an amicable
agreement, wherein it was stated that they built a
church jointly under the name of Salem Church.
Each was to worship on alternate weeks, the Luther-
ans to commence the first Sunday in Janusry. If
one congregation did not worship on the Sunday
assigned to it, then the other one was not prohibited
from doing so.

The Rev. Henry Shaffner, who resided at Marietta,
but preached at Maytown, Marietta, and Columbia,
was the pastor of the German Reformed Church.
The names of the trustees were Isaac Hougendobler,
Philip Mumma, Peter Livergood, and Adam Otstot;
Joseph Hougendobler, George Peters, Peter Mumma,
Jr., John Hougendobler, wardens.

This church was incorporated in 1820. Mr. Shaff-
ner remained pastor of the charge to which Columbia
then belonged, consisting also of Marietta, Elizabeth-
town, Maytown, and Manheim, until the year 1840.
He was succeeded by the Rev. Herman Bokwn, whoso
ministry lasted only a few years. From 1845 to 1850
the congregation was served by Rev. D. Y. Heisler,
who resigned in April, and was succeeded by the Rov.
Alfred Helfenstein, who continued to preach during
the remainder of the year 1860. In 1851, Rev, W.
Gooirieb took charge of the congregation, and re-
signed Dec. 12, 1852. He was succeeded by Rev.
Joel T. Reber, in April, 18568, who resigned in the
summer of 1864. About this time the Reformed and
Lutheran congregations dissolved their agreement,
the latter purchasing from the former their interest
in Salem Church. Services were then held by the
Reformed congregation.in the old town hall,

In the same year they erected a new Reformed
Church at the corner of Cherry and Third Streets, of
brick, two stories high, which is the building still oc.
cupied by the Trinity congregation. The licentiate,
Christian C. Russell, commenced preaching in this
church on the 19th of October, 1856. He was or-
dained and installed on the 7th of December, 1856,
and resigned in the spring of 1858. About this time
the church was sold by the sheriff and purchased by
Nicholas Hougendobler. On the 1st of December,
1858, Rev. John Hoffmeier took charge of the con-
gregation, which was at this time very small, and the
few members who adhered to the congregation were
very much discouraged. Mr. Hoffimeier’s pastorate
soon terminated, after which the congregation was
supplied by different ministers of Lancaster Classis
until Oct. 29, 1864, when the Rev. James A. Shultz
becamne pastor, but after a few months’ labor was
obliged to retire on account of sickness. After his
withdrawal Dr, Theodore Appel and Rev. John G.
Wolf were appointed a committee of supply. Under
their efficient management the congregation was in-
creased, and funds amounting to three thousand two
hundred dollars were collected to liquidate the church
debt and redeem the church property.

In 1868 the Rev. I, Pilgram’s pastorate commenced,
which lasted until the fall of 1872. The audience-
chamber was handsomely frescoed, and the entire
building, both in the interior and exterior, painted.
An organ was purchased for the congregation, and
nlso a reed-organ for the Sunday-school, and a two-
story brick parsonage was erected upon their property
adjoining the church on Cherry Street.

In the summer of 1878, Rev. C. Clever became
pastor, and under his energetic and efficient ministry
the membership was largely increased. He resigned
in February, 1879, and the present able pastor, Rev.
C. 8. Gerhard, entered upon his duties on July 1, 1879,
The entire debt against the church and parsonage has
been removed. This church up to January 1, 1883,
received missionary aid, but now is self-supporting.
The present membership i one hundred and eighty-
four, and the Sunday-school scholars number two
hundred.

The German Lutheran Church was organized con-
temporaneously with the German Reformed Church,
and through their combined efforts a church building
was erected upon a lot given them by Samuel Wright,
which is located on the south side of Walnut Street,
midway between Third and Fowith Streets. The
congregation was supplied occasionally by the minis-
tors located at Maytown and Lancaster for several
years, these two congregations holding service on
alternate Sundays.

8t. Paul's' Church, —8ervices of the Protestant
Episcopal Church were held occasionally in' this place
by the Rev. Joseph Clarkson, of Lancaster, as early
as 1820, in the Presbyterian Church at the corner of
Fonrth and Locust Btreots, Services ceased alto-
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gether about the year 1885. About the year 1840 an
effort was made to organize a church and erect a build-
ing, and six hundred dollars was subscribed for that
purpose. Nothing was done, however, until a regular
organization was perfected, in 1848, when its first rector,
Rev. Dwight E. Lyman, was called to preside over them
on the 13th day of August, 1848. To the efforts of
Mr. Lyman the parish owes the erection of its very
pretty church building. The corner-stone was laid
Oct. 10, 1849, and completed in 1850, the consecration
taking place on the 28th day of May of that year. Mr.
Lyman remained in charge until July, 1853. He was
a beautiful reader and an elegant performer on the
organ or piano-forte, and was one of the finest singers
of sacred music within the range of the Episcopal
Church. He connected himself with the Roman
Catholic Church in 1854, and is now a regular or-
dained priest. The history of the church has been
quiet, and its growth moderate.

The following isa list of the rectors succeeding Mr,
Lyman: the Rev. Henry W. Woods, from December,
1858, to Oct. 1,1854; Rev. Alexander McLeod, D.D.,
from May, 1855, to January, 1856; the Rev, Samuel
E. Appleton, from July, 1857, to the early part of
1860; Rev. Theodore A. Hopkins, of Lancaster, pro-
vided services temporarily in the spring and summer
of 1860; Rev.John Cromlish, from January, 1861, to
September, 1867. He is now a mirister in the Meth-
odist Episcopal Church, (In the summer of 1865 the
members who had been accustomed to attend this
church from Marietta concluded to build a church in
that place, which they did, and this parish was de-
prived of their presence and offerings.) Rev. Benja-
min I. Douglass, from January, 1868, to July, 1870,
The Rev. George H. Kirkland, from Sept. 11, 1870,
to Dec. 28, 1878. The Rev. Percival Becket, from
Feb, 1, 1874, to July 11, 1875. He also conducted a
parochial classical school. The Rev. George H. Kirk-
laud (second time), from Sept. 6, 1875, to Aug. 6, 1879,
The Rev. Richard C. Searing, Dec. 5, 1879, and is the
present pastor.

There is a Sunday-school attached to the church.

United Brethren in Christ.—In the year 1846
the first families belonging to this denomination
moved to Columbia. Their names were Christian
Hershey and Solomon Von Neidu. The first preach-
ing was held at their dwellings by itineraunt preach-
ers who happened to be passing through the place.
From this small beginning their numbers gradually
increased, when preaching was held in the brick
school-house on Thitd Street, near Perry Street, in
the year 1858-59. A great many persons connected
themselves with the church at that time. In the year
1860 they erected a church building of brick at the
corner of Third and Perry Streets. The trustees at
that time were Christian Hershey, Jonas Garber, and
David Wayne. ;

A Babbath-school was also organized, which now
numbers two hundred and seventy-five scholars;

Jacob Sneath, superintendent. There are now two
hundred members of the congregation in good stand-
ing. The ministers in regular succession were Rev.
Joseph Young, — Gilbert, J. Scott, J. Young, T.
Peters, G. \V. M. Riger, J. Doughter, W. 8. H. Keys,
A. Kauffinan, G. Wagner, H, V. Mahn, J. C. Mumma,
J. W. Geiger, J. D. Mouer, C. S. Meily, S, G. Merrick,
J. C. Smith, and J. B. Funk,

The present trustees are John C. Klingbill, A. Dyer,
Thomas 8. White, D. Welsh, and Uriah Sourbeer.

The congregation and Sunday-school are in a flour-
ishing condition, and in the near future they contem-
plate the erection of a larger church building in a
more central part of the town.

Evangelical English Lutheran Church.—During
the year 1849, Rev. J. H. Menjes, of Mount Joy,
preached at stated times in the English language in
the German Lutheran Church on Walnut Street,
About this time he took up his residence in Colum-
bia, and devoted his time to the work of preparing
the way for the organization of an exclusively Eng-
lish Lutheran Church. J. C. Pfahler, H. Pfahler,
Andrew Gohn, John Hiffer, and others were active
in this work, and to their efforts is owing the fact
that the church is in existence to-day.

The formal organization of the church did not take
place at once, but the work of building & place of
worship was first completed. The land for the site
of the church was purchased April 2, 1850, and the
building finished during the next two years, at an ex-
pense of $6890.50, more than half of which remained
as a debt against the new congregation.

The congregation was incorporated by special act
of the Legislature, March 8, 18563, under the title of
the English Lutheran Congregation of Columbia.
During the supsequent years the congregation gradu-
ally increased, and after discharging all debts and
liabilities, and paying for numerous improvements,
in 1876, under the ministry of Rev. J. C. Burke, the
church was enlarged, remodeled, and furnished with
all the modern church conveniences, at an expense of
ten thousand dollars.

In the spring of 1881 certain tendencies culminated
in the withdrawal of a number of members, who
organized a new congregation which located farther
up-town,

The church was without a pastor at the time, but
soon afterwards obtained one in the person of Rev.
William P, Evans, who assumed charge July 1, 1881,
Since that time there has been steady growth and a

-gystematic and regular reduction of the church debt.

The church has now nearly two hundred communi-
cant members. A flourishing Sunday-school, with a
well-selected library of twelve hundred volumes, and
a most convenient, well-appointed, and valuable
church property, situated on Second Street, between
Locust and Walnut,

The present board of officers consist of : Elders, John
Steetin, L. C. Oberlin, J. H. Oberlin, and Samuel
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Filbert; Deacons, F. A. Bennett, J. G, Beemer, H, F,
Yergey, L. W. May, J. G. Peirce, Ed. Newcomer, S.
P. Graver, and Dr. C. F. Markel; Sunday-school
Superintendent, L. . May.

The list of pastors from the begirning comprises
the following: Rev. J. H. Menges, 1849-60; Rev, P.
E. Dorsey, M.D., 1865-63; Rev. C. Reemensnyder,
1863-65; Rev. W. H. Steck, 1866-70; Rev. G. M.
Rhades, 1870-74; Rev. J. C. Burke, 1875-77; Rev.
F. W. Staley, 1877-81; Rev. William P. Evans, 1881
to the present time.

8t. Petor's Catholic Church and its Auxiliary
Institutions.—By way of introduction to thé history
of this church the following preamble is taken from
the subscription-book issued by the Rev. Bernard
Keenan, in which he authorizes the gentlemen named
therein to collect money for the erection of a church
in the borough of Columbia:

“The Roman Catholics of the borough of Columbia (by the grace of
God), having unanimously resolved to bnild a Roman Catholic Church
fo said place,and in order to enable them to proceed In 5o necessary and
laudable an undertaking, are induced to solicit subscriptions from a gen-
ercus and charitable public.

“As Roman Catholic pastor of Lancaster County, I sanction and
highly approve of the resolution adopted by the congregation of the
borough of Columbia, under my care, and likewlise state that Messrs,
George Ziegler, John Arms, Jchn McMullen, and Dominick Eagle, who
compose the committee for collecting subscriptions, are persons worthy
of the highest confidence and trust,and capable of performing the

duties reposed in them,
“Laxoaster City, 2d March, 1828,

In pursuance of the resolution to erect a church,
approved by the Rev. Father Keenan, measures were
taken to secure a site. Two lots on Lancaster Ave-
nue, lately used as a cemetery, were bought. It was
afterwards, however, thought best to select a spot in
a more central part of the town, and the ground upon
which the church now stands was purchased, The
funds necessary for commencing the building were not
without a hard struggle raised, and in 1828 a contract
for the erection of the church was given to Israel
Cooper. The corner-stone was laid in 1828, and in
1880 the church was dedicated by the Right Rev. F.
Patrick Kenrick. Before the erection of the church
the few Catholics living in Columbia were obliged, in
order to hear mass, to go either to Lancaster, York,
or Elizabethtown. Sometimes, however, during this
period mass was said in private houses, that a better
opportunity might be afforded tho people of Colum-
bia and vicinity of fulfilling their religious duties,
Prior to the building of the church missionary priests
from Conewago and other places occasionally visited
the town. From 1828, the date of the laying of the
covner-stone, until 1842, Father Keenan came once a
month from Lancaster'to say mass and attend to the
spiritual wants of the congregation. In February,
1842, came Rev, Daniel Kelly to reside in Columbia
as the pastor of 8t. Peter's congregation, His suc-
cessors in order of their appointment were Revs, John
Mackin, B. A. 8horb, M. F. Martin, Dr. Balfe, Dr.
Leitner, Rov. P. Toner, and Rev. A. McGinnis,

“Rev. BERXARD KEENAN,

The church was enlarged by Dr. Balfe, and the
parochial house built by the Rev. Father Shorb,
and the ground in front of the church was terraced
and otherwise beautified by the Rev. Dr. Leitner,
who also had a neat iron railing erected about the
church premises.

This short history of the Roman Catholic Church
in Columbia would not be complete without record-
ing the fact “that the Right Rev. Francis Patrick
Kenrick, Bishop of Philadelphia, trustce for the
Catholic congregation of the borough of Columbia,”
procured an act of the Legislature, per McSherry, au-
thorizing him to convey by deed unto Robert B.
Wright, Esq., his heirs, etc.,, a part of the lot on
which the church was built in exchange for all that
part of his lot adjoining the Catholic Church lot
aforesaid, lying and being southeast of a line drawn
from the west corner of the Catholic parsonage at
right angles to Second Street.” For this kind and
generous act on the part of Mr. Wright in exchanging
lots without any money consideration the members of
St. Peter’s congregation felt very grateful to him, and
justly, for it enabled them to have an entrance to
their church from Second Street instead of from
Union Street, as formerly, and it also prevented the
erection of objectionable buildings right in front of
the church door, and his memory is still held in
grateful respect by the members of St. Peter’s Church.

On the 30th of September, 1866, Rev. J. J. Russell
was appointed pastor by the Right Rev. James F.
Wood, Bishop of Philadelphia. The congregation at
that time was not large, numbering about one hun-
dred families. It possessed what is now called the
old church property, corner of Second and Union
Streets, which extended on Second Street one hun-
dred feet and on Union one hundred and forty-five
feet, and on which were erected the church and paro-
chial house. In the same year the church and house
underwent & complete renovation. In 1872 two brick
houses on Union above Second were purchased for
the congregation, one of which was used as a dwell-
ing-house by the Sisters who had charge of the paro-
chial schools, and the other as a school-house.

The parochial schools whicli the reverend pastor

opened have been marked by exceptional success, es-

pecially since the advent of the Sisters of Charity.
A notable feature of these schools is the annual
public examinations, which many of the educated
citizens of the town are accustomed to attend. The
searching questioning to which the pupils are sub-
Jjected at these examinations shows most clearly the
proficiency winch children, with close application to
study, may be able to attain under the careful train-
ing of efficient teachers.

For the better convenience of that part of the flock
living in Wrightsville, a piece of land was purchased
in that borough in the year 1874 by Rev. J. J. Rus-
sell for a cemetery, which was consécrated by Right
Rev.J. F. 8hapahan, Bishop of Harrisburg, June 7th

Excerpts from History of Lancaster County, Pennsylvania: With Biographical Sketches of Many of Its Pioneers and Prominent Men

By Franklin Ellis, Samuel Evans Everts & Peck, 1883 - Lancaster County (Pa.) - 1101 pages.
Prepared by Randolph Harris, archivist, African American Historical Society of South Central Pennsylvania—October 2020

31


https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Franklin+Ellis%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Samuel+Evans%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Franklin+Ellis%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Samuel+Evans%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Franklin+Ellis%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Samuel+Evans%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Franklin+Ellis%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Samuel+Evans%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=subject:%22Lancaster+County+(Pa.)%22&source=gbs_ge_summary_r&cad=0

BOROUGH OF COLUMBIA. 659

of this year. Prior to the buying of the ground for
the cemetery, a house for school purposes in that
town was secured, in which school has continued to
be held. In March of the same year the St. Patrick’s
‘emperance and Beneficial Society was established

in the parish, as well as another society called St. |

Peter's Church Society. The following extract from
the latter society’s minute-book will explain the
object of its organization :

“ At a meeting of the parishioners of St. Peter's Church, Aug. 2, 1874,
called by Rev. J. J, Russell, pastor of the above church, for the purpose
of adupting some means by which to raise money to pay for the new
church property lately purchased by him for the congregation,

“ Resolred, That the parishioners furm themselves into an assoclation
under the title of St. Peter's Church Society, for the liquidation of the
debt incurred by the above-mentioned purchase, and that each member
pay monthly a certain sum of mouey into the treasury of said soclety.”

This property adj>mis he old church property on
the northwest side, a~< . xtends on Second Street one
hundred and sixteen feet, giving the entire church
property a frentage of two hundred and sixteen feet.
The building erected by the former owners of the
property is now the pastoral residence.

A noteworthy occurrence in this church’s history
was the ordination to the priesthood of Rev. A. J.
0'Brien, nephew of Rev. Father Russell, by the Right
Rev. J. F. Shanahan, on the morning of the 21st of
November, 1874, So solemn a ceremony as the con-
ferring of the sacrament of Holy Orders naturally
drew to the church almost the entire Catholic popu-
lation of Columbia, Marietta, and Wrightsville. On
May 30, 1878, the corner-stone of the convent build-
ing was laid by the Right Rev. Bishop of Harria-
burg, assisted by a large number of clergy of the
diocese, in the presence of an immense concourse of
people. The work upon the building was pushed
vigorously, and in a very short time a substantial,
magnificent, and commodious structure stood com-
plete in every detail, :

As an educational institution for young ladies it is
meeting with merited popularity and success. The
samo Right Rev. prelate consecrated the convent and
the convent chapel on the 8th day of the follow-
ing December. The convent was built according to
the plans and specifications of E. F. Dursng, the re-
nowned -Philadelphia architect, and under the im-
mediate supervision of the Rev. J. J. Russell. The
building, including the Mansard roof, is four stories
high, surmounted by a cupola, from which a com-
manding view is had of the picturesque scenery along
the Susquehanna River, and of the undulating coun-
try on either side, and it has eight bow-windows of
semicircular form in front.

On the same day after the consecration of the con-
vent the Right Rev. Bishop blessed St. Peter’s new
cemetery, which is situated in West Hempfield town-
thip, on the farm purchased by the Rev. Pastor for
the people of the parish with the express purpose,
principally, of securing for .them a suitable spot
wherein the sacred remains of their departed friends

i

might decently lie until the day of final resurrection,
In the convent are a high school and an academy,
under thecontrol of the Sisters of Charity of Mount St,
Vincent’s, on the Hudson, N. Y. The former is de-
signed for the more advanced children of the parish,
the latter as a boarding-school solely for young ladies
who are not of the congregation or who live without

{ its boundaries. Besides the socicties already men-

tioned there are in connection with the church three
sodalities, whose end is solely a religicus one, Writ-
ing on the subject of societies it will not be out of
place here to speak of the “8t. Peter’s Building and
Loan Association,” instituted in June, 1876, which
holds its meetings in a school-room in the convent.
The present officers are: President, C. F. Young;
Vice-Presidant, J. C. Atwood; Treasurer, Rev. J. J.
Russell ; Secretary, John B, Wisler; Directors, James
Mack, Daniel McCarty, William Foley, Martin Ford,
Cormick MecCall, Bryan Cavanaugh, Bart Foley, P.
Moriarity, John McCall, F. McCarty, L. Hendrick,
James Gegan.

This association has thus far prospered, as the value
of the shares (one hundred and forty-seven dollars)
at the end of its seventh year shows. The Columbia
Workingmen’s Saving IFund and Building Associa-
tion, when in existence, held its meetings in the base-
ment of the church, and was, in a sense, a parochial
society, since so many varishioners have obtained
homes through it. At the end of nine years it termi-
nated a successful career, the value of two hundred
dollars per shave having been attained.

St. Peter’s Sunday-school of Columbia has an aver-
age attendance of one hundred and thirty children,
The superintendent of this Sunday-school was for a
number of years Mr. Francis Zicgler. Since October,
1872, the Sisters of Charity have the conduct of it.
The number of pupils who attend Sunday-school in
Wrightsville is about twenty, and at present Mr,
Charles Dougherty superintends it, and of late years
the day school has been under the charge of lay
teachers.

Holy Trinity (German Roman Catholic) Church.
—This church edifice is of brick, located on Cherry,
between Fourth and Fifth Streets, and was built in
1860, under the supervision of Rev. Father Schafirot,
then pastor in charge: of this parish. For the first
two years services were held in the basement of the
building, as the editice was not completed and dedi-
cated until 1862.

In 1868, Mr. Schaffrot was succeeded in the pastor-
ate by Rev. Father William Pieper, the present pas.
tor. During Mr. Pieper’s pastorate the church edifice
was enlarged (1878) to nearly double its original seat-
ing capacity, marble ‘altars placed in the chancel,
memorial windows insetrted in place of the old ones,
statuary and paintings placed in proper position, add-
ing grandeur to the beautifully-frescoed walls and
ceiling, making it one of the pleasantest and most
attractive audience-rooms in Columbia, .
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In 1865 the present parsonage was built, and in

1869 the Sisters’ house, in rcar of and adjoining the ;

church, was erected. They have charge of the schon,
which was established in the basement of the church
in 1867, and at present numbers two and forty pupils.

The present membership of Holy Trinity Church
is about two hundred and fifty.

Church of God.—The followers of Rev. John
Winebrenner held religious meetings for a few years
at private dwellings, In the latter part of the year
1878 and beginning of 1879, through the personal ex-
ertions of Rev. J. W. Deshong, money enough was
raised by subscription to erect a brick meeting-house
at the corner of Seventh and Walnut Streets, Mr.
Deshong was followed by the Revs, C. W, Win-
bigler, J. H. Esterline, and S. C. D. Jackson, the
present pastor. The present membership numbers
thirty. The church was not regularly organized
until March 80, 1879. There is also a Sunday-school
attached to the church, numbering ten teachers and
ninety-five scholars,

8t. John's Lutheran Church.—On Sunday, March
27, 1881, a number of the members of the Lutheran
Church on Second Street severed their connection
with that organization. On the 8th day of April,
1881, these members met at St. Paul’s Lutheran
Church, on Locust Street above Fifth, for the pur-
pose of organizing a new caurch, which was done,
under the title which heads this sketch; but no im-
mediate measures were taken to erect a church build-
ing or securing the services of a pastor, Their first
object was to take care of the children and build up
a Sabbath-school. Schuler's Hall, opposite the opera-
house, on Locust Street, was secured for that purpose.
They were supplied from April to September by the
Revs, Samuel Yingling, Hering, Anstadt, Barnitz,
Frazier, Fritz, Miller, Stine, Brown, and Fensler,
Lutheran ministers, who came to Schuler's and Ar-
mory Halls and preached for them. They were much
pleased with Samuel Yingling, and in September,
1881, they gave him a regular call, when he became
their pastor. From this period new life was given to
this weak congregation, and they took measures to
procure a lot of ground whereon they desired to erect
their church. A lot was purchased on the south-
east side of Locust Street above Sixth. The ladies
of the congregation worked unceasingly, and con-
tinued to provide means to meet the daily expenses
while the new church building was being erected.
They were assisted very much by their pastor and
the male members of the congregation. The build-
ing, which is in its internal arrangement the most
complete of all the Protestant churches in the place,
cost ten thousand dollars, one-half of which sum was
raised by the‘‘ workers” in the congregation before
its completion, The building was completed on the
1st day of October, 1882. This congregation up to
June, 1882, held no synodical relations with either
branch of the Lutheran Church govornment. In

that month they were received into the Synod of
Pennsylvania at its meeting in Philadelphia,

The Sabbath-school received the first anxious care
of those who separated from the Lutheran Church on
Second Street. The school was first held at the private
residence of Charles P. Schreiner, on Locust Street,
where there was an attendance of seventy children.
On the following Sabbath, which was on April 11,
1881, the school convened in Schuler’'s Hall, where
one hundred and forty-seven children were in attend-
ance. From that place they removed to Armory
Hall, on Walnut Street, above Second Street, where
the number increased to one hundred and seventy-
four. The officers of the school were Henry Leaman,
assistant superintendent; C. C. Hogentogler, secre-
tary; W. H, Herr, treasurer; Mrs, C. P. Shreiner
and Miss Hallie Clepper, assistants in the infant
school ; and Mrs. Benjamin Herr, treasurer; George
Tille, librarian ; Isaac T. Gitt, assistant; and Messrs,
Harry Bennett, John Williams, Jacob Lutz, and
Tyson Simpson, directors.

Colored Churches.—In the year 1822, John Sta-
man gave a lot of ground at the corner of Concord
and Fifth Streets to the Rev. Joseph Henderson,
who conveyed the same to Joseph Henderson, Wal-
ter' Green, John Winston, and Nicholas Pleasants,
trustees of the Colored Baptist Church. These trus-
tees and a large majority of the congregation were
manumitted slaves from Virginia, who came to the
place.in 1817-19. :

Iun 1828 a little frame church was built, and in the
same year with the assistance of Jghn McKissick and
William P. Beatty a Sunday-school was started. This
church was largely attended for many years, and on
special occasions many white persons attended also,
As the pioneer members began to die, the church
gradually declined until there werenot enough left to
hold service. The last of these manumitted slaves,
Benjamin Randolph, died two years ago, when the
old church building was torn down and another small
church building across the street, which belonged to
Zion's colored congregation, was removed to it.

Contemporaneous with the erection of this church,
and by manumitted slaves also, was built a small
frame church in the alley between Union and Perry
Streets and Third and Second Streets, called the
Mount Zion African Methodist Episcopal Church,

The congregation worshiped there uatil the Rev.
Stephen Smith purchased the frame church from the
Methodist Episcopal Church, in the alley between
Cherry and Union and Fourth and Fifth Streets,
about the year 1882, The building was destroyed
by fire, and anotber one of brick was built. Twenty
years ago they sold the church, and built another one
on Fifth Street, below Union Street, which they sold
to the public school board for a colored 'school. A
few years ago they erected a new, much larger, and
more substantial brick church on the same street, 8
little west of the old one.
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Another church, called the Union Church, was
erected on the south side of Union Street, between
Fourth and Fifth Streets, about the same time the
first two were built, Preaching is only occasionally
held in the building.

The religious feeling among the present generation
of colored people in Columbia may be said to be on
the decline.

Rducational,—Prior to the Revolutionary period

- there were no school-houses or regular schools kept
at Wright's Ferry.

Occasionally an Irish peripatetic school-teacher
came to the neighborhood, and taught school during
the winter months, and boarded around with the
parents of the children. The Wrights, Barbers, and
Bethels were intermarried with each other, and were
the only English-speaking families who resided per-
msnently at the ferry.

Those of them who desired a better and more thor-
ough education for their children than could be ob-
tained at home, sent them to Lancaster or Philadel-
phia, and to the select schools conducted by Friends
in Chester County and Cecil County, Md. The pio-
neer settlers were well educated before they came to
the river,and it is probable that many of the children
wero taught the rudiments of an education at home.
That remarkable woman, Susanna Wright, took care
of the children of her brother James and Samuel
Bethel. She not only taught them to read and write
and the rudiments of arithmetic, but how to paint
and use the needle also. She was implicitly obeyed
in everything. She was abundantly able to teach
them the higher branches, and to her her brother
James was indebted for much he knew, and his success
in life.

The first attempt to establish a school where the
higher branches were taught was in the summer of
1800, when Robert Patton opened a boarding-school
for boys only. The school was held in the little brick
meeting-house belonging to Friends, situated on the
south side of Cherry Street, a short distance above
Third Street. In addition to the common branches,
that of surveying was also added. The price of board-
ing was twenty, and tuition five dollars per quarter,
The scholars were boarded at private houses. The
school was not self-sustaining, and Mr. Patton gave
up teaching, and entered into mercantile pursuits, for
which he was well fitted.

Edward Postlethwait Page, an Englishman, who
had been an officer under Nelson at the battle of
Trafalgar, in 1805, followed Patton. He was a very
eccentric person, but occasionally displayed great
talent.  Ho had the gift of oratory, and when he at-
tended a town-meeting or the lyceum he often aston-
ished his audience by bursts of eloquence surpassed
by no traived speaker in the country. He had an
Euglish soldier with him, who was dressed up in
military uniform and acted as usher.

Pagg also taught the first Sunday-school. in Co-

6

lumbia, in the Quaker meeting-house. The late Sam-
uel Nelson Houston was the last of his scholars. He
removed to Marietta, Ohio, where he died many
yearsago. He was followed by Welden Brinton, who
taught in the same place. He was succeeded by Dr.
Edwin A. Atlee, who also taught in the same place.
He had a Revolutionary soldier, who wore a * cocked
hat,” for usher. He was a great musician, and rose
to distinction in the medical profession. He owned
and lived in the brick building occupicd by Dr.
Rodgers, on Locust Street. Samuel N. Houston,
who was also one of his pupils, lived and died in the
adjoining house.

A number of prominent citizens, whose names are
appended to the following, made the first organized
effort to establish a better school in Columbia :

“ [¥kereas, s Number of the inhabitants of this Place (Columbia) are
sollcitous for the education of their Children and those under thelr care,
which, under the p t Regulation of Schools, they t have
done satisfactorily to themselves, they therefore propose to erect 8
School-house and establish a School therein for the purposs above men-
tloned under their own immediate Jirection, and submit the following
Plan for that Purpose, viz.:

“1, That William Wright, Saml. Bethel, and Amos Harmer be Com-
misstoners, who shall open a Subscription for Fifty Shares of Stock and
enter thereln as follows: We, whose names are liereunto subscribed, do
promise to pay to the President and Trustees of the Columbia School
the sum of Ten Dollars for every share of Stock in sald School set op-
posite to our names respectively, in such r and proportions, and
at such times as may Us determined on by said President and Trustees.

w9, No Porson shall subscribe for more than two Shares, provided a
sufficient Number offer at that rate.

“3, Esl: Subscriber shall be entitled to send one Scholar for every
Share subscribed, and Subecribers shall have the preference to Nou-sub-
scribers in filling up Vacancles.

w4, Each Subscriber shall pay Five Dollars to the Commissioners on
each 8hare at the timo of subscribing, and the sald Commissioners shall
pay the same into the hands of the Treasurer as soon as he shall be ap-
pointed.

©5, When two-thirds of the shares are subscribed fur, the subecribers
shall meet and chooss by Ballot thirteen of their Number who shall be
styled Trustees, which Trustees shall again elect out of thetr number a
President, Treasurer, and Secrelary, to act as such for one year.

“ 6, The Treasurer shall give bond with sccurity, If required, for the
performance of the duties,intrusted to him,

%7, When all the shares are pald in full, the Trustees by their Presi-
dent shall issue a Certificate to each Stockholder for the number of
Shares by him held, bearing an Tuterest of aix per cent. per Annum,
transferrable fu the Presence of tlie Treasurer.

«g. Atall Elections each Stockholder, for one share shall have one
Yote ; for two or more shares, two Yotes.

“g, Every vacancy in the Board of Trustees by Death, Resignation, or

othorwise, shall be forthwith supplied by an election held for that pur-
pose, 3 .
“10, The Trustees shall have power to purchase or receive, by Dona-
tion or otherwise, a suitable Lot on which to erect a School-house and
to receive a Deed for the same in Trust for the Stockholders generally,
and to contract with Workmen, purchase Materials, &o., aud to have
the sole management of the same, and whenever thoy shall see cause,
Iay a statement of the Xxpenditures Leforo a Mecting of the Stock-
lholders to be convened for that purpose. And provided the Expense of
erecting and preparing the safd School-house shall exceed the amount
of the Original Subscription, then, and in that case, the sald Trustees
shall open n now Sulscription for as many more shares as shall be necee-
sary to make up the deficlency, which new shares-shall be at the Rate
of the original Sulecription, with Inverest from that date,

“11. The President and Trustees shall have the sole direction, order,
and management of the School. 2

“19. The Trustees shall annually, on the first Monday in January,
1ay before the Stockholders a general Statement of the Funds and situa-

tion of the School. '
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“We, whose names are herennto subscribed, do promise to pay to the
President and Trustees of the Columbia School the sum of Ten Dollars
for every share of stock in sald school set opposite to cur names, re-
spectively, In such manner and proportions and at such times as may be
determined on Ly sald President and Trustoea.

Names,

Daniel Miller...... John Br

Jacolr Strickler..
Ge, Webster. .
Emma Jeffery
Eleanor Barber..

2 | Pationce Wright.....

2 | Edwin A. Atlee.. .1

2 | Amos Harmer.., 2
Nathh. Barbery ..o cesinansancnnes 1 | Abr=, Shoemake! o |
James Wright, J 2 { W=, Wright .. 0 |
Johin Houston.... 1 | Sam. Bethel... -2
Jas, Wright... 2 | Robt. Patton.. o |
James Graham « 1 | John Eberline. .2
Philip Goasler.... . 2 | Henry Brubaiker.... .1
Jacol Comfort. 2 | Joel Richardson....csmisninns 1
0. Breneman...... f David Barnum.....c.cousiieesiens 1

2

2

2

1

2

.

Columbia S8chool.—On the 26th day of March,
1807, Samuel Wright conveyed to Samuel Bethel,
Esq., Maj. Thomas Boude, Dr. Edwin A. Atlee, Rob-
ert Patton, James Wright, William F. Beatty, Esq.,
Jonathan Mifilin, John Evans, William Wright, Na-
thaniel Barber, Christian Breneman, and James
Graham, for one silver dollar, Lot No, 104, and
measuring fifty feet on Third Street, and extending
sixty feet along a public alley between Locust and
Cherry Streets, for the purpose of erecting a school-
house upon it.

The stockholders increased, and the number of
shares from fifty to sixty, and the value from ten to
fourteen dollars per share, In the year 1807 they
erected & one-story brick building, measuring twenty-
eight feet in front, and extending along a public
alley thirty-five feet.

The original stockholders are named above. They
organized by the election of a president, secretary,
treasurer, and twelve trustees.

The first teacher was E. P. Page. He was followed
by Dr. Edwin' A, Atlee, William Kirkwood, Thomas
Trump, Elisha Halloway, Jesse Haines; in 1819 by
Moses P. Cheney, who taught again in 1826. He
had been a teacher in the Westtown scbool in Ches-
ter County. He was followed by Thomas Sharpe in
the fall of 1823, During his term a belfry was
erected on the top of the school-house and a bell
placed in it. He resigned in 1826, and, as before
stated, Mr, Cheney took charge of the school April
1,1826; he was assisted by Benjamin Gilbert. He
resigned in 1828. On the 20th day of March, 1828,
Frederick Hinkson took charge of the school, and re-
signed during the following summer. He was suc-
ceeded by William Van Wyke on July 27, 1628, who
resigned in September, and was succeeded by G.
Gillett.

Charles Farnam came in 1832. An incident oc:
curred to him which he had good reason to remember
while he remained in Columbia. He was very hasty
and passionate. Cyrus Strickler was one of his
papils, whoa he chastised very severely for an of-
fense he did not commit, and .he left ‘thé school and
declined to return again, He returned to the school-

room, accompanied by his father, Jucob Strickler, to
procure his books. Farnam at once commenced to
lecture and upbraid Mr. Strickler for his want of
discipline and watchfulness over his son’s welfare,
Mr. Strickler, who was also of hasty temperament,
commenced to belabor the teacher with a raw-hide,
There was no school for some days afterwards. Far-
nam removed to the basement of the Methodist Epis-
copal Church in 1833, where he also taught a night-

school. This school at various periods seemed to-

prosper, and bid fair to establish a plant for one of
much higher grade. The trustees or managers were
not fortunate in procuring the right kind of a teacher.
The changes were too frequent, and the managers
did not offer a sufficient inducement to command the
best educational talent.

The atockholders on the 28th day of August, 1830,
made an effort to reorganize the school and enlarge
the building. On the 4th day of September, 1830, a
committee reported in favor of the erection of a build-
ing large enough to accommodate two hundred and
fifty scholars, on Cherry Street, a period when the
school was struggling for an existence. It seems to
have breathed its last breath in 1831.

The Lancasterian system was then under successful
headway in the town hall. In a few years the free
school law came into force, which also operated against
the success of this school. The effort to erect a large
school building on Cherry Street was a failure.

There seems to be a hiatus in the records of this
school from January, 1881, to May 11, 1838, when the
stockholders met to reorganize the achool. They in-
creased the number of shares to one hundred at four-

teen dollars per share, for the purpose of raising’

money to put another story upon the building and
extending it several feet in the rear. The following:
named persons subscribed for the additional shares:
Samuel W. Mifllin, Henry Breneman, Dr. J. S.
Clarkson, Joseph Black, Davis Gohenn, Abraham
Bruner, Bamuel Grove, Joseph Cottrell, Thomas H.
Pearce, Dr. George Moore, William Mathiot, Owen
B. Goodmen, Moses Whitson, James Barber, Jacob
F. Markley, Albert G. Bradford, James Caldwell,
James Cresson, Isracl Cooper, Robert K. Colvin,
Alexander Rowan, William Wright, John L. Wright,
Jonathan Pusey, Robert B. Wright, Joseph W. Cot-
trell, Christian Haldeman, Peter Haldeman, Reuben
Mullison, Jonas Rumple, John Cooper, Joseph Jen-
kxins, Henry Montgomery, Samuel 8, Haldeman, Wil-
liam 8. Shultz; Michael Strein. ,

A contract was made with Israel Cooper, who put
another story upon and extended the building geveral
feet in the rear, where a staircase was built, from
which access was had to the hall on the second floor,
which was rented to the Lyceum Association for five

eArs.

$ On the 9th day of March, 1839, Noble Heath, an
Englishman, who had been teaching a select school
at West Chester, was engaged to teach at a salary of
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eight hundred dollars per annum. Owing to some
gerious indiscretion on his part he was requested to
resign, and the board engaged R. 8. Roberts to take
charge of the school in the fall of 1839. In the snme
year the title was changed to Columbia Academy,

On March 20, 1841, Cyrus Frost, of Philadelphis,
took charge of the school, but in the fall of the same
year the trustees employed Mr. Johnson to take his
place. In the winter of 1842 he resigned, and Thomas
H. Pearce was engaged to teach three months, He
was followed by Mr. Howland, who taught one term.
In July, 1842, B. F. Wright, a graduate of Dickinson
College, wns engaged. In the spring of 1848 he was
succeeded by Thomas . Sommers, who was followed
by L. J. Roads in 1845, who remaired in charge of
the school until 1851, when the property was sold to
the borough, with the view of making room to extend
the market-house. Some of these teachers were ad-
dicted to the use of ardent spirits, and at certain
periods drank to excess, The frequent changes made
in teachers indicate that the school was not entirely
successful. There were a number of private schools
in the borough, which interfered with its prosperity.

Private Schools.—John Quest taught in Walnut
Street in the years 1807-9; Amos Harmer in 1809,
and Sarah Carrie (mother of Martin Currie), on Wal-
nut Street, in 1812, Rev. Stephen Boyer, the pastor of
the Presbyterian Church, opened a select school and
prepared young men to enter upon a collegiate course
in 1812-20.

Joseph Mifflin, born in Philadelphia, removed from
there to Little Britain township, in this county. On
the 8th day of May, 1806, he married Martha Hous-

* ton, daughter of Dr, John and Susanna Houston, of
Columbia, and removed to Columbia, where he taught
school jn 1813-14 in a frame building which stood in
the rear of the market-house. He afterwards entered
the Columbia Bank and Bridge Company as teller,
and was thus engaged several years, ending about the
year 1820,

A Mr, Barber taught on Walnut Street in 1800,

- Lydia Hutton, a Quaker, taught a school for poor
children at the corner of Cherry Street and Lancaster
Avenue, She was paid by a few of the wealthy citi-
zens, 1825,

Mrs. Olaiborne, daughter of Gen. Ross, and the
widow of Gen. Richard Claiborne, who had been
Governor of Louisiana, came from New Orleans to
Columbia in 1818, where she opened a school in the
house lately owned by the Miss Houstons, on Locust
Btreet; she afterwards taught on Walnut and Front
Btreets, S8he taught children between the age of
eight and twelve years, and was thus engaged about
twenty-five years,

Richard H. Murphy, John Resch, John P, Wade,
William Kenneday, —— Bond, —— Dunlap also
taught between the years 1820 and 1882,

David J. 8now taught singlngwchool in 1826 and
1827, ; :

Henry Connelly taught a classical school on Front
Strect,

Thomas Lloyd taught school for eighteen years.
He was a justice of the peace for many years, and
was also a surveyor and scrivener, sccretary for many
vears of the “ Water Company,” and held that posi-
tion for a number of other societies and corporntions.
He ceased to teach school in 1831, and was succeeded
by Ezra Ffirth on July 11, 1831, who came from Phil-
adelphin, where he had been teaching for twenty
years. In December, 1831, he added a night- to his
day-school. ITis wife also taught young children,
and gave young ladies lessons in fine needle- and
lace-work. They taught on Third Street, near the
old Columbia brick school-houss, and also in the lat-
ter place. Mrs. Ffirth is now living in Brooklyn,
N. Y.

The Columbia Select School for Young Ladies was
established in 1833 by Miss E, Ely. She had a num-
ber of scholars from a distance, who boarded with
private families, and paid from one dollar and a hnlf
to two dollars per week for boarding.

This school was on Second between Walnut and
Locust Streets. The school was well patronized and
in a prosperous condition for two or three years, when
it declined rapidly, and ceased to exist in the fol-
lowing year. The terms of tuition for the English
branches were five dollars per quarter; the French
language, ten dollars per quarter.

In June, 1832, Rev. William F. Houston opened an
infant school. 1Itlived buta few years, notwithstand-
ing the efforts of this public-spirited gentleman to sup-
ply what he believed to be a want greatly needed in
the borough. :

Deborah Foreman conducted a private school for
young children for thirty years. She died in 1882,

Francis X. Zeigler commenced to-teach a private
school about forty years =go, and at intervals since
has taught both priveie and public schools. For
more than twenty years he has devoted his entire
time to the telegraph and Adams Express, in ton-
nection with fire insurance business,

Commencing in 1825, Amoe Gilbert taught school
a few years on Second Street near Walnut. He was
a Quaker, and was a descendant of the Gilbert family
who were taken prisoners by the Indians a hundred
years ago, Hisson Howard is a profcssional teacher,
and is well known in this county and the eastern sec-
tion of the State as one of the best and most success-
ful teachers and accomplished scholars in the State.
He has traveled a great deal upon the continent of
Europe, and has acquired tho language of many
nations,

In 1829, Michael Strine begnn teachiug, and con-
tinued a few years on Walnut Street and on Locust
Street. He was born in Lancaster, and came from a
family which furnished a number of teachers and
ministers in the Lutheran Church, His son, Jacob
8. Strein, was the late sheriff,
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John Christy tuught in the blue-front house on
Locust Street above the old town hall in 1828-81.
James Stevenson taught school on Walnut Street,
1828-30, Miss Laird, Miss Hamilton, and Miss
Houston were also teachers at a later period, and
John D. Wright taught about twenty-five years ago.

Lanoasterian S8chool.—Joseph Lancaster, a mem-
ber of the Society of Friends in England, was the
founder of the monitorial system, by which the most
intelligent pupils in a school were required to teach
their fellows what they had learned in advance of
them. Mr, Lancaster died in 1839, This system
came into general use in England and this country.
In 1822 the Leglslature of Pennsylvania enacted a
law encouraging these schools. Lancaster City and
the boroughs of this county were designated as the
“Second School District of the State.”” Twelve di-
rectors or controllers, to be elected by the people,
were to manage the schools in each of the boroughs.

J. L. Rowand commenced to teach school in his
native place, in the winter season, in New Jersey in
1820, Ho went from there to the city of Camden,
N. J., and took charge of the academy in that placo
and remained thero until 1827, when failing health
compelled him to relinquish for a time the business
of teaching. During the summer of 1827 he went
to Philadelphia and took instructions in the model
school on the “Lancasterian” mode of education,
In the autumn of 1828 he came to Columbia and
opened a echool on the Lancasterian plan in the
then new town hall, which had just been completed.
Among the trustces were William Wright, president,
Evan Greon, James Given, and William Dick, secre-
tary.

The school was opened in the sccond story, with
one hundred and five scholars on the first day. This
number increased, and the room was found to be en-
tirely too small to accommodate that number. The
charge for each scholar was two dollars per quarter,
which covered all expenses.

Fhis school was conducted on that plan for about
two ycars, when the trustees changed its character to
n select and limited in number school, which was
always full. In the spring of 1882, Mr. Rowand was
compelled to give up his school on account of failing
health, In Juue, 1882, he zold his school to George
W. Layng, a native of New England. In addition to
the ordinary English branches he taught the Greek
and Latin languages. His terms of tuition were:

Bpelling, reading, and writing, three dollars for
twelve weeks; arithmetic and geography, four dollars
for twelve weeks; English grammar, history, use of
the globes, natural philosophy, etc., five dollars for
twelve weeks,

Extra charges were made for pens, ink, and pencils,
and for fuel. His sister, Miss Maria Layng. gave in-
structions in plain and ornamental needle-work to
young ladies. Mr. Layng was ‘a classical scholar, as
well as an accomplished gentleman, His school was

woll patronized. Mr. Layng removed to Pittsburgh,
where he studied law, and became a successful at-
torney. He died some years ago. He was followed
by Henry Montgomery in 1836, a native of New York
State, who taught school near the “Gap,” in this
county, from which place he came to Columbia,

Like his predecessors, he used the rod freely, which
on several occasions stirred up the ire of the “bad
boys'” parents, who came to the school-room to return
the compliment on the teacher, which was not always
asuccess. Mr. Montgomery found that the profession
of teaching was not the one best adapted to the de-
velopment of his abilities. He was in political faith
an Anti-Mason, and entered into the personal warfare
carried on in the newspapers between the parties with
a good deal of vim, He established the Pennsylvania
Courant in Columbia in 1887, and while he was con-
nected with this paper, which was about two years,
he was in “hot water” all the time, and was never
satisfied unless he could find some political opponent
topound. Asa political writer in a heated campaign
he had fow equals, He remained in the newspaper
business for many years in Harrisburg, Lancaster,
and Detroit, Mich, He married Ann, daughter of
Robert Spear, Esq., late of this place.

He was followed by Michael R. Keeganin 1837,
who taught school in the town hall and at the cor-
ner of Front and Union Streets for ten years. He
removed to the State of Ohio.

Washington Institute was created and brought
into oxistence by the trustees of the Public Ground
Company, whose funds were a trust designed by the
founder of Columbia for the sole benefit of the citi-

zens of the town he laid out, which is known as“0ld”’

Columbia.”

Before the free-school system was adopted in the
State, the citizens of Old Columbia frequently met
and endeavored to convert the income of this trust to
catablish free schools in-the town. There was no one
who could devise a plan calculated to make the
schemeo a success, and hence every attempt in that
direction was a failure,

Thero was jealousy and envy among the citizens
of O1d and New Columbia over the disposition of this
trust fund, and different projects were proposed,
which led to a confusion of counsel, and the conse:
quence was that nothing was done.

In the spring of 1864 the board of trustees of the
public ground concluded to purchase a tract of land
on the north side of Lancaster Avenue, between
Locust and Oherry Streets, from John L. Wright,
upon which they designed to erect a school building.
In the year 1856 a contract was made with Michael
Clepper for its prection for $8640, and it was finished
the same year. :

June 80, 1857, a school board composed of five
members were elected, to wit: Samuel Truscolt,
Philip Shreiner, Jonas Rumple, Joshua Vaughen,
and Henry Minnich, of the board of trustees of the
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public ground, and Joseph W. Fisher, Hugh M.
North, S8amuel 8hoch, and Dr. Benjamin Rohrer by
the citizens of Old Columbia, who were to serve for
one year.

In November, 1857, Professor Joseph D. Nichols
was chosen principal, and in the following winter
Morris D. Wickersham and Grace Clarkson were !
chosen assistants, In,1859 he was assisted by Mr.
Gamwell and Miss Herntz, The school was not self-
sustaining, and on the 1st day of March, 1859, the
company gave the buildings to Mr. Nichols free of
rent. During the summer and fall of that year the |
school was reported to be in a flourishing condition, ‘
but it soon declined again,

On the 1st day of July, 1860, the Institute was :
ronted to Rev. A, Essick for a period of one year, !
He was assisted by Mr. Patton for a few months, |
The following two or thrce years were periods of
depression, and the board of trustees made an effort |
to sell or rent the buildings to the school board of ,
the borough. i

In February, 1863, Professor Howard Gilbert and |
Professor Vicroy and Miss Johnson taught in sepa- !
rate rooms, In April, 1868, a frco school was taught ?
for three months by Professors Peck, Richards, John- |
son, and Haldeman,
~In the month of September, 1863, the Institute
building was taken by the United States govern-
ment for a hospital, and so occupied for two months.

In October, 1868, it was rented to Professor H. S.
Alexander, and a portion of the building was con-
verted into a dwelling. In January, 1864, Mr. Alex-
ander leased the buildings for a pe:iod of eight years.

In April, 1866, Mr. Alexander sold his lease to
President Sacket, who found the school in a prosper-
ous condition, but let it run down, when Mr, Alexan-
der took charge of the school again in 1868. In
March, 1868, the trustecs purchased from J. H. Mif-
flin, for eighteon hundred dollars, a tract of land ad-
joining the Institute grounds which extends to Locust
and Sixth Streots. In the same year the buildings
were enlarged. Under the managemont of Professor
Alexander the school was in a flourishing condition
and profitable. His health and that of Mrs. Alexan-
der was such that they had to abandon the profession
they had adorned with so much grace and ability, and
in March, 1871, they retired from the Institute and
were succeeded by the Rev. Ewing. In January, 1878,
Mr. Alexander again took charge of the school, but
he was not able to make it self-supporting.

In February, 1876, the school board of the borough
leased the Washington Institute buildings and the
grounds purchased from John L. Wright for a period
of twenty years, at an annual rental of four hundred
dollars. It is now called the Columbia High School,
and under the superb management of Professor B, G,
Ames, superintendent of the public schools of Co-
lumbia, and Misses Lillian and Mery Welsh and Mr,

Hoffman, his able assistants, who have charge of the

schools, it is second to none in the State in school
government and the thoroughness with which they
instruct in the several branches of study in accord-

 dance with the curriculum.

A day- and boarding-school for boys, English and
classical, was established in the second story of the
town hall, on April 18, 1853, by Professor Alfred
Armstrong, principal. The school was removed to
the building in the rear of the Presbyteriun Church
on Fourth Street. A number of scholars received a
classical course of studies, and were prepared to enter
upon a collegiate course of studies. The school was
scarcely self-sustaining, and Mr., Armstrong re-

| moved to Harrisburg, where he again established an

academy,

Up to tho year 1834 there was no uniform system
of education in ths State for the common people.
Every township and town had its private schools,
conducted frequently by incompetent teachers in
their own way. They were peripatetic in their move-
ments, and seldom remained longer in one place than
three winter months. In the country they boarded

! around among the furmers, and sometimes behaved

very- dishonorably,
Long and persistent efforts in behalf of the com-

 mon school system in New England by Horace Mann

crowned his efforts with success about the year 1830,
Friends of the educational cause in‘Pennsylvania
took up the subject, and began to ngitate and mould
a public sentiment in favor of the common school
system, Tho subject was brought before the Legis-
lature and discussed there. Governor Wolf rendered
valuable aid. Among the ablest and most persistent
champions in the Legislature of these measures was
Thaddeus Stevens, then of Adams County. His clo-
quence and matchless argument brought a majority
of the Assembly to his side, and the common school
law was passed in 1834, There was a provision in
the law requiring the districts to accept the same be-
fore it was brought into practical operation. :

When the Legislature adjourned and the full scope
of the law becamo known to the people, there was
great opposition to its enforcement,

On Tuecsday, Sept. 11, 1834, a meeting of the oiti-
zens was held in the town hall to ascertain the senti-
ments of the people on the subject of adopting the
school law. Dr. Joseph Clarkson was chairman and
J. Houston Mifllin secretary. Thomas E. Cochran
addressed tho meeting in favor of the school law,
Dr. R. E. Cochran, John Barber, Esq., and J. Houston
Mifilin were selected or nominated by the meeting
for school directors, and Samuel Boyd, Christian
Horshey, and John Musselman were selected for
school dircctors from West Hempfield township.

When the Legislature met in 1835, a majority of its
members were in favor of repealing the law of 1834,
Thomas II. Burroughs, who was then Secretary of
State under Joseph Ritner’s administration, was a
warm friend of the law, and worked very hard to save
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it. Opposition grew rapidly, and everything seemed
to be lost. Upon making a private canvass among
the members, it was found that a large majority were
in favor of repealing the law. When the question
came up upon second reading, Mr. Stevens arose, and
under the inspiration of the mc..ant made one of the
grandest and most successful efforts ever undertaken
in a deliberative body of people to change a large
majority to the minority side. He had barely taken
his seat when there was a call from every member to
vote upon the question, The law was sustained, and
it has never been disturbed since, except to improve
“it. A copy of this speech should be printed and hung
upon the walls of every school-room in the State.

There was considerable opposition to the seventh
section of the school law, which required a tax to be
levied in the borough of Columbia and East and West
Hempfield townships.

On the 16th day of May, 1885, a public meeting of
the citizens of Columbin and the township named
was held at the public-house of Joshua Kehlers, one
mile and a half east from Columbia, along the Colum-
bia and Lancaster tarnpike, of which Samuel Boyd
was president; J. Houston Mifilin, secretary.

West Hempfield, which included Columbia, was
among the first townships in the county to accept the
law.

The Publio'Schools.—A fter the system of common
achools came into general use, the improvemont made
was gradual, Theschools were better attended, more
care was tanken by the directors in the selection of
competent teachers; but little real progress was made,
however, until the Normal 8chool at Millersville was
fairly under way and a class of teachers trained and
equipped to enter a profession they adorned.

Another step in advance was taken when graded
schools were introduced. In 1857 a committee was
appointed by the school board, with J. ¢, Hess as its
chairman, to grade the public schools of Columbia.
This was something new, and but little progress was
made, promotions were gradual and few. There wero
six soparate school buildings in the place, some of
which were substantial brick structures. The citizons
wisely selected some of their best educated and most
prominent citizens for school directors. Their edu-
cation and training enabled them to select competent
teachers from merit alone, and to them much credit
is due for the advances made in the cause of educa-
tion in Columbia, Of the number may be mentioned
Samuel Shoch, Hugh M. North, J. W. Fisher, Amos
8. Green, J. Houston Mifilin, and also Joseph M.
Watts, Samuel Grove, Philip Bhreiner, David W,
Griftith, J. G, Hess, Samuel Young, Abrahamn Bruner,
George Young, Jr., Danicl Waun. The most sug-
cessful tenchers were Calvin Stewart (now pastor of
the Presbyterian Church in Colerain township), Wil-
liam Murphy, Morris Wickersham, Frederick 8, Pyfer,
Mary Shoch, Grace Clarkson, Georgian Houston, and
Mary Miller.

The board of directors in 1862 decided to erect cne
school building large enough to accommodate all
white children of lawful age in the place. Accord-
ingly a building was erccted on Cherry Street be-
tween Fourth and Fifth Streets, threo stories high,
and containing eighteon commodious school-rooms,
ten of which were furnished and prepared for the
reception of scholars in 1868, .The building was con-
structed of brick, and was modeled after the High
School building on Broad Street, Philadelphia, and
when completed was one of the largest and finest
school buildings in the State. At the time of its
erection it was thought that it was sufficiently large
to accommodate all of the white children in the place
for many years to come. When filled it would seat
two thousand scholars. Although it was a great
strido in educutional progress, experience has since
demonstrated that it was not altogether a wise move-
ment to collect the scholars in an entire district as
large as Columbia and place them under one roof.
The system has its advantages, but there are many
disadvantages which more than balance the good
ones. The original cost of the building was sixteen
thousand dollars,

The borough superintendency of public schools
was adopted for Columbia April 1, 1875. In May
they agreed to advertise for a superintendent, and
agreed to pay him an annual salary of fourteen hun-
dred dollars. Out of fifty-seven applicants Benjamin
G. Ames, of Bridgeton, N. J., was chosen to fill the
new position, He was an accomplished scholar, and
had rare qualifications to fill a position of this kind;
more than thirty years of his life has been devoted to
the cause of education.

His syston. of promotions was different from the
old one, and he gradually made a number of other
changes, which experience has proven to have been
wise and salutary, The most accomplished and thor-
ough teachers in the schools are graduates of the
High School.

Mies Lilian Welsh, a daughter of the late Gen.
Thor as Welsh, is now vice-principal of the High
School, and is ono of the most successful and tal-
ented teachers in the State. Her sister Marie is her
assistant, and is well fitted for the position,

Mr. Hoffman has also’ risen from the lower to the
front rank as a teacher. The entire body of teachers
aro excelled by few anywhere, and Columbia may
well feel proud of tho position her schools hold in
relation to othérs in the State.

Lyoceum.—Tho system of social lycéums becamo
very popular with the people in the United States
about the year 1880, and it did not decline for ten or
twelve years, Josiah Holbrook, who was actuary of
the Universal Lyceum, was the principal organizer
of lyceums in the United States. The Columbia
Lyceum was organized Dec. 2, 1885, Tho exercises
generally opened with a lecture delivered by one of
the members, or a subject selected which was debated
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by members chosen by the chairman, This feature
of the lyceum was always entertaining. Among the
members who delivered lectures were Henry Mont-
gomery, 8. 8. Haldeman, Dr. J. 8. Clarkson, Samuel
A. Black, Dr. William 8. McCorkle, James J. Given,
Thomas H. Pearce, E. C. Lewis, Dr. R."E. Cochran\
Owen B. Goodman, H. Bingham, Philip Gossler.
Many of these lectures were illustrated with scientific
apparatus, When the lyceum ran out of home ma-
terial for lecturers, they were supplied by young and
promising lawyers from Lancaster. Among the num-
ber we recollect Amos Slaymaker, Esq., Nathanicl
Ellmaker, Esq., George M. Kline, Esq. Tho meet-
ings of the lyceum were held in the old brick school-
house on Third Street, near the town hall. Afer
its decline many of its members formed an organiza-
tion called the Senate. Members were divided and
assigned to each of the States, This organization was
copied after the United States Senate. Its most
pleasing and interesting feature was the political dis-
cussions between the members, who were supposed to
represent the same political parties which elected the
United States senators in their respective States, and
they generally adhered to the line of argument used
by the members of the United States Scnate, whom
they were suppbsed to represent. These discussions
wero animated and often acrimonious. Among the
most active members were J. H. Mifllin, John 8.
Given, Joseph W, Fisher, Napolcon B. Wolfe, Sam-
uel Evans, Aloxander Caldwell,' James B. Cowden,
John Frederick Houston, Stewart D. Elliot, Hugh
M. North, Philip Gossler, Amos 8. Green, J. G, L.
Brown., This organization lasted several years.
Publio Libraries,—On tho 14th day of January,
1829, & number of prominent citizens subscribed va-
rious sums to be expended in the purchaso of books
for the mutual benefit of all those concerned in a
library company to be formed, The company was
organized in the spring of 1829 by the eloction of
Evan Green, president, and William Dick, secretary ;
Miss Huines, librarian. A large and judicious selec-
tion of hooks and paniphlets wero purchased, Much
interest was at first takon in the enterprise, but debts
were accumulated gradually, and in four years from
its organization the books and property of the “ Co-
lumbia, Pennsylvania, Library Company” were sold
at auction to pay its debts. Enough was realized also
to pay each shareholder two dollars on each share of
stock, the par value of which was five dollars. The
. building opposite the Franklin House was occupied
by the library, Herewith we publish the names of
each shareholder, so far as we are ablo to ascertain :

Abraham Bruner,
Sarah Barber.

Dr. Abraham Bitner.
E. Q. Bradford.
Christ, Brenneman.
Henry Brenneman,
Levl Drenneman,
Gideon Brenneman,
John Barber.
Jeremiah Brown.
Joseph Cottrell,
John Camplell.
Jolhin Cooper.

Joseph Cooper.
Israel Cooper.
James Collins.
Willlam O. Cornwell,
Jacob Clyde,

N Richard E. Cochran,
William Dick.
Richard Derrick.
Peter Epley.
Dominick Eagle.
Michael Elder,
Preston B, Elder.
John Evans.

Johin L. Futhey.
John Forry, Jr.
Evan Greon.
Amos 8, Green,
Benjamin Green,
Joseph Green,
John Guy.

Peter F. Gonter.
Jacob Gossler.
James Given,
Owen B. Goodmnan,
Jacob D, Garber.

Ellzabeth A. D, Heise,

Peter laldeman,
Christian Haldeman,
John lloover,
Bolomon Helso.
Daniel Hamakor.
Robert 1. louston.
William B, Hunt,

Benjamin Herr.
Georgo Huines.
Willlam Harrah.
Joseph Hogentogler.
Joseph Jeflries.
Samuel Jolhinson,
Joshua Kehler,

G. W, Layng.
Thomas Lloyd.
Edward C. Lewls.
Georgo W. C. Lloyd.
James E. Mifflin,
Samuel W, Mifflin.
Moses Montgomery.
John McKissick, Jr,
Jacob Mathiot,
Samuel Mathiot,

William Mathiot. .

John McMullen.
Tugh McCorkle.
Henry Martin,
George Mireick,
George Peters.
Willixm Polst,
Jacob Purkypile.
Jacob L. Rowand.
Charles Odell,
Benjamin Peart.
Witlam Todd,
Robert Spear.,
James Sweeney.
Abrabiam Shirk.
Jucob Strickler.
Henry I, Strickler.
Dr. Beaton Smith,
Henry Y. Slaymaker,
Robert 1, Stille,
Henry F, Slaymaker.
John L. Wright.
Charles N. Wright.
James Wright,
Michaol Way.
Moses Whitson.
William Wright,
Lowis Wisler,
Isano Vaughen,

John Arms, John T.. Boswell,
Willlam P. Beatty. Mary Bathel.
Qeorge Deatty. Christian Bachman,
Robert Barber. Elizabeth W, Boude,

™~ Owen Bruner,

George W. Boude.

131r, Caldwell was clected United States sonator to represent the

State of Kansas in 1807 or 1868,

The Franklin Library was organized in the spring
of 1834, John L. Boswell, secretary. The stockhold-
ers purchased the books of the Columbia Library,
and added to them a large number of new books,
This was, like its predecessor, a circulating library.
It flourished for a few years, and then went down
rapidly. There was no public library in the place
from 18806 to 1862.

In the year 1862, Samuel Shoch, prdsident of the
Columbia National *Bank, donated to the public
schools of Columbia five hundred dollars for the pur-
pose of procuring books and establishing a library.
The school board accepted this fund and ecstablished
a library, and named it after its donor. This was the
plant of & large and select library. Mr. Shoch has
given liberally of his abundant means since, and the
school board have at various times made large appro-
priations and purchased several thousand volumes of
clioice books. They have, and it is their duty to make,
an annual appropriation. for the purchese of books
and meet incidental expenses. The library is now
established on a permanent basis, and will become in
time one of the grandest institutions in the county.
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At present a large room on the first story of the public | the State that the construction of bridges, although
_8chool building on Cherry Street has been set apart | a novel and untried enterprise, found its advocates,
for tha library. Only one danger confronts the friende | and was undertaken with hopeful confidence of good
of this enterprise, and that is the possibility of fir: | results; therefore, “ An act authorizing the Governor
wiping out of existence in a few hours the accumu- | of Pennsylvania to incorporate a company for the
lated work of many years. It is hoped that there ! purpose of making ani crecting a bridge over tle
may be found in the community enough of generous- | river Susquehanna, in the county of Lancaster, at or
minded citizens who will provide sufficient means to | near the town of Columbia,” was passed by the Leg-
erect a fire-proof building upon the public ground at | islature and approved the 28th of March, 1809, the
the corner of Fifth and Locust Streets, or in that | State being pledged therein to take $90,000 of the
vicinity, that will protect this library from a calamity | stock.
8o disastrous. : A charter was accordingly granted by Governor
Samuel Grove, a prominent citizen of the place, | Snyder on the 19th of October, 1811, and on the 234
twenty or more years ago commenced to purchase | of December following the stockholders organized by
books with a view .of establishing a circulating | electing as managers, viz.: William Wright, presi-
library. He made additional purchases from time to | cent; Thomas Boude, Samuel Bethel, James Wright,
time until he has several hundred volumes.in his | Samuel Miller, John Evans, Christian Breneman,
library-room on Third Strect, between Locust and | John Forrey, Jr., Abraham Witmer, Henry Slay-
Cherry Streets. His books are generally of a religious | maker, William Barber, Jacob Eichelberger, John
cast, Tomlinson, and William P. Beatty as treasurer, and
0ld Residents’ Sooiety.—On the 27th day of No- | John Burber secretary.

vember, 1874, a number of citizens of Columbia or- On the 8th of July, 1812, articles of agreement
ganized a society of old residents of Columbia, the | were enteredinto with Honry Slaymaker and Samuel
object being to cherish the social interests and friendly | Slaymaker, of Lancaster County, and Jonathan Wal-
relations by holding frequent meetings, under the | cott, of Connecticut, for the erection of a bridge for
name of the “ Ancient Citizens of Columbia.,” Fol- | the sum of $150,000, but which before its completion

lowing is a list of the members: cost $238,000. The piers were fifty fect long, and ten
Joseph M. Watts (president), Georgo . Bowyer. feet wideattop, Tho spans each one hundred fect in
J. Houston Mifflin (secretary’. John A. Hook (dead). length,

:::::: g"ﬁ:‘h(:""“"')' ::l‘::?('ol:’;::eln Stock to the amount of $400,000 was subscribed
Williain Mathiot (dead). Henry . Kehlor, for, and after paying for the cost of the bridge the
Fruncls X, Ziogler. Samuel Evans, remaining balance was appropriaied to banking pur-

\ g prop

;:'“‘ ':";";‘I;:"’“"” (dead). '“‘“"'“\’} °”°"';‘" (dead). " poses, and an office of discount and deposit was
P ?::':,';'\"-;','::' S e opencd on 6th July, 1818, and notes were printed
Henry Brenuemau (dead), Henry H. Houston, and issued as bank notes. This proceeding being
::a::l:d N':ol} ‘ :Illlum “1’?. ll;olc:nrd- declared illegal, & charter was afterwar.s obtained on
P i i the 27th March, 1824, for the establishment of a bank
Jeorge Bogle (dead). J Jacob r;iy (dml)'. under the title of “ The Columbia Bridge Company,”
James Wright (dead). Bamuel Wright, Christian Breneman being elected president, and John
Henry E. Wolfe. e Abmm Bruner. McKissick, cashier. Sinco then this title has been

To become a member of this society a residence of changed to “ The Columbia Bank and Bridge Com-
Jifty years is required. Soveral have attained an age | pany,” “The Columbia Bank,” and lastly, the “ Co-
of more than fourscore years, As will be seon from | lumbin National Bank,” which it still retains, with a
the foregoing list, their numbers are rapidly growing | capital of $500,000, having been increased from time
less. ¢ to time from its original charter amount of $150,000,

Banking.—The Philadelphia Branch Bank was | to $260,050, $322,600, and in 1864 to its present
opened on the 22d day of May, 1809, John McKis- | amount.
slck was tho first cashier, and was followed by Dr. Since 1824, Christian Breneman, Christian Halde-
Boaton 8mith. This bank did business in the brick | man, John Forrey, Jr., John N. Lane, David Rine-
house at the corner of Locust and Front Streets, now | hart, John Cooper, Col. James Meyers, Dr. Bar-
owned by Jacob Snyder. The Philadelphia Bank | ton Evans, John Cooper, George Bogle, and lastly,
had its branch in Columbia for about fifteen years, the present incumbent, Col. Samuel Shoch, have sev-

Tho great increase in the population of the State, | erally acted as presidents, and during their several
and the travel incident thereto, between sections di- | periods of service John McKissick acted as cashier
vided by our great river, the Susquehanna, rendered | until 1832, Preston B. Elder, his successor, until 1839,
it necessary to adopt other means than a ferry to ac- | and Col. Samuel 8hoch until 1878, a period of thirty-
commodate the ttaveling public who desired to go to | nine years, when he was olected president, in which
cither side of this stream ; we find, therefore, that in | capacity ho still ofticiates, although in the eighty-
the onward progress of the internal improvements of | seventh year of his age.
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In 1832 the bridge was carried away by an ice
freshet, and rebuilt at an expenditure of $1567,300
and the debris of the old bridge. In June, 1863, the
bridge, as rebuilt, was burned as a military necessity
under an order from Gen. Couch, commandant of the

Susquehanna division of the Federal army, to pre- |
vent the rebels from crossing, as the best protection |

for Eastern Pennsylvanin. The bank, owning the
bridge, sold the piers and the abutments, with the
franchises as a bridge company, to the Pennsylvania
Kailroad Company for $57,000, and has therefore sus-
tained a loss of $100,000, for which a claim has been
preferred against the United States government with
hopes of its being allowed.

The First National Bank was organized in May,
1863, with a capital of $100,000. President, Ephraim
Hershey ; Cashier, S. 8. Detweiler. This bank in-
creased its capital to £200,000, and its surplus amounts
to $40,000. The present officers are Hugh M. Noith,
Esq., president ; 8, 8. Detwoiler, cashier, The bank
building is located at the southeast corner of Locust

. and Second Streets. The amount of deposits is very
large, and the bank is in a prosperous condition.

E. K. Smith & Co.’s banking house is located at
the northwest corner of Locust and Second Streets,
Its capital unlimited, The members of the firm are
E. K. Smith and Christian E, Graybill.

The Columbia Deposit Bank was organized in
March, 1870, with E. K. Smith, president, and C. I,
Graybill, cashier., This bank closed in 1880,

The Dime Savings Bank was organized in 1869,
The treasurers were Samuel Allison and Ephraim
Horshey. The bank suspended business in 1880,

CoL, BAMUEL Sunoct,—Michael Shoch, the grand+
father of Col, Samuel, was a native of Gerinany, and
on his emigration to America settled near Philadel-
phia. He had several children, among whom was
John, whose birth occurred at the paternal home near
Philadelphia. o in 1792 removed to Harrisburg,
Dauphin Co., and there remained until his death in
1842, Heo married Miss Snlome Gilbert, of Philadel-
phia, and had children,—Mary, Sarah, Rebeces, Eliza,
Cassandra, Samuel, John, Jacob, and one who died
in childhood. Samuel, whose life is herc briefly
sketched, was born in Harrisburg, May 28,1797, His
career covers some of the most eventful periods in our
national history, and has been so clos.ly identified
with local events that it forms an inseparable part of
them. His ecarly education was commenced at pre-
paratory schools before the establishment of the pres-
ent school system, and continued at the Nottinghamn
Academy, Cecil Co., Md. His further education and
preparation for professional life were the result of
personal application directed only by himself.

As early as 1812 he was recorder of patents under
John Cochran, secrciary of the land-office, and re-

" corder of surveys in tho office of Andrew Porter,
then surveyor-general. In Soptember, 1814, he joined
the ITarrisburg Artillerists, a company formed within

twenty-four hours after the Eritish had burned the
capitol at Washington, and was the youngest man in
the four companies that volunteered from Harrisburg
on that occasion. The company marched to York
and thence to Baltimore, and remained on duty there
until the British withdrew and abandoned their con-
templated attack on that city.

In May, 1817, he began the study of law under
Hon, Amos Ellmaker, attorney-general, and was ad-
mitted to the Dauphin County bar in 1820. He was
always aggressive, and as a young lawyer displayed
great energy and fearlessness in prosecuting what he
believed to be wrong. He took an active part in an
unsuccessful attempt to impeach Judge Frauks, of the
Lebanon and Dauphin district, for alleged offenses,

In 1835 he was elected clerk of the House of Rep-
resentatives by a union of the Whig and Anti-Masonic
members, defeating Francels R. Shunk, the Democratio
candidate. In 1837 he was secretury to the conven-
tion which gave us the Coustitution under which
Pennsylvania lived from 1838 to 1873, and at the
adjournment of that body was unanimously thanked.
The colonel finds special pleasure in recounting his
services with that body,

In 1839 ho cast his fortunes with Columbia, and)
went there to live, having been elected cashier of the
Columbia Bank and Bridge Company. The company
had a nominal capital of $150,000, but actually not
more than $80,000 to $100,000, as a bridge costing
more than $1756,000 had been swept away by an ico
freshet in 1832, and the loss had not been wholly
made up. Tho capital was afterwards increased, first
to $260,000, and in 1837 to §£322,500, with a change
of title to Columbia Bank. In 18065 the bank ac-
cepted the national bank law and became the Colum-
bin National Bank, with a capital of $£500,000, at
which it still remains, with a surplus fund of $160,-
000. He has thus maintained official relations with
the corporation as its cashier and president for forty-
four years, during a period the events of which are
matters of local history.

Col, Shdch was, in 1842, married to Mrs. Hannah
Lvans, daughter of Amos Slaymaker, of Lancaster

‘County, who was the leading manager of the line of

stages between Philadelphia and Pittsburgh. Her
death having occurréd in March, 1860, he contracted
a second alliance in August, 1865, with Miss Anna
E., daughter of Robert Barbor, of Columbia, Pa,

In 1848, Col. Shoch was appointed aid to Governor
William Johnson, which by courtesy conferred upon
him the title of colonel, a title by which he is better
known than by his Christian name. :

In 1860 the colonel was a member of the State
committee of the Republican party, and n dolegato
to the National Convention at Chicago which nomi-
nated Abraham Liacoln, the martyr President.

During the war he was foremost in deeds of charity
and patriotism, and presented to the first company
formed in Columbia a beautiful and costly silk flag,
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He always took a warm-interest in our public schools,
and through his active exertions and liberal dona-
tions the “Shoch Library,” in honor of its patron,
was established. '

Col. 8hoch also took an active interest in local en-
torprises, and was at one and the same time president
of the Columbia Gas and Water Companies, the Old
Public Ground Company, and the Marietta, Chestnut
Hill and Washington Turnpike-Road Companies.
He was also treasurer of the Reading and Columbia
Railroad Company, but resigned in 1862, before going
abroad on a continental tour. He was for ten years
president of the school board of the borough of
Columbia, during which period a spacious edifice,
devoted to the use of the public schools, was erected,
He served a term as director of the poor of Lancaster
County, two terms as county auditor, was a trusteo of
the Millersville Normal School, and director of the
Wrightsville, York and Gettysburg Railroad. If
responsible official positions are a measure of public
confidence, then Col. Shoch was favored above all
his fellow-citizens.

The colonel was always an active worker in the
Sunday-school cause. In the early part of his profes-
sional career he was both a teacher and superin-
tendent of the Sunday-school of the Lutheran Church
in Harrisburg. Within the last ten years his youthful
enthusiasm for the cuuse has been specially reawak-
ened, and his active services as teacher of a Bible class
in the Columbia Fifth Street Presbyteriar Sunday-
school, together with the erection, furnishing, and en-
dowment of their beautiful chapel (named “ Salome”
in honor of his mother), attests the sincerity of his
motives. In 1854, and for several years thereafier,
he maintained at his own expense a public night-
school, employed teachers, and furnished books, etc.,
for the benefit of apprentices and other young persons
who could not attend school during the day, and was
happily rewarded by finding the school well attended.
Many of the pupils since grown up have become
prominent and well-to-do citizens, who gratefully ac-
knowledge the advantages they derived from the
enterprise.

In politics he has been uniformly and radically’

anti-Democratic, a great admirer of Thaddeus Ste-

vens, and is in fall accord with Republican adminis- :

tration. .

The colonel’s has been an eventful and busy life,
and even now, when he has just crossed the threshold
of his eighty-sixth year, not a single duty is neg-
lected, not a responsibility ovaded, and not an energy
-relaxed.

Having faithfully performed the duties of cashier
of the Columbia National Bank for a period of thirty-
nine years, he was, in December, 1878, clected its
president, and notwithstanding his age, continues his
routine of duties, beginning at eight o’clock in the
morning and remaining to witness the settlement of
all accounts after the bank closes, His principal di-

version is his violin, an instrument of unusual excel-
lence, which affords him many happy hours.

With a mind fresh and vigorous, and with a re-
markable activity of body and buoyancy of step, he
has reasonable expectations of passing many more
years of usefulness,

Newspapers.—The Susquehanna Waterman was
started in the yecar 1811 by Thomas A. Wilson, a
practical printer, who learned his trade in the bor-
ough of York. He established a printing-oftice in a
one-story frame building which stood on the north
side of Locust Street below Sccond Street. In the
following year he purchased a half lot of ground on
the south side of Locust Street, nearly opposite his
frame shop. Upon this lot he erected a three-story
brick house, to which he moved his printing-press,
cte. He probably used the third story of this build-
ing for an office, for he did not plaster the walls,
The reaction in business and values of all kind after
the war of 1812-15 left him stranded, and his prop-
erty was.sold to James Cyde, Esq., in the year 1818,
Mr. Wilson returned to York, thence to onc of the
Southern States, where he remained for many years,
Some of his descendants reside in Wrightsville, York
Co.

William Greear published a small newspaper in
Lancaster called the Hive in 1804, He removed his
job-printing press, cte., to Columbia in the year 1812,
In the winter of 1814-15 he was elected printer‘of the
“Rolls” by the Legislature, and he removed his
printing-press to, Harrisburg. He returned to Co-
Jumbia and commenced the publication of a newspa-
per called The Columbian on the 24th day of July,
1819, in a two-story brick building he purchased from
Dr. Eberle. After publishing eighteen numbers it
was suspended for want of support. After six or
eight months it was revived. It was not sclf-sustain-
ing, and its publication ceased altogether in a few
months. He removed his printing-press to Washing-
ton, D. C. He was a Quaker and a person of strict
integrity. The Columbian was published in 1840 by
Thomas Taylor, and edited by N. B, Wolfe. The
editor wrote a romance cal'ed the “ Bandit,” which
ran through several numbers of the paper, which
seems to have knocked the lifo out of the paper. Be-
fore the story was comploted the paper ceased to
exist,

The Monitor was established by Dr. William F.
Houston on vhe 24th day of April, 1823. It was
printed in Dr. Houston's dwelling, now owned by
Theodore Urban, on Locust Strcet below Second.
Like the Columbian, it was- neutral in politics. It
was strongly religious in tone, It wus published
several years,

The Columbian Courant was established by Scheaf!
& Helnitsh, who purchased the press and type be-
longing to the Pioneer in Marietta and brought it to
Columbia. Thoy sold out to John L. Beswell, &
young printer who came from the State of Connecti-
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cut, who, on the 3d day of June, 1830, commenced
the publication of ‘the Cblumbia Spy and Literary
Register, which was neutral until June 23, 1881,
when its title was changed to Columbia Spy and Lan-
caster and York County Record, and the *‘ Henry
Clay” banner was nailed to its head, with the
“ American System” inscribed upon it. For that
period in the history of journalism it was ably con-
ducted, and was devoted to the interests of Henry
Clay, whom the editor desired to be President of the
- United States. On the 6th day of July, 1833, the
paper was enlarged to twenty by thirty inches. In
1834, Mr. Boswell and Carpenter McCleery, of Lan-
caster, established the Lancaster Union, published in
that city. The editor of the Spy gave a portion of
his time to that paper. On the 24th day of May,
1834, Thomas E. Cochran took formal charge of the
editorial department of the Spy. In the spring of
1836, Mr, Boswell sold the Spy to Preston B, Elder,
cashier of the Columbia Bank and Bridge Company,
and purchased the far{ford Courant, and removed to
Hartford, Conn. Ercurius Beatty published the Spy
for the proprietor from that time to September, 1837,
when it was published by E. Beatty & Co. Under
the editorinl managoment of Mr, Elder the paper
obtained a high rank among the literary papers in the
country, He was an accomplished writer and poet.
After Mr. Elder's death in 1839, Theodore D.
Cochran, who was then an apprentice in the office,
took editorial management of the paper. He devel-
oped great talent as a political writer, and had few
equals among his editorial brethren. While yet in
his minority he took charge of the Old GQuard in
1840, an Auti-Masonic paper, established in Lan-
caster'in 1889. Evan Green, the administrator of
Mr. Elder (who died in 1839), sold the paper to
James Patton, collector of tolls at the canal basin,
who changed its name to the Cblumbia Spy and Lan-
caster and York County Democrat. It advocated the
election of Martin Van Buren for President. In
1842, Mr. E. Maxson was taken into partnership,
and in tho spring of 1843, Eli Bowen and Jacob L.
Gossler purchased tho paper. They were both
minors, but young men of ability. In the fall of
1844, Mr. Bowen started the Profeclor, a tariff' paper,
and sold his interest in the Spy to Charles J. Barnitz,
of York, who also purchased Mr. Gossler's interest in
1845, In June, 1847, Charrick Westbrvok purchased
the Spy, and Dec. 11, 1847, Willlam H, Spangler pur-
chased an interest in the paper. In the summer of
1848 they sold to George W. Schroyer, who sold to
Eshleman, Kammerer & Gochenauer in 1849, who
‘sold to J. G. L. Brown in 1850. In 1853 it was pub-
lished by Brown & Greene, who sold to Coleman J.
Bull in 1866, In 1856 it was purchased by Stophen
Greene (Mr, Brown taking a position in Forney's
Press office), who sold to Samuel Wright in 1857,
was appointed to a position'on Gen. Thomas Welsh’s
staff), and wont into the army. He sold to Andrew

M. Rambo in 1868, who on Sept. 4, 1869, sold to Maj.
James W. Yocum, the present proprietor. It is a
conservative Republican paper and conducted with
ability.

The Columbia Daily Spy was started by A. M.
Rambo & Son in 1868, and was published for a period
of cighteen months, Tt was Republican in politics.

The Pennsylvania Courant was started in 1837 by
Henry Montgomery, Ercurius Beatty subsequently
became the publisher and proprietor. It lived until
1843, During the gubernatorial canvass of 1838 this
paper was particularly strong in its political depart-
ment. ! 2
The Protector was started by Eli Bowen and Jacob
L. Gossler in March, 1843, As its name implies, it
was a devoted advocate of the cause of protection and
the clection of Henry Clay to the Presidency. After
a few numbers were published Mr. Gossler retired,
and sold his interest to Mr. Bowen, who became edi-
tor, publisher, and carrier. He had but little money,
and often not the means to procure a meal. He
would go barefooted, and often slecp in an outhouse
when out of money. He walked to Lancaster, and
purchased an old Ramage press from Hugh Maxwell,
and two hundred pounds of type, on trust. Hestruck
off an edition of one thousand copies, and carried his
papers to Lancaster and neighboring towns, and sold
the entire number, which put him upon “his feet.”
Ho bid fair to be one of the best newspaper men in
the country, but he was erratic, and did not tread the
paths of journalism for a period longer than four or
five years, The Profector lived but six months,

The Water-Spout was started during the height of
the Washingtonian temperance movement, and was
dovoted to that cause. James Klinedriest was pub-
"lisher and Theodore D. Cochran editor. It lived but
six months. -

The Columbian was started by Charrick Westbrook
in 1846, and published by him until he purchased
the Spy in 1847, when it was merged in the Iatter.

The Columbia Ierald was established in December,
1867. Several leading men in the Democratic party
subseribed a sum suflicient to start a paper, and George
Young, Jr., who was then an officer in the Columbia
Fire Insurance Company, was chosen as editor. He
became sole owner. Mr. Young, Jr., sold an interest
in the paper to W. Hayes Grier in 1878, and subse-
quently to that time it was published by Grier &
Moderwell. Several years ago Mr, Grier purchase
Moderwell’s interest, and is now sole proprietor and
editor. Mr. Grier has been recently appointed su-
perintendent of the State printing-office at Harrisburg,
Ho was a private in the late war (see military chapter),
He is also justice of the peace for the Second Ward,
Columbia _ )

The Daily Telegram was started by Frank 8, Taft
in 1869. It lived about two months.

The Democrat was started in the summer of 1872

by W. Hayes Grier. It advocated the olection of
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Horaco Greeley for President, and was discontinued
in November, 1872,

The Weekly Courant was started by Andrew M.
Rambo & Son in 1870, and is now published by the
former. It is &n ably-conducted paper, and is radieal
Republican in politics.

Foundries and Machine-8hops.—The expansion |

of the iron interest in this place and vicinity since
the first machine-shop was erected, forty-seven years
ago, is truly wonderful. In the year 1836, Jefirey
Smedley and Thomas Hood, of Chester County,
started a small machine-shop at the canal basin. The
first steam-cngine built in the county was the one
they built to drive their machinery. The firm was
dissolved in September, 1837, and the business was
then carried on by Mr. Smedley. He manufactured
stationary engines and machine work generally, and
in this was greatly aided by the establishment of a
foundry near his shop. He carried on business at
that place until 1850, when he purchased the old
Shultz Brewery, n largo four-story stone building,
gituated on Second Street below Union, and converted
it into a machine-shop. A short time after this pur-
chase ho took his son-in-law, Henry Brandt, into
partnership. In Beptember, 1854, Mr. Smedley died
of cholera, then raging in Columbia. Mr. Brandt
continued the business until October, 1857, when a
stock company, entitled the Columhia Manufactur-
ing Company, took possession of the property, and
added a foundry theroto. The members of this com-
pany were Henry Brandt, Thomas R, and Zimmerman
Supplee, brothers, who came from Bridgeport, Mont-
gomery Co., Pa., where they had been carrying on the
business for several years. They removed all of their
machinery from there to the works in Columbia,
which greatly increased the facilities of this estab-
lishment. The company arrangement was not suc-
cessful, having carried on the works at a period of
great depression in business, The Supplee Brothers
leased the works and built up a large trade, Finding
their buildings and ground limited in extent, they
sold this property and purchased a large tract near
the Columbia and Reading Railrond, at Fourth Street,
where they erected larger and more extensive works
in 1870, A few years ago a stock company was formed,
called the Supplee Iron Company, under which name
it is now conducted.

In the year 1837 Frederick Baugher and George
Wolf, residents of York, Pa., formed a copartnership,
and erected a foundry at the canal basin.  When rail-
roads were first built, in order to get around the
curves without slipping it was necessary to have ono
loose wheel upon every axle. James Wright, Jr., of
Columbia, conceived the idea of making & wheel with
a beveled tread. Ho erected a circular railroad upoa
John L. Wright's lot, upon which he experimented,
When Baugher and Wolf started their foundry they
were the Arst in the country to mauufacture car-
wheels under Mr. Wright’s patent. This firm also

invented a wheel with solid hubs and concave and
convex plates in 1837. Previous to that time all car-
wheels were made with split hubs with spokes, Mr.
Baugher, being an Anti-Mason, obtained a good deal
of State work under Governor Ritner’s administra-
tion, and when David R. Porter was clected Governor,
in 1838, George Wolf, who was a Democrat, obtained
a share of the State work. Mr. Baugher retired from
the firm in 1839,

Samuel Truscott, who was their principal pattern-

maker, and to whom this firm was indebted for some of -

their inventions and the excellent work they turned
out, came from Baltimore, Md., to work for them in*
1837, and was taken into partnership by Mr. Wolf on
the 1st day of May, 1846. Mr. Wolf died in 1859,
when the firm was dissolved and Mr. Truscott retired,
and in a few years embarked in the coal-oil refining
business where the Columbia Stove-Works now stand.
After the removal of Mr, Smedley’s machine-shop to
Second Street, Wolf and Truscott erected a large ma-
chine-shop adjoining their foundry. These works
were carried on by the heirs of George Wolf until
Feb. 1, 1871, when they were sold to the Messrs. Per-
rottet and Hoyt. In the year 1872 they sold their
property to the Pennsylvania Railrond Company to
make room for their new round-house. The firm
purchased property in the: rear of the round-house
fronting on Bridgoe Street, where they erected larger
and more extensive works,

James Perrottet was a bound apprentice to the late
firm of Merrick & Son, of Philadelphia. He after-
wards went to the State of Louisiana and thence to
the West Indics, where he erected and took charge of
machinery in sugar-mills built by him. Their spe-
cialty has been the manufucture of sugar’ machinery
for Cuba and other sugar-making countrics.

William J. Hoyt also learned his trade in Phila-
dolphia, and worked for Merrick & Son. Ho was pro-
moted by that firm to various positions, and remained
with them until they sold their works in 1870.

Theve is & machine-shop connected with the Kecley
Stove-Works which manufactures small stationary
engines, and is conducted by Zimmerman Supplee,
which is a soparate cstablishment from the stove-
works, Their business is increasing, and the works
in the near future aroe to be enlarged.

Saw-Mills,—Jacob Strickler erected a saw-mill on
the bank of the river, a short'distance above Fair-
view Grist-Mill, about the year 1818, A wing wall
was built some distance up the river from the mill,.
which caught the current. Thore was only two or
three feot fall of water. When the dam was con-
structed noross the river,in 1888, for the Susquehanna
and Tide-Water Canal, this mill ivas taken away, and
another and much larger one built a short distance
farther down the river. A sluice was left in the
breast of the dam, which gave a greatly-iticreased
power. This mill has heen rebuilt and onlarged by
its present owner, Frederick 8, Bletz.
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In 1880, John McKissick, Jr., John Forry, Jr., and
Samuel B. Hise erected a saw-will along tbe river
shore, a short distance above the preseut outlet-locks
at the canal, in the northwestern section of the bor-
ough. The falls were called Little Conewago. A
wing wall was built which gave about three fect fall
of water. It was partially destroyed repeatedly by
floods in the river. It was torn down in 1847, and a
new mill L1ilt by Dr. J. J. and J, 8, Grier & Co.,
which wa: wholly run by steam-power. After the
public works were sold by the State, the mill was torn
down, they having to depend entirely upon the pat-
ronage awarded them by their party friends.

In 1844, Jonathan Pusey built a saw-mill at the
mouth of Shawanese Run, which was run by steam-
power. It was afterwards owned by his son Isaac,
after whose death, fifteen years ago, it was sold to
Abraham Bruner, and about ten years ago it was torn
down and & much larger mill was built by Abraham
and Cyrus Bruner along the river shore, close by the
old mill-site.

Planing-Mills,—The first planing-mill was built
on the south side of Union Street, between Second
and Third Streets, by Jacob I, Markley & Co. This
mill was built in 1887. The Daniels patent planer
was used. The grooves and tongues of the flooring
were made entirely with a series of circular saws,
The Woodworth patent rotary planer entirely super-
seded this mode of making flooring. The mill build-
Ing was converted into a lamp-black manufactory by
J.H. Miflin. The place is now occupied by dwell-
ing-houses. .

In 1850, Joseph Pownall, Joseph Dickinson, Hiram
Draucher, and John B. Bachman leased ground from
John L. Wright at the rear end of his mansion,
and erected & planing-mill, where not only flooring-
boards were manufactured but all kinds of house-car-
pentor work, The mill was removed farther away
from the railrnad to make room for more tracks, and
finglly taken 3:wn and rebuilt along the river shore.
It is and has bren for years owned wholly by John B,
Bachman, Es;. It is now one of tho best-equipped
planing:mills in the State. The business is conducted
by John B. Bachman and John Forry.

In 1881, Edward Smith ecrected a planing-mill on
the river shore above Union Street, Additions have
been made since its erection, and new and modern
machinary is constantly being added to it, and in a
fow yoars it will rank among the best in the State.

Frederick 8. Bletz erccted a planing-mill below the
‘mouth ‘of Shawanese Run, along Front Streot, in
the year 1848. All kinds of building material are also
manufactared at this establishment. It has been in
operation over since, and is still owned by Mr. Bletz.

Miohael Liphart erected a planing-mill at the cor-
ner of Lawrence and Second Streets in 1870, which
‘wes destroyed by fire some years ago, and has not
 been rebullt,

i The Keeley Stove-Works, located on the corner of
|

Second and Maple Streets, were erected in the sum-
mer and fall of 1882, They are operated by a stock
company, whose charter was dated May 5, 1882, with
a capital stock of $100,000, and subsequently in-
creased to $150,000. The works have a capacity of
twenty thousand stoves per annum, and employ in
their manufacture nearly two hundred men, The
following-named persons are the present officers of
the company: President, George W. Haldeman;
Treasurer, S, 8. Detwiler; Secretary, J. W. Ziller;
Manager, W. H. Pfahler.

Tanneries,—Samuel A. Atlee, son of Col. Samuel
John Atlee, erected a tannery on Shawanese Run
near the Lancaster turnpike in 1798, which he sold
to William Todd a few years later. He sold to —
Houston and Joseph Mifflin. On the 13th day of
March, 1885, it was entirely destroyed by fire. It was
rebuilt by them, and in a few ycars they sold ouc to
Andrew John, who sold the property to the Chestnut
Hill Iron Ore Company.

John Hollinger erected a tannery on the same run
on the north side of the Lancaster turnpiko about the
year 1868. The establishment is a very large one,
Mr. Hollinger also erected an additional currying-
shop farther down the stream, at Fourth Street,

The Columbia Water Company was organized
under an act of Assembly approved the 29th of May,
1828. William Wright was made president. The
company met with but indifferent success, and failed
to answer the oxpectations of the pecople. In 18568,
after being in operation for thirty-four years without
making a dividend or furnishing a proper supply of
water for domestic use, the company was compelled to
make an assignment for the payment of debts, and
some time during that year the charter, with franchises
and all the property, was sold at public auction to
Samuel Shoch for fifteen thousand three hundred and
fitty dollars, when a new orggnization was made,

The new company by an expenditure of more than
$100,000 has erected & dam, two large reservoirs, with
important improvements, and laid through the streets
of Columbia large iron pipes in place of the smaller
ones laid by the old company, by which the several
steam-cngines for the extinguishment of fires and
other machinery requiring, water can be abundantly
supplied as well as the demands for domestic use. A
full quantity of excellent water is drawn from natural
springs north of the town and also from the Susque-
hanna River.

The capital has been onlarged to the sum of
$100,000, and the affairs of the company are man-
aged by Samuel Bhoch, presidentj Joseph H, Black,
Col. Wm, W, McClure, Samuel Truscott, K, A, Fon-
dersmith, James A. Meyers, and Y. Latimer Small,
directors; Simon C. May, secretary and treasurer;
W. B. Foeseg, superintendent.

Columbia Gas Company.—By act of Assembly of
10th April, 1851, the Columbia Gas Company was char-
tered, and, after erecting suitable buildings, went into
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operation for the purpose of making and supplying
gas. Samuel W. Miflin wus elected president, and
Amos Slaymaker Green treasurer and secretary. The
capital was at first $87,500, but afterwards increased to
$60,000, at. which it remains. I. G. Hess was at one
time president. In 1865, Samuel Shoch was elected
. president, and still continues in that office. In 1874
the Lowe process of making gas out of oil was intr=-
duced, by the use of new apparatus and machinsry,
and thus far has proved an entire success. The gas
produced is of the best quality, Tho company is at
present under the management of Samuel -Shoch,
president; H. M. North, Samuel Truscott, H. F.
Bruner, William W. McClure, Charles H. Honkle, C.
E. Graybill; Charles H. Henklo, secretary and treas-
urer; Robert Beecher, superintondent,

Riots,—From the day the manumitted slaves of
Isard Bacon and others, of Virginia, located in Co-
lumbia (in 1818-19) their numbers were largely in-

“creased from that sdurce, and fugitives from human
bondage in their flight to a land of freedom—who
were not a few—tarried with them, and thus increased
the number of colored people to more than a thou-
sand, They did all the labor for the lumber mer-
chants along the river during the most profitable and
busy seasons of the year. This excited the envy and
hatred of not a fow white people.

Stephen 8mith, who was born a slave in Paxton,
and was purchased for a limited time (until he ar-
rived at the age of twenty-eight yeara) by Gen, Thonas
Boude in 1802, was a bright and intelligent boy, and
hosoon developed a business talent not casily checked
in an ambitious youth, Before he was nineteen years
of age Gen. Boude gave him the entire management
of his lumber-yard, and in the same year he was olan-
destinely married to a beautiful mulatte girl, who re-
sided in the family of Jonathan Mifflin, He proposed
to Gen. Boude to buy the remainder of his servitude,
and that gentleman agreed to take one hundred dol-
lars, He went to his friend John Barber and told
him of his designs, when that large:hearted gentle-
man handed him one hundred dollars, He pur-
chased his freedom, and then, with fifty dollars he
had saved by doing extra work, he commenced to
buy a little lumber and speculate in every venture in
which he could turn a penny to profit. lis profits
increased rapidly until he owned one of the largest
lumber-yards along the shore. He also invested
money in real estate, and whenever a property was
offered for sale he was one of the foremost and liveliest
bidders, In the height of his prosperity, in 1884, he
was served with the following notice:

“You have again assembled yourself among the white people to bid
up property, as you have been in the habit of doing for & number of
yoars back. You must know that your presence is not sgrevable, and
the less you appear In the asembly of the whites the better it wil be
for your black hide, as there are a great many in this place that wonld
think your abseuce from it a benefit, as you are considered an'fnjury to
the real value of property in Columbia, You had better take the hint
and leave. ' 5 Manr.”

To this he gave but little attention. James Wright,
William Wright, and John L. Wright promptly of-
fered a reward for the detection of the author of this
notice. In the spring of 1834 there had been a num-
ber of riots in several cities in the Northern States
against the colored people. Excitement ran high
everywhere,

On the 11th day of August, 1834, some person or
persons broke into Smith’s office, which stood on
Front Street, a -short distance below the round-
house, and destroyed his books and papers. This
was a great loss to him, but one that he could bear,
He stood up manfully for his rights, and did not quail
before the men whom he was well assured were en-
couraging a clamor against him and invoking mob
law. This lawless feeling against a worthy colored
man, who was not to be ‘browbeaten” or driven
away by threats of personal violence, was turned
agaivst his less courageous colored friends who resided
in the northeastern section of the town. On the 16th,
17th, and 18th of August, 1834, a mob drove the col-
ored people from their homes and destroyed much
of their property. They fled to the hills surrounding
the town and to Bethel’s Woods for safety, and some
of them remained there several days without shelter
or food, David Miller, n.zh sheriff of the county,
swore in a large number of *“deputies,”” who went
from Luncaster to Columbia and arrested a number
of persons supposed to be the leaders in the riots.
They were tried, but none of them were convicted and
sent to prison as they deserved to be,

Mr. 8mith removed to Philadelphia in 1842, where
he engaged in business. He also retained his lumber-
yard in Columbia, and gave William Whipple, a col-
ored man, who resided in Columbia, an interest.

First Steamboat on the Busquehanna.—On Sat-
urday evening of June 11, 1825, the first steamboat
that attempted to navigate the Susquehanna River
from its mouth to its source arrived unexpectedly at
this placo. The following day was apent in taking
pleasure-parties to “Big Island,” * Goose Island,”
ete. The citizena turned out in a body to witncss the
novel sight. The churches were all closed, and the
Sabbath-schools presented an array of empty bonches.
It required several days to bring the bont from the
mouth of the river to this point. Between theso
points the distance is forty-five miles, and the river
at Columbia is two hundred and sixty feet higher
than the head of tide-water, which is five miles above
the mouth of the river. The channel is tortuous aud
rocky, and at that time it was exceedingly dangerous'
for any craft to attempt to navigate the stream against
the current. Men ran out to the rocks on shoro in
advance of the boat in canoes, with anchors, to which
ropes wero attached, and on the bow of the boat the
other end of the rope was fustoned to a capstan, rnd
the boat was * warped” over the most dangerous
places. The boat left Columbia on Tuesday, the 14th
of Jume, 1825, and it required ‘three days to get it.
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through Little Conewago Falls, above the outlet
lock, and at Chikis Rock, The citizons of Marietta
welcomed its arrival with booming of cannon and
fire-works. The boat was taken up the river as far
at Wilkesbarre, where the boiler exploded and de-
stroyed it.

Asiatioc Cholera.—Columbia was suddenly visited
by this dreadful disease in September, 1854, and it
raged with great fury for ten days, and threatened
at the height of the epidemic to destroy the entire
population. Tt was confined entirely to the town,
and was altogether one of the most remarkable epi-
demics in this country of which history gives any
account. The month of August and first week in
September of that year was unusually dry and hot.
On Thursday, September 7th, a warm wind came across
the river from the south, wafling noisome odors,
which was supposed to come from the decaying vege-
table matter in the river. This was a subject of re-
mark, and many citizens thought it foreboded no
good for the health of the people. They anticipated
malaria only, and never dreamed of the impending
danger, which visited the town almost as suddenly
and unexpectedly as a bolt of lightning.

When the railroad cars came from Philadelphia
in the evening of Sept. 7, 1864, they left a family
of omigrants, Two of them were sick, father and
son, and they were taken to an unoccupied dwelling
on Front Street. Physicians were called to attend
them, and they pronounced the disease Asiatic cholera.
Two or three citizens waited upon them during the
night. The father died in the morning, and tho son
some time during the day.

No uneasiness was felt on the part of the citizens,
and the death of these two emigrants caused but
little romark, On Friday, tho 8th of September,
Francis Bradley, a notary public and worthy citizen,
was taken sick suddenly with the disease, and in an
hour or two he was a corpse. When Saturday morn-
ing, the 9th, dawned it found its citizens in a panic.
During Friday night many persons were seized with
the disease, and when daylight came long processions
of men, with despair or anxiety deplcted upon every
countenance, were hurrying to tho drug-stores or to
the physicians. The diseaso spared neither age or
sox, rich or poor, high or low in society, but swept
all before it,

The large list of deaths on Baturday and Sunday

attest the severity of the disease. On Sunday the:

hegira of the citizens commenced, and half of the
population fled from the place. Fortunately for them
and the country the disease did not spread any far-
ther, although there were many cases in Pittsburgh,
brought there by some emigrants who came to this
country with those that were left with the disease in

Columbia. A number of physicians came from other’

places to assist those here. Several citizens distin-
guished themselves by their benevolence and untiring
efforts in behalf of the siok.. There was one who de-

serves special mention. I refer to Daniel R. Craven,
who volunteered as nurse, and was a most faithful one,!

A number of persons apparently in good health
were taken sick suddenly on the street, and in an
hour afterwards they were dead. A large number of
those whose names we give were taken sick, died, and
were buried on the same day. Following is a list of

the victims of this epidemic:

I
Francls Bradley, Front Street.

Friday, 8th,

Baturday.

Robert Spratts, Fourth Street.

Mrs. William MNippey, Cherry
Street.

E. A. Howard, Front Street.

Dr. R, E. Cochiran, Walnut Street,

J. J. Strickler, Herr's hotel.

John Groen, Perry Street,

H. 11. Lichty, Locust Street.

8amuel Hinkle, Union Street,

James Keely, Harkins' tavern.

Mrs. 8. Lysle, Laurens Street,

Mrs. Bamuel Atkens, Laurens
Btreet.

John Gilbert, Perry Street.

i Miss Ann Harnly, Locust Street.

Mrs. Stephen Falix, Fourth Street.

Mrs. C. David, Unfon Street,

John Boyd, Locust Sireet.

Charles Benuer, at Jacob Hardy's,
Unlon Street,

Peter Remler, Perry Street.

~—— Wearer, at Minich's tavern,

Margaret L. Hagan, Walnut Street.

Charles Jackson (colored).

Webster Fox (colored).

Matlifas Neldlnger, Union Street,
at Mack's brewery.

Sunday.

Simon Bnyder, Front Street.

Mre. J. W. 8human, Front Street.

Mre. Jacob Crosby, Union Street.

Mre. Harris, Perry Street.

Mrs, Rider, Third Street.

Mre. Willlam Rees, Chorry Btreet.

Mrs. R. Dick, 8econd Street.

Andrew Bentz, at 0. Braudt's tav-
orn.

Torenzo Krab, Third Street.

Willlam Carson, Enny's office.

Mrs. 8hillo, Third Street.

Mrs. Ell Derrick, Locust Street.

Mrs. Clarissa Richards, Third
Street.

8amuel Bough, Front Street.

Richard Costello, Union 8troet.

Miss Margaret Fisher, Cherry
Street,

Mrs. Harriet Hinton, Walnut

Btreet.

Willlain Waites, Third Street.

A German, name unknown, hos-
pltal,

Whi Benner, at L

Petoer Hun's child (colored).

8tephen Wikes (colcred).

Willlam Wye (colored).

Thomas Goodman (colored).

Two Germans and a boy, names
unkuown,

Alonday,

Mrs. Catharine 8warle, Perry. !
Bernard Campbell, Union Street.
Mre. Elton Kimburg, Third Btrect.
John Miesberger, hiospital.

Mre. Payne's child, Waluut Street.
Mrs. I1. K. Minlch, Front Street.

J.VW.8human's child, Front Street.

An Englishman, name wnknown,
hospital,

Henry Barney (colored).

Fliza 8tots (colored).

Tusday.

Robert Trwin, in the country.
John Loucks, huspital.
Bamnel Slater, hospltal,
Henry Bell's son,

Mrs. Boyd, Cherry Btreet.

John Kidders, Locust Street.
Jesso Harry, Cherry Street,
Hannah Wilson, Cherry Street.
Fvan Green, Front Street,
Honry Davls (colored),

Wednesday.

Honry 8mith's son, Locust Btreet,
A, M. Haluves, Manor township,
Goeorge Boyd's child, Cherry Street,
Johu Kingbell, Fourth Street.
Mrs. Waliman, at Lancaster,
QGeorge Beaver's child, Locust

Btreet, ’
Alwels Lelbinger, hospital,

8amuel Reed's child, Cherry Street,

Mra. Zlegler, Walnut Street,

Mrs. George Plumm, Union Street,

A Qerman, name unknown, hos-
pital.

A Gorman and child, names un-
known.

Stranger, canal basin.

1In the following year, 1885, when the yellow fever visited Norfolk,
Ya., Dr. J, Clarkson 8mith, a brilllant and promlsing young physiclan
of this place, and Danlel R, Oraven volunteered and weut (o the nsslst-
ance of that city, which sent up a cry for help. In two or thiee daya
after thelr arrival both took the disease and dled the same day.

'
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. Thursday.
J. W.8human's child, Front Street. | Anna Parker (colored), hospital.

Barah Hall (colored), hospital.

| Michael Baker, Walnut Street.

Friday,

William Bell, Perry Street.
Mrs, Sweeny, Fourth Street,
William McBride, Third Street.
Mrs. R. Wright, Germantown,
Mrs. Odell, Walnut Street.

Satw

John Craig's child, Cherry Strect.

Zachariah Richard, Front Strect.

Jefirey Smedley, Charlestown,
(hester Co.

Mre. Hippy, Cherry Street.
George Sheneberger, York County.
Johin Fotch, hespltal,

James Brown, Locust Street.

rday.

Mrs., Kvans, corner Fourth and
Cherry Strects.

Timothy Toole, hospital.

Henry Gormley, Mount Joy.

Sunday.

James McKeever, outlet lock,

burg.

Samuel Baldwin, Fourth Street. l Mrs, George W. Hinkle, Harris-

John Jordon'schild, Fourth Street,

Monday.
John Kock, 8t. Charles Furnace. William Pearson, Chestnut Hill,
Bo). Turner (colored). Mrs. Welsh, canal basin.

Twuesday.
, Leonard Kock, 8t. Charles.'

Mrs. Lentze, Pequea.
Albert White (boy), caual basin,

Jolin S8haffer, at Brandt's.
Frederick Soyder, Locust Street.
Wednesday.
Danlel Zahm, Locust Street. Irish woman, canal basin.
Mrs. Jarvis, Locust Street. l
Mrs. Mary Grismeyer, hospital.
Thursday,
John §phuman's child, Front Street.
Friday.
I Irish child, canal basin,

Irish child, canal basin,

Lewls Stross, at Brandt's.
~— Tinckle’s child, Becond Street.
Sunday.

Mrs. Morrison, Laurens Street, | John Hamilton's boy, canal basin,

Railroad 8trike.—In the early part of the summer
of 1877 there was a great deal of agitation among
railroad employés all over the country. Secret or-
ganizations were formed in every town and city bor-
dering along tho trunk lines of tho great railways,
which embraced very nearly all employés of the sev-
eral railroads, day laborers only excepted. The sev-
eral classes of employés had distinct and separate
organizations, and worked under various titles, but
all had one common object, to wit, the securing of
more remunerative wages, and helping each other in
case of sickness, etc. The aggregate number belong-
ing to these several societies embraced many thou-
sands. In July, 1877, the Baltimore and Ohio Rail-
rond Company declined to accede to a demand made
by some of their employés, and the latter suddenly
quit work, The news was flashed over every tele-
graph wire in the country, and gradually others quit
work for this company. The members of the different
secret societies sympathized with their friends along
the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, and were carried
away by the excitement of the hour, and were drawn
into the “strike.” There was no outward indication
that the storm started in Virginia was about to burst
upon the Pennsylvania and Reading Railroad Com-
panies,

On Saturday, July 21, 1877, the employés com-
menced to “strike” at Harrisburg, and on Sunday,
July 22, Columbia received the shock, and the
engineers and others refused to permit the moving
of any freight trains,

A mass-meeting, composed of railroad employés,
numbering several hundred, met on the same evening
at the public ground below.the bridge. Committees
were appointed whose duty it was to obstruct entirely
the movement of the rolling-stock of the railroad. A
mob of disorderly and disreputable persons took pos-
session of the town. Some of them marched around
among the farmers and enforced contributions from
them for the support of alleged *“strikers,”

Saloons and taverns were ordered to be closed by
the “strikers,” and in one or two instances the mob
forced some of the grocerymen to give them flour,
groceries, and provisions.

The company was at the mercy of the strikers, and
they were very much afraid that their property in
the borough; which amounted to a million dollars or
more, would be destroyed by fire. The danger-point
was not passed until the leader and chief conspirator,
Truxell, was arrested and taken to jail, which oc-
curred on Thursday, July 26th.

Fire Companies,—Just when, where, or by whom
the pioneer fire apparatus of the old Columbia Com-
puny was purchased we cannot ascertain, as the earliest
records are lost or destroyed. However, we find that
the company was organized and owned a fire-engine
as carly as February 27, 1806, and an account of one
hundred and fifty dollars having been paid towards
its purchase, and the same year eleven dollars was
charged by the treasurer as having been paid for re-
pairs to the carringe. This is supposed to mean the
hose-carringe, though not definitely stated. In 1814,
at a reorganization of the company, the following
persons were enrolled as members: Samuel Miller,
William F. Houston, William B. Hunt, John Wilson,
John Haldeman, Michael Elder, William' F. Beaty,
Joseph Jeffries, John McKissick, Joseph Mifflin, Jacob
Williams, Thomas Wright, Thomas M. Mifilin, John
Forrey, John Brumfield, Robert W. Houston, C.
Brenneman, Dominick Haughey, E. Green, Amos H.
Slaymaker, Benjamin Brubaker, John L. Wrigit,
John Gontner, Jr., James Willson, Jr., John Mathiot,
A. B, Breneman, John Greenleaf, Peter Yarnall, John
Evans, James Clyde, James Sweeney, Thomas Lloyd,
Joshua King, William Wright, James E. Mifllin,
Charles N. Wright, Hugh McCorkill, William Liston,
John W. Patton, Tsrael Cooke, James Collins, Nathan
Roberts, Jr., Benjamin Worrell, Henry Martin, Robert
Barber, Jacob Mathiot, Casper Peters, John Hippey,
Th. A. Willson, Robert Magill, Thomas Trump, John
Dicks, William Kirkwood, George W.Gibbons, George
Mason, James Todd, George Peters, Christian Halde-
man. The engine- and hose-house of this company
is located on Locust Street, between 8econd and Third,
and isconveniently and.elegantly fitted up for the

Excerpts from History of Lancaster County, Pennsylvania: With Biographical Sketches of Many of Its Pioneers and Prominent Men

By Franklin Ellis, Samuel Evans Everts & Peck, 1883 - Lancaster County (Pa.) - 1101 pages.
Prepared by Randolph Harris, archivist, African American Historical Society of South Central Pennsylvania—October 2020

49


https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Franklin+Ellis%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Samuel+Evans%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Franklin+Ellis%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Samuel+Evans%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Franklin+Ellis%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Samuel+Evans%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Franklin+Ellis%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=inauthor:%22Samuel+Evans%22
https://www.google.com/search?tbo=p&tbm=bks&q=subject:%22Lancaster+County+(Pa.)%22&source=gbs_ge_summary_r&cad=0

BOROUGH OF COLUMBIA. 577

comfort of the members of the company and their l

visitors. Tne officers for 1883 were: President, John
Tyson; Vice-President, William Findley; Secretary,
H. M. Sample; Treasurer, J. W./Yocum; Chief En-
gineer, D. A. Wayne; Chief Director, Eugene Conley.

The Good Intent Fire Company was organized
in April, 1835, and a fire-engine was purchased in the
summer of the same year, This company was com-
posed of the wealthiest and best citizens in the

lace.
9The Vigilant Steam Fire-Engine and Hose Com-
pany, No. 2, who:~ engine-house is located at No.
24 North Second Street, was originally organized as
the “ Good Intent Fire Company,” and subscquently
(about 1844) the name was changed to ““ Vigilant Fire
Company,” and at the outbreak of the Rebellion nearly
all the members “shouldered arms and marched to the
front.” In the latter part of 1865 the company was
reorganized and consolidated with the old *“ Susque-
hanna Fire Company,” under the name of * Vigilant
Steam Fire-Engine and Hose Company, No. 2.” The
property at No. 24 North Second Street is owned by
the company. They have in charge a fourth-class
Clapp & Jones steamer, built in 1882, and have
upon their rolls the names of about two hundred
men, The officers of the company for 1883 were as
follows: President, George R. Bennett; Vice-Presi-
dent, James Kiskaddon; Treasurer, N. Gilman;
Secretary, George W. Schroeder.

The Shawnee Steam Fire-Engine and Hose Com-
pany, whose engine-house is located on North Fifth
Street, in the Fourth Ward of the borough, was or-
ganized June 4, 1874, with the following officers and
members, the first election taking place June 12th of
the same year. The following were the first officers
elected ; President, James E. Wolf; Vice-President,
Frank Conroy; Secretary, George L. Lyle; Treasurer,
Daniel F. Gohn; Trustees, William G. Lutz, John
Elliott, Philip Schlack ; Foreman, George W. Wike;
Assistant Foremen, C. Swartz, O. Shillet, D, Cole-
man ; Hose Guards, John Wolf, James Hickey, David
Barr, Andrew Lane, Samuel Blackson, George Shoe-
maker, Ed. Gause, Frederick Hardnele. The steamer
in charge of this company is a third-class Clapp &
Jones machine, built and- purchased in 1876. The
company had, July 30, 1888, two hundred and seventy-
four members on their rolls. The officers for 1883
were as follows: President, Andrew Hardnele; Vice-
President, George Hardnelo; Secretary, George F.
Lutz; Treasurer, Daniel F. Gohn; Chief Engineer,
Joseph Bowers; Assistant Engineer, Harry Dinkle;
Trustees, A. H. Gilbert, Peter Book, Joseph Sweitzer;
Janitor, John Honadle; Chief Hose Director, Ed.
Tracy; First Assistant, George Dinkle,

The borough purchased a small fire-engine called
the “Bravo” about the year 1825. The box was
supplied with water carried in buckets from the river
or some adjoining pump, There was a ¢rank-handle
on each side, where two men could stand and. turn

87

the handle, which forced the water over an ordinary
house.

It was of great service in case of fires, and could
be taken into any of the back yards and other places
where a larger engine could not go. But little care
was taken with'it; and the wood-work shrank and let
out the water at first about as fast as it was put in,

The cylinder lay horizontal, and the shaft between
the handles ran through the centre. Two men could
work this little engine very ecasily,

It went to picces more than twenty years ago. In
1832 it was given in charge of Columbia Fire Com-
pany.

Eastern 8tar Lodge, No. 169, F. and A. M., was
constituted about 1812, The records of the lodge are
lost, but it is known that it continued work till about
1830, when its communications ceased. The last sur-
viving Mason who was a member at that time, Thomas
B. Dunbar, died in June, 1888.

Columbia Lodge, No. 286, F. and A. M., was con-
stituted Feb. 16, 1854, under a charter granted to O.
S. Kauffman, W, M. ; Daniel Herr, 8. W.; Jacob M,
Strickler, J. W.; James 8. McMehon, 8.; Thomas
Lloyd, T.; and Peter A. Kinburg, John Eckert, and
John Barr, charter members, The first place of meet-
ing was Herr's Hotel, corner of Fulton and Walnut
Streets. Its communications were held hére till 1878,
when it removed to Odd-Fellows’ Hall, cornér of
Second and Locust Streets, its present place of meet-
ing. :

The Worshipful Masters of this lodge have been
C. 8. Kauffman, Daniel Herr, Joseph Buchanan,
Francis H, Ebur, J. L. Wolfe, L. Frederick, A. M.
Rambo, E. K. Boice, A. J. Kauffman, C. H. Mec-
Cullough, J. A. E. Reed, J. A. Myers, William W,
Upp, A. R. Breneman, C. A. Fondersmith, J. G,
Pence, Franklin Hinkle, David B. Willson, Silas A.
Vache, George F. Rathvon, 8. B. Clepper, John A,
Slade, James Perrottet, Theodore L. Urban. The
present officers are Joseph W. Yocum, W. M.;
Abraham G. Guiles, 8. W.; Simon C. Camp, J. W.;
James A. Meyers, T.; and A. J. Kauffman, S.

“The total number initiated in this lodge is two hun-
dred and eighty-cight. The present membership is
one hundred and forty-three. The lodge has a fund
of $12,600 invested, ;

Corinthian Royal Arch Chapter, No. 224, F.
and A. M., was constituted June 24, 1869, with A. J.
Kauffman, H. P.; Franklin Hinkle, K.; George F,
Sprenger, S.; E. K. Boice, T.; M. M. Strickler, Sec.;
David Hanauer, A, M. Rambo, George Seibert, Jacob
8. Bnyder, C. 8. Kauffman, and John C. Bucher,
charter members, -

The following have served as H. P.: A. J. Kauff-
man, Franklin Hinkle, William H. Eagle, William
H. Pfahler, Charles H. McCullough, C. L. P. Boice,
T. J. Clepper, Andrew M. Rambo, Stephen B. Clep-
per, Jacob G. Pence, Peter A. Krodel, John A, Slade,
Elias B, Herr.
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The present officers are Joseph W. Yocum, H. P.;
William G. Taylor, K.; Theodore L. Urhap, 8.;
Charles H, Pfahler, T.; A.J. Kauffman, Sec. The
last has been Grand Commander of the Knights
Templar in Pennsylvania.

The present membership is seventy-threo, and it
has a surplus invested.

Cyrene Commandery, No. 34, K. T., was consti-
tuted first by dispensation March 25, 1869, and by
charter June 9, 1869. The charter members were
Andrew J. Kauffman, E. C.; Andrew M. Rambo, G.;
George F. Sprenger, C. G.; Matthew M. Strickler,
T.; Franklin Hinkle, Rec.; George Seibert, Samuel
Carter, Jacob 8. Snyde:, John C. Bucher, Christian
8. Kauffman, and Andrew M. Rambo.

The Past Commanders are as follows: C, 8. Kauff-
man, A. J. Kauffman, A. M. Rambo, William H.
" Eagle, Stephen B. Clepper, Thomas J. Clepper, Sul-
livan 8. Child, Daniel J. Griffith, Peter A. Krodel,
Stephen 8. Clair, John A. Slade, Isaac D. Faindis,
8imon C. Camp, and Christian Hershey.

The present officers are William H. Pfahler, E. C. ;
George J. Rathbon, G.; Robert McAnall, C. G.; W.
@G, Taylor, T.; A. J. Kauffman, Rec.

The present membership is sixty-two.

Susquehanna Lodge, No. 80, I. 0. 0. F., was or-
ganized in the borough of Columbia in December,
1842, The charter members were John Frederick
Houston, N. G.; T, B. Odell, V, G.; E. J. Sneeder,
Sec.; Nicholas Springer, Treas, This lodge is one
of the oldest and most prominent of the lodges in
Pennsylvania, and is yet in fine working order, with
a membership far above the average. Che roll-books
.of the lodge contain the names of men who have
since become prominent in railroad, State, and na-
tional affairs. We may mention the late Thomas A.
Scott, late president of the Pennsylvania Railroad,
also Assistant Secretary of War under President
Lincoln, and & number of others who have held sim-
ilar positions of honor and trust. We copy the fol-
lowing list of names from the roll of membership

Paskil M, Taylor,

Willlam Patton.
Willlam 8. Dickey.
H, Brenueman,

George Moore.

Jacob Wolf, Thomas A. Scott.

* William 8. Cochran, P. M. Haldeman,
E. 0. Parkhurst, M. Leibhart,
J. W, Btrebig. A, Harper,
Samuel Gohin. H. Harnley.
John Fddy. William Wiggins.
Joseph A, Barr. J. H. Roberts.
1L Pfahler. J. F. Beechier.
John Lloyd. Jobn Kerr,
A. 8. Green. Joseph Black, Jr.
P, Goodman. Danfel Lelbhart.
Jacob Grubb. Banuel 8. Hively.
E. A. Howard, P, Delinger.
A. McMichael. C. Westbrvok.
8. D. Youog. B. F. Whitson,
J. I1. Brooks. T. Tyrrell.
H. R, Musser, 8. R. Lewellyn.
John Jordan, William F. Lockard.
A. D, Boggs. A. M, Haines.
Willlam Caats, 0. McCullough,
Samuel Brooks. R. W, Smith,
R. A. Spratts. Levl Duck.
T. G. Hughs. Willlam R, Beck.
E. A. Lowe. John 8meltzer,
Q. W, Barrack, H. Fraley.
J. McCorkle. J. B. Flury.
H. Kreuson, B. Young.
C, Rawlings. P, Morris.
Willlam Bell. Joseph Hougendobler,
Joseph Hess, William Roberts,
John F. Cralg. Jacob K. Habaker,
Elias Raub, William Schalck.
Joseph Withers. Samuel Bruckhart.
M. Leese, Conrad Kraus.
N. 0. Gove. John H. Kaufiman,
Nelson Sutton, Joseph B, Iabaker.

John Kessler.
H. A. Hougendobler.
John M, Weller.

D. Murphy. Willlam Brown,

J. C. Bowyer. Danlel Fiury.

J. B. Rdwards. G. W. Rathfon.
Willlam Rees. Henry H. Upp.

M, Hoys. Joseph Hiddleson.
William A. Rodgers. Michael 8. Shuman,
Willlam P, Rich, Bamuel Stambaugh,
John R. Furnell, A. Pelan.

forty years ago:

John F. Houston, H, Murmy,

E. J. Sneeder. J. Smedley.
Nicholas 8pringer, " B. C. Lloyd,
Martin Neil. James Kerr.
Francls Bradley. J. M. Kulp.
Willlam McChesney. Ell Bull.

@. G. Claiborne. D, E. Gardiner.
Willilam F. Carothers. Q. H, Rutter.
Willlam Cowden. William 8haw.
H. 8uydam, D. K, Bixler,
A.Gohn, Johin B. Wolf.
Q. 0. Franclscus. Abraham IHartman,

0. Mellinger.

R. Chalfant,

John . Wright. 8. R. Carnahan,
Johin Gallagher. Charles Mathiot.
John Btewart.’ H. H. Houston,
R. Mullison. J. Wall.

J. O, Pfahler. M. Clepper.

John W, Bhuman, Bamuel Caley.

J. J. Houston. W. W. Martin,
Tsano Finkebine. J. W. Bernthelzel.
0. Tyson. Godfrey Keebler.

A number of the prominent members of this lodge
formed an association, and erected a large four-story
building at the northeast corner of S8econd and Locust
Streets, measuring forty feet on Locust, and extending
along Second Street eighty feet, in the year 1850.
The lodge-room is in the fourth story. The third
story is used by the order of Red Men and the
Masonic fraternity. The second story is used for a
public hall, and the first story for law-offices and
drug-store. The association is a stock company.

The membership of Lodge No. 80 is very large.
Since its organization more than thirty thousand dol-
lars have been paid out in benefits to members and
their families.

The Past Grands of this lodge who are now living are
Martin Neil, Samuel B. Heise, D. 1. Bruner, Samuel
Truscott, William F. Caruthers, H, H. Houston, H.
M. North, Harford Fraley, Peter Fraley, Hiram Wil-
son, T. J. Kuch, Stephen Green, William Reese, A.
M. Rambo, John Shenberger, M. 8. Shuman, E. A.
Becker, A. J. Musser, William B. Fasig, H. F. Bruner,
O. H. McCullough, 8. 0. May, John L. Long, John
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Gen. Welsh Post, No. 118, @, A. R,, at Columbia,
was organized and mustered March 21, 1868, It is
named in honor of Brig.-Gen. Thomas Welsh, a dis-
tinguished soldier, who served through the Mexican
war and in the war of the Rebellion. His military
history is given elsewhere. He was severely wounded
at Buena Vista, and his leg was saved from amputa-
tion by Dr. Blanton, after whom his only son, Blan-
ton, was subsequently named. The latter is a gradu-
ate of West Point Military Academy, and a lieutenant
of the Fifteenth United States Infantry. Gen. Welsh
organized the Forty-fifth Regiment of Pennsylvania
Volunteers, and was subsequently promoted to briga-
dier-general, - His lieutenant-colonel was James A.
Beaver, afterwards also a distingnished brigadier-
general. .

Gen. Welsh Post is one of the strongest, numeri-
cally and financially, and one of the best organized
and successfully conducted posts in the interior of the
State. Its muster-roll contains nearly three hundred
names, comprising many of the leading citizens of
Columbia, including merchants, members of the dif-
ferent professions, skilled mechanics, numerous em-
ployés and officers of the Pennsylvania Railroad
Company, and farmers from the suburban districts,
It is an organization which very fairly represents the
character, patriotism, and intelligence of our citizen
soldiery, commanding the respect and enjoying the
confidence and sympathy of the community.

The post controls a beautiful plot of ground in
Mount Bethel Cemetery, where soldiers, dying with-
out friends, are buried. It annually observes Memo-
rial Day with solemn and appropriate services, The
post owns a valuable sciopticon and dissolving views,
used in the illustration of its ritual; has a large and
well-organized drum corps, and is now negotiating
for & more convenient and suitable post-room.

The Past Commanders are Henry Mullen, the pres-
ent postmaster; J. F. Cottrell, M.D.; J. F. Frueauff,
attorney-at-law; W, Hayes Grier, Esq., editor of The
Columbia Herald; J. W. Yocum, Esq., editor of Zhe
Columbia Spy ; and Edward A. Becker, Esq.

Putnam Cirole, No. 113, B, U. H. F,, was organ-
ized Feb. 10, 1875, with Peter Ingroff, P. E. M.; Jolhn
Stickler, .. M.; Samuel G. Sheaffer, O. M.; Henry
Apply, C. J.; James G, Richardson, H. R.; William
Maple, H. Trens.; George Maple, H.S.K.; Orthneel
Geiger, 0. F.; Jacob Gohn, U. D.; Townsend Stone,
U. N. The present officers are Joseph Shartzer,
E. M.; Wayne Leighteiser, C. M.; Henry Nulty,

0. J.; A. N, Eshleman, C. F.; John Meimer, H. H.;

SEK Getz, H. 8. K.; A. L. Yountz, H, R.; John

* Temple, H. T.; Elias Ulmer, U. D.; George O.

. PFisher, U. N. The membership is sixty-two.

Riverside Home Circle, No. 27, was organized
April 28, 1877, with the following officers: Annie
Lindsey, P. G.; A. G. Lindsey, G.; Mary Anderson,
P.R. O. T.; Henry Appley, Prophet; Annie S8mith,
Prophetess ; Jacob R. Gohn, Priest; Mary Schalk,

Priestess; I5. K. Getz, H. S, R.; AmandaKirk, lﬁ,
John M. Eberley, Treas.; Eliza Goodman, U, D.;
Sarah Fisher, U. N. The present officers are Carrie
Swartz, P. G.; Jane Hippey, G.; Sarah Long, P.;
Lydia Fonwalt, Prophet; J. Hilliar, Prophetess;
Mary Yountz, Priest; Mary E. Hoffman, Priestess;
L. K. Getz, H. 8. K.; A. L. Yountz, H. R.; L. P.
Metzger, I1.T.; Annie Keesey, U. D.; Mary Baltzley,
U. N.

The Opera-House.—The erection of a new public
hall was first discussed in Council, March 18, 1870,
on a proposition from the Masonic Hall Association
to purchase or lease for that purpose the borough lot
at the corner of Third and Locust Streets., Three
days after a special meeting of Council was held to
consider the proposition, when it was agreed to obtain
legislation to authorize the borough to borrow forty
thousand dollars to build a hall, if approved by a vote
of the people. The election for that purpose was held
April 9, 1870, when four hundred and ninety-three
votes were polled for, and fifty-five against, a new town
hall. Plans for the hall were submitted May 28th, a
building committee appointed; proposals invited.
They were found to be so high that they were referred
back to the committee and architect for revision, and
were never corisidered again. In 1871, the hall pro-
ject was revived,

In 1878, at an adjourned meeting held May 30th,
it was resolved, “that the Borough Council proceed
to erect an additional market-house and town hall
combined.” At the same meeting a building com-
mittee was appointed, consisting of Messrs, Bachman,
Kauffman, Detwiler, Craig, and Stency. On August
18th, of the plans submitted, that of E. F. Durang
was adopted. September 10th ground was broken by
Chief Burgess Shenberger., September 18th the work
of tearing down the old town hall was commenced.
The foundation walls for the new structure were com-
pleted during the autumn, and carefully protected
against the exposures of winter.

Feb. 24, 1874, the contract for the building, exclu-
sive of clock, bell, stage, and auditorium furniture,
upholstering, heating apparatus, gas fixtures, etc.,
was awarded to Michael Liphart, being the lowest
bidder, at fifty-four thousand three hundred dollars.
The building committee of 1878 was continued, Mr.
Haldeman having succeeded Mr. Detwiler, whose
term had expired. In 1875, the terms of Messrs,
Craig and Steacy having expired, Messrs, McClure
and Wolfe were appointed to succeed them. E. W.
Goerke, C. E., was employed as superintendent. Mr.
Liphart died Jan. 30, 1875, and his contract was com-
pleted’ by his suretics, Messra, A. Bruner and E.
Hershey. The bell in the tower was used for the first
timo after it was hung in tolling his sad funeral notes.

The Opera-House cost $85,824.15. It was formally
opened by the Mendelssohn Quintette Club of Boston,
on Tuesday evening, Aug. 24, 1875, in the presence
of over seven hundred people. Before the concert a
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short dedicatory address was delivered by H. M.
North, Esq.

Prominent Families and Individuals.—Robert
Barber was born in England. He was bound to
his uncle, Robert Barber, to learn the “art and
mystery of cordwaining.” They came to Chester in
the latter part of the seventeenth century. In the
summer or fall of 1708, Robert Barber died, leaving
no issue. His estate was large for thattime. Hede-
vised to his nephew, the subject of this sketch, who
was then living with him and had not attained his
majority, its largest portion. When he became of
age he decided to follow a seafaring life. He was
taken by the French and thrown into prison in France,
and when he was released he returned to Chester. He
and his uncle were Quakers, and it is probable that
the experience he had while in a French prison, and
/ prospect of being recaptured by French privateets
if he continued to follow a maritime life, diverted
his mind from what seomed to be a vocation of much
peril to a more peaceful one, and he concluded to
settle in Chester., He had an active mind, which was
well developed, a body healthy and vigorous, capable
of enduring hardships. ’

He married Hannah Tidmarsh, of Philadelphia, &
member of the Society of Friends, and & person en-
dowed with great energy and a mind of more than
ordinary character. In the year 1719 he was a candi-
date for sherif' of Chester County, but was beaten by
Nicholas Fairlamb. In the fall of 1721 he ran for
coroner in the same county, and was elected. In the
year 1724 he was elected a member of the Board of
County Assessors,

When this county was organized he was appointed
sheriff, and at the general election in October, 1729,
he was chosen to the same office by the people.

Ho was ambitious to secure the location of the
county-seat upon his farm, and at his own expense he
erected a temporary log jail in front of his dwelling,
which stood where is now the garden of Jacob 8.
Stoner, the present owner of the premises. This jail
is known in history as the place where Sir James
Anncsly was confined. Until the county-seat was
permanently located where it now is, Mr. Barber did
not give up all hope of getting it upon his land. It
caused him some anxiety, and when he became as-
sured that he could not succeed he was greatly disap-
pointed. )

In the fall of 1780 he declined to bo a candidate
for sheriff, and he returned to his farm and private
life. He built a saw-mill in the meadow south of his
dwelling, to which he gave attention. There were
but a few acres under cultivation, which was barely
sufficient to provide grain enough to support his fam-
fly and feed his stock, He had a very large family,
and it required his best energies to provide for them.
He was elected county commissioner for the years
1740-41. He took an active part in behalf of the
Penns during “ Oresap’s war.” .

Robert Barber died in the year 1749, aged about
fifty-seven years. He left a widow, Hannah, and ten
children, namely: John, was “read out” of the So-
ciety of Friends in 1755 for “ marrying out.” He was
killed by the Indians at the Ohio while trading.
Robert, who married, Sept. 26, 1746, Sarah, daughter
of Samuel Taylor ; Thomas, who died in his minority ;
Nathaniel, who settled where his father built his man-
sion, and retained a portion of the land. He died in
the spring of 1804, leaving five children. Elizabeth,
who died in her minority ; James, married; Samuel;
Eleanor, who married John \Wright, Jr.; Mary, and
Sarah, .

The second generation of Barbers gradually left the
Society of Friends, and we find that there were several
members of the third generation who entered the
Revolutionary army and served their country faith-
fully.

Samue! Blunston was the son of John Blunston and
Sarah, who came from Hallam, in the county of Derby,
England, in 1682. He was a minister of the Society of
Friends, a warm personal friend of William Penn, and
a member of his Council. He was also a member of
Assembly. He died in 1723, and his wife, Sarah, died
Oct. 4, 1692. Their children were John (1686-1716),
Samuel, Joseph (1691-92), and Hannah, who mar-
ricd Thomas Pearson, of Kingsessing,

Samuel Blunston was born Sept. 2, 1689, at Darby,
Chester Co., Pa. He married, June 4, 1718, Sarah
Bilton, the widow of —— Bilton, who kept a ferry
over the Schuylkill. He studied land-surveying. He
had considerable means of his own when he married,
which was largely increased by his wife’s fortune.
She had no children by her first husband, nor did
she bring any to her second one. They camo to the
Susquehanna in the fall of 1726, She lived but a
few years after coming here. He was appointed by
Peter Evans, the register-general of wills, deputy reg-
ister of the county, on the 2d day of August, 1729,
When the county was organized he was appointed one
of the justices, although he was in commission as a jus-
tice from Chester County previous to that time. He
was not recognized as a strict member of the Society
of Friends after ho came to the Susquehanna, and his
name does not appear upon the minutes of the
Quarterly or Monthly Meeting records. He was &
generous liver, and entertained a great deal of com-
pany. Thomas Penn was at his house in 1736, and
Logan and other prominent officials were there fre-
quently. He was elected & member of the General
Assembly in 1782, 1741, 1742, and 1744. He and his
life-long friend, John Wright, stood up manfully
when in the Legislature and opposed Governor
Thomas in his arbitrary measures.

When the court-house and jail were built, he was
frequently consulted about their erection, and ho
seems to have had a general sypervision of the work.
In 1782, when troubles commenced between tho Mary:
landers and Pennsylvanians, in Conagohela Valley,
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four miles below Wrightsville, to the day the former
struck their flag and left the soil of Pennsylvania
forever, he was untiring in his efforts to bring the
freebooters to justice. He employed Benjamin Cham-
bers (the founder of Chambersburg) to go to the en-
emy's camp in Maryland and discover their designs.
Although captured, he escaped and reported to Mr,
Blunston the true state of affairs. He was sent to
Donegal, where the Scotch-Irish had a house-raising.
They stopped their work and gathered up what fire-
arms they had, and hastened to the west side of
Wright's Ferry, and just arrived in time to give the
Marylanders a warm reception. For the time being
a conflict was prevented.

After all of the German settlers in the valley had
)either joined the enemy or fled to the east side of the
Iriver, a large force was collected and placed in the
Ferry-House on the west side of the river for defense.
iMr. Blunston at his own expense kept a large num-
ber of men there. Governor Ogle, of Maryland, of-
) fered a reward of one hundred pounds for his head,
and they actually arranged a plan to capture him
when returning from the funeral of the wife of the
Rev. James Anderson, at Donegal, in 1736. He be-
came aware of their plans, and avoided the trap they
had laid for him. About this time.he became very
mich discouraged in consequence of the dilatory
actions of the Governor and his Council. He saw the
danger to the interests of the proprietors by delay,
and knew th: necessity for prompt action. He sent
frequent messengers to the Governor, with Jetters
couched in caustic and bitter terms, that must have
had a salutary effect upon the mind of the Governor
and his friends. On the 8d day of April, 1786, he
was appointed deputy surveyor for the townships of
“Derry, Hempficld, Dunnegal, and Lebanon.” Atthe
isame time he, in behalf of the inhabitants of these
townships, presented a schemo for appeasing the
“tumults and animogities among them,” which was
adopted, and it put an end to the troubles about
the titles to their land. He had a large field to
cover, and the duties which called him there were
very exacting. But for the assistance of that re-
markable person, Susannah Wright, who copied and
assisted him jin his writing, he could not have ac-
complished successfully the work he did. His health
became greatly impaired, and in the summer of 1746
he was compelled to give up all out-door work. He
died in September, 1746. He left no issue, and he
gave his valued friend, Susannah Wright, a life estate
in all his largs property, which consisted of nearly
nine hundred acres of land, He madeseveral bequests,
smong which was one to the poor of the county.
He owned a number of slaves, and gave them their
freedom after a term of a few years.

John Wright was born in Lancashire, England
about the year 1667. He came to Chester in the year
1714, He was a public speaker among thé Quakers,
and he came recommended from that society in Eng-

land. He was not long in Chester before he was
elected to the General Assembly, and was also ap-
pointed a justice of the peace. Before he came to
the Susquehanna he had been at Conestoga, where
he preached to the Indians. He may have gone up
as far as Shawanese Run, where that tribe had a
village, and thus became acquainted with the locality
where he subsequently settled. Robert Barber went
in advance, and the first survey was made in his
name, and he conveyed to John Wright in August,
1726, one hundred and fifty acres.

He built his dwelling upon a level spot of ground
fronting the river. This dwelling was torn down in
1874 to give place to a more stately brick mansion of
modern times. The logsused in its construction were
hickory, white and Spanish oak, and a number of
black walnut. The dwelling, as first constructed,
seems to have contained but one room upon the first
story and one upon the second.

In the year 1729, John Wright was elecied to a
seat in the General Assemnbly, and re-elected in the
years 1780 and 1731 without opposition. He was
again a candidate in 1732, Accidentally or otherwise
John Wright’s name was omitted from some of the
ballots and another name inserted in its stead, which
caused his defeat by half a dozen votes, He carried
the contest to the General Assembly, but was again
beaten. George Stewart, who resided in Donegal,
was elected to the General Assembly in the same
vear, but he died before taking his seat, and John
Wright was elected without opposition to fill the
vacancy. He was re-elected for seventeen successive
terms thereafter, and on Oct, 16, 1745, he was elected
Speaker of the General Assembly.

George Thomas was appointed Governor in 1738,
Almost from the commencement of his administra-
tion he undertook to carry measures through the
General Assembly of an arbitrary character which
were in direct opposition to the policy of that body.
Among the number of those who led the opposition
was John Wright, whose integrity stood the test of
all the cajolery or threats tho Governor and his friends
could bring to bear. The replies of the Assembly
through their Speaker, who presented addresses to
the Governor in answer to his messages to that body,
displayed great ability.’ GQovernor Thomas became
so enruged at Wright and others for their opposition
that he determined to punish them for their temerity.
He announced that he would issue new commissions
af the peace in place of those held by Wright and
other recusant membera of the Assembly. This was
intended as a threat to coerce them into his measures.

In the year 1733-34 he was appointed a loan com-
missioner, one of the most important positions of
trust in the province. During the period of Cresap’s
war, which lasted three years, the farm which he had
bought upon the ‘western side of the river was fre-
quently run over by bands of hostile Marylanders,
His tenants and laboritig men were often driven
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away. In the month of July, 1735, when he was
having a field of wheat reaped, Thomas Cresap, with
about twenty persons, armed with guns, swords,
pistols, and blunderbusses, marched into the field
with drum beating. This military display was not
very imposing, but it was calculated to terrify and
drive away from his land a farmer who was opposed
to the use of personal force to resist it. Wright
walked to the valiant warrior, Cresap, and demanded
to know what he meant by appearing in 8o hostile a
manner to the terror of His Majesty’s peaceable sub-
jects employed about the lawful and necessary busi-
ness of husbandry. Cresap replied that he came to
fight several persons who came over the river, if
they would accept his challenge. He drew his sword
and cocked his pistol, and presented them at the
person of Mr., Wright, who very coolly commanded
Cresap and his company to keep His Majesty’s peace,
and that he would proceed on his lawful business,
Cresap brought a number of wagons with him to
carry off Wright’s grain. He changed his mind when
he discovered that he could not intimidate him, and
he and his men retreated, leaving the wagous in the
field in charge of the owners, who could not resist
the persuasive powers of Mr. Wright. They assisted
to put the grain upon their own wagons, and Lauled it
to the ferry, where it was placed in boats and taken
to the eastern side of the river.

Governor Ogle, of Maryland, afterwards offered
one hundred pounds reward for Mr. Wright’s head.
He held many conferences with different Indian
tribes, and sometimes made long journeys on horse-
back to meet them. He was afllicted with rheuma-
tism, which often confined him to his bed. He mar-
ried Susannah Crewason. They had five children,—
Susannah, Patience, John, Elizabeth, and James.

Susannah was born in England. When her parents
removed to America she was at school, where she re-
mained and finished her education, and followed her
parents a few years after they left England. Although
she was a member of the Society of Friends, promi-
nent persons of birth, education, and culture sought
her society. She was brilliant in conversation and
ondowed with an extraordinary mind. She could
not have been a strict follower of George Fox in all
things, or she would have devoted herself to the min-
istry. After the death of her motiier, which took
p- 2ce shortly after her arrival at Chester, she became
the ruling spirit in her father’s family.

Many of the leading men of the province sought
her company, whom she entertained and edified with
her conversation. Of this number there was but one
young Quaker who made an impression upon her
heart, and that person was Samuel Blunston, who
married another. After the decease of the latter
their old friendship and love for each other was re-
newed and they became inseparable friends. They
did not marry, probably for the reason that she had
entire charge of her father's affairs and her younger

i

brother, to whom she was much attached. There
were buta few families settled here, but all seemed
to belong to one family, and all of them looked up
to her as the ruling spirit in the neighborhood.

In business affuirs she was consulted by every one.
She could draw up any legal paper, and- her judg-
ment upon ordinary legal matters was sound, and it
was safe to follow her advice, She gave her atten-
tion also to the study of medicine, and probably read
the few medical books she could find, with the view
of being better equipped to fight against sickness.
She had some taste for painting, and in her leisure
moments from other pursuits she painted a number
of landscape scenes. She corresponded with Logan,
Benjamin Franklin, and other leading men in the
province and in England upon matters best calcu-
lated to elevate the race.

She was one of the first persons in America to
demonstrate the fact that the climate was adapted to
the culture of silk. She procured silk-worm eggs,
from which she raised a large number of the worms.
She sent the raw silk to Europe and had it woven into
manilla. One piece alone measured sixty yards, a
portion of which she gave to the queen, who pre-
sented her with a silver tankard, which is still re-
tained among the descendants of her brother James.
Benjamin Franklin, who was then in Frauce, became
greatly interested in this experiment of silk culture
in his adopted province of Pennsylvania, and he
wrote to Miss Wright upon the subject, and called
the attention of a number of leading men in England
to the matter. There are a few specimens of this
silk now in the rooms of the Historical Society.

Samuel Blunston gave her a life estate in his prop-
erty, and after his death she and her father and
brother, James, removed to the Blunston mansion.

Patience Wright was also born in England. She
married Richard Loudon on the 5th of June, 1728,
at the dwelling of Samuel Blunston. He purchased
a farm in Strasburg township in 1727, adjoining the
lands of Samuel Taylor. When the county was or-
ganized and the permanent county-seat located where
it now is he was appointed keeper of the prison. Mr.
Loudon purchased a farm in Manheim township and
a small tract near Graff’s landing.

Col. John Loudon, son of Richard and Patienco
(Wright), became a distinguished officer in the Revo-
lutionary war, and was in a number of battles, At
the close of the war he located in Buffalo Valley, on
the West Branch of the Susquehanna River.

John Wright married Eleanor Barber, daughter of
Robert Barber, the first sheriff of the county. He
settled upon his father’s land on the west side of the
river, and built the ferry-house there. He was a
member of the General Assembly from York County
for a number of years, and held other positions of
trust in that county. %

Elizabeth Wright married Samuel Taylor on the
8th day of May, 1728, at the house of Samuel Blun-
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ston, Esq. Samuel Taylor was the son of Christopher
Taylor. He came from “Tinicum” tc this county
in the year 1728, and purchased land in Strasburg
township near the Bart township line, where he
erected a grist- and saw-mill upon a branch of Beaver
Creek. '
James Wright was born in Chester in the vear 1714
or 1716, and was the only one of John Wright's chil-
dren born in America, About the year 1738, he, in
connection with Samuel Blunston, erected a corn- and
grist-mill near the mouth of Shawanese Run. He
married out of the Society of I'riends. About the
same time he erected the stone mansion now along
Second Street, between Locust and Cherry Streets,
known thereafter as * Wright’s Ferry Mansion,” and
was on land attached to the ferry-house. He at once
took a front rank among the leading men of the
county. He was clected a member of the General
Assembly in 1745, and continued toserve in that body
until the year 1771. He and his father and-brother,
John, were members of that body at one and the same
time, It wasan unusual circumstance for three mem-
bers of the same family to serve so many years to-
gether in a legislative body. Through all the turmoil,
excitement, and Dbitterness which grew out of the
French and Indian war of 1765-60, and Pontiac’s
war of 1763, which was followed by the destruction
of the Conestoga Indians, but few Quakers could face
the storm which followed them into the General As-
sembly and drove a number of them out. James
Wright rode safely through it all, and this fact alone
speaks in favor of his prudence, judgment, and in-
tegrity. He served on many important committees,
and was intrusted with matters which required sound
judgment and tact to prevent Indian outbreaks,
During the campaign of Gen. i'orbes ngainst the
French and Indians, in 1768, several battalions of
troops raised in the eastern part of this province and
elsewhere, numbering twelve hundred, marched as
far as Lancaster, but refused to go any farther unless
they received more rations, James Wright came
forward and agreed to provide for the troops until
they arrived at Harris’ Ferry, about two days’
march farther west. They then moved promptly,
In this connection it is well to mention that these
pioneer Quakers who settled at the Susquehanna
were & law unto themselves, and for many years
sefused to have anything to do with the Yearly or
Quarterly Meetings of Friends elsewhere. James
Wright was married (2d), July 2, 17568, to Rhoda
Patterson. Their children were Samuel, Elizabeth
(who married Col. Thomas Boude), John, Thomas,
Susannah, James, William, and Patience (who mar-
ried Dr, Vincent King).
Maj. Thomas Boude was the son of Dr. Samuel
" Boude, of Lancaster, who married Mary, the daughter
of Bamuel Betiiel, mentioned elsewhere. He and his
family were Episcopalians. Before he attained his

mgjority he showed a fondness for military matters,

and when the conflict between Great Britain and the
colonies came, he and his brothers were among the
first to enter the Continental service and march
to the front. He entered the army as a lieutenent
under command of Gen. Anthony Wayne. He was
in the brilliant action at the taking of Stony Point,
on the Hudson, and was in command of one of the
volunteer squads of twenty called the “forlorn hope,”
and would have been the first person to enter the
sally port-holes but for the fact that a much larger
and more powerful person at his side pulled him back
and forced himself in front. After the capture of the
fort, Lieut. Boude found in an officer’s room a watch,
which is now in possession of his descendants. For
gallant conduct upon this occasion he was promoted
to a captaincy, and afterwards to major. He com-
manded a body of Light Troops at Gen. Washington’s
headquarters, and was also a member of his staff,
He was in a number of battles, and acquitted himself
with honor. He was one of the original members of
the Society of the Cincinnati, and was appointed
general of militia by Governor Thomas Miflin, He
married Elizabeth Wright, daughter of James
Wright. They had one child, Elizabeth, who never
married. He was married the second time to Emily,
daughter of Col. Samuel John Atlee, a distinguished
officer of the Revolutionary war, by whom he had
four children,—Mary, Sarah, Samuel, and Washing-
ton.

Col, Thomas Boude, at the close of the Revolution,
removed to Hempfield township, and lived upon the
farm belonging to his first wife, and now owned by
B. Musser. When his brother-in-law, Samuel Wright,
laid out the town of Columbia, he purchased a num-
ber of lots, among which were several fronting the
river above Walnut Street. He erected the brick
mansion now owned by Michael S. Shuman. He
embarked in the lumber business, and was one of
the first persons who bought lumber and piled it
along the shore to resell. He was a Federalist, and
took a prominent part in building up that party.
He was elected a member of the State Legislature for
the years 1794, 1795, and 1796. He also represented
the county in Congress from 1801 to 1803, He was
again a candidate for Congress on the Federal ticket,
but was defeated by John Whitehill. The Federal
party was losing ground rapidly, and when the par-
ties were nearly equal in numbers the political cam-
paigns were carried on with great bitterness, William
Hamilton published the Federal newspaper, and
William and Robert Dixon published the Jefferson
paper which opposed the -Federnlists. After the de-
feat of Major Bouge, in 1804, Hamilton charged the
opposition with cheating at the e]ection-poll held in
Elizabethtown, where a number of Irish laborers,
who were working on the new turnpike at that place,
were induced to vote inore than once, when they had
no legal right to vote at all. In reply to this charge
the Dixons charged Magj. Boude with voting twice in
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Lancaster borough, to which place the voters in
Columkia and Hempfield had to go to vote,

Maj. Boude had the Dixons arrested for libel,
They gave bail, and before the case was tried the pro-
ceedings were removed from the County Court by
certiorari to the Circuit Court. This was probably
the last of the case.

Magj. Boude became totally blind some years before
his decease, which took place Oct. 24, 1822, in the
.Beventieth year of his age.

Samuel, son of 8. Bethel, son of Samuel and Susan

(Taylor) Bethel, married Sarah Hand, a daughter of

Gen. Edward Hand, of Lancaster. He was educated
in the city of Philadelphia, with the expectation that
he would enter the medical profession. But he pre-
ferred that of the law. He studied law in Philadel-
phia, and was admitted to practice at the bar in that
place. In the year 1795 he was admitted to the bar
in Lancaster on certificate. ' He did not remain there,
but came to Columbia and settled upon his estate,
which was very large, and required his whole at-
tention, (This estate was inherited by his grand:
mother, Sarah Bethel, and Hannah Pearson, from
their brother, S8amuel Blunston. Mrs, Pearson sold
her interest to the Bethels, who became the sole own-
ers of nearly nine hundred acres.) He was elected
to a seat in the State Legislature for the years 1808
and 1809. He was fond of literature, and had a large
and select library. He was considered one of the best
mathemacicians in the State. He was one of the fore-
most and most liberal patrons of the schools and li-
braries in Columbia, of which mention is made else-
where. Hebuiltan addition to the Blunston mansion,
now owned by his nephew, Samuel Bethel Heise, at
the northern terminus of Second Street. Here he
resided and here he died in the yenr 1819,

William ‘P. Beatty was born at Neshaminy, Bucks
Co., March 81, 1766. His parents were Rev. Charles
Boatty (of Log College memory) and Ann Reading,
daughter of Governor Reading, of New Jorsoy.
Both of his parents died before he was six years of
age. He was apprenticed to the tailoring business,
While thus engaged he devoted his leisure moments
to the study of books, and when he attained his ma-
Jority he wrote an elegant hand and displayed an
aptitude for figures,

These qualifications prompted him to go to Phila-
delphia, and obtain a clerkship, with the expectation
of making himself familiar with mercantile pursuits,
which these attainments seomed to indicate that he
was best qualified for,

In 1798 we find him engaged in the office of Mr,
Nicholson, the Comptroller of the State.

In 1798 he removed to Columbia, and opened a
store on Front, between Locust and Walnut Streets,
in connection with Richard 8. Leech. He married
in 1799, 1In 1802 he was appointed postmaster under
John Adams’ administration, and retained this posi-
tion until 1807. 1In 1808 he was appointed a justice of

the peace by Governor Thomas McKean., In 1810 he
was appointed secretary and treasurer of the “ Susque-
hanna Lottery Improvement Company,” and in the fol-
lowing year treasurer of the ‘“ Susquehanna and York
Turnpike Road Company,” and two or threp years sub-
sequent to this time he was appointed treasurer of the

-1 “Columbia Bridge Company.” In the year 1813 this

company was given power by an act of Assembly todo
a banking business, and he was chosen their cashier,
a position he retained until the year 1821, He held
the position of chief burgess and also treasurer of the
water company for several years. In the year 1825
he was reappointed postmaster by John Quincy
Adams, President of the United States, a positiou he
retained until the year 1837. He was a ruling elder
of the Presbyterian Church for many years, There
were many minor offices of trust which he held, noi
mentioned in the above list. In personal appear-
unce he was tall, stately, and dignified in his carriage,
and always wore a queue,

He removed to Harrisburg in the year 1843, and

died at Philadelphia at his son’s (Dr. George) home,
July 28, 1848, in his eighty-third year. He left sur-
viving him,—

Dr. George, who is now living in Philadelphia.

William P., who died at Harrisburg in 1860.

John R., who died at Harrisburg in 1866.

Ann Eliza, who married Thomas H. Pearce, who
was an officer in the Mexican war of 1846, He
resided for some years in Columbia, and held a
clorkship in the collector’s office at the canal basin,
He died at Steubenville, Ohio, where his widow is
living. 4

Ercurius, who learned the printing business in the
Spy office while John L. Boswell published the
paper. On the 21st day of April, 1861, he enlisted
in Capt, Robert M. Heunderson’s company, which was
connected with the Seventh Pennsylvania Reserves,
and was made lieutenant. He was on Gen, McCall’s
ataff at Tennallytown and Camp Plerpont, Virginia;
was wounded at Charles City Cross-Roads June 30,
1862, and was promoted to first licutenant and cap-

tain Sept. 17, 1862, and to brevet major and brevet’

lieutenant-colonel.

Michael Whisler was born near the Trappe, in
Montgomery County, Pa., in the year 1760, In the
month of May, 1776, he enlisted for twenty months
in Capt. Henry Christ’s rifie company, in Col. Samuel
Miles’ rifle regiment. He was in the battles of Flat-
bush, on Long Island, where but one-fifth of Col.
Miles’ command escaped; at White Plains, at Trenton,
Princeton, Brandywine, and Germantown, and dis-
charged at Valley Forge on the 1st day of January,
1778. He was twice wounded in these battles.

He enlisted and marched to the western part of the
State with the army rajsed to quell the Whiskey In-
surrection. When the troops lay at Wright's Ferry
waiting to be taken over the river, he was impressed
with the beautiful scenery all around and the location
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